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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the
decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the
securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this
report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Tsun Yip Holdings Limited (the “Company’) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to
the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief
the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive
and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any staterment herein or this report misleading.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
B ¥ 1 2

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS
For the year ended 31 March

Revenue

Gross profit

Loss before income tax

Loss attributable to the owners of the
Company

Basic loss per Share (HK cents)

W m
EH
BRPT1STR RIS

KABHER NEILEE

BREXRBR CEL)

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 March

Total assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Total liabilities

Equity attributable to the owners of the
Company

MEE
ReMIFEFEY
mas

KRBER NEIL

nT = ¥§E
HE=FA="1+—HIFE
Changes 2025
®E —TZHEF
HK$’000
FET
-21.9% 366,071
-45.0% 9,933
23.0% (11,903)
21.6% (11,341)
-12.6% (20.1)
A MBI
B=A=+—H
Changes 2025
2% _“ZT”hEF
HK$’000
FET
-24.3% 165,649
16.4% 56,120
-67.0% 205,514
89.9% (40,930)

2024
—B_Mm&F
HK$ 000
TET

468,963
18,063
(9,677)

(9,324)
(23.0)

2024
=11 S
HK$ 000
TET
218,960
48,222
622,390

(405,113)
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
M RE

RATIOS
As at 31 March

Return on equity (Note a)
Return on assets (Note b)
Current ratio (Note ¢)
Gearing ratio (Note d)

Notes:

m PR (Hfata)
EEMLR (Wfatb)
MENEEXR (Hfatc)

3
K=F=+—A

BERBILX (Had)

(@)  Return on equity is calculated as net loss divided by Shareholders’ equity.

(b) Return on assets is calculated as net loss divided by total assets.

(c) Current ratio is calculated as total current assets divided by total current

liabilities.

(d)  Gearing ratio is calculated as total amount of promissory note, convertible

notes, lease liabilities and contract liabilities divided by total assets.
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CORPORATE PROFILE
A My

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of civil engineering
services for the public sector in Hong Kong.

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law,
cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961 as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands on 15 March 2010 and the Shares were listed on GEM on
30 August 2010.

The Group’s business of provision of civil engineering services
for the public sector is carried out through TYW and TY Civil
respectively with TYW responsible for signing and implementing
civil engineering contracts as a main contractor, a subcontractor
and forming joint operations while TY Civil responsible for signing
and implementing civil engineering contracts as a subcontractor
and forming joint operations.

FEFRTERERETBREMPIRELIAL
REARFS

ARBIR _E—EF=RB+HHREBHEEH
BREES22E (—hAR—F A BiRE
) RAEREEMRUAERRAREE
REHERONR _E—ZFN\B=+HHEGEM
e

REBD DA BBEEKBREXETIARZA
EMPIRBIATERBES  EXKFES
UEAEZEB -DEBENRITRETLEIARIRE
BHURMRIAGERE MEXLTARREEL
DEBENEITIRBTEIATIRESHLUKRMN

UHERE
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CORPORATE PROFILE
AT/

REGISTRATIONS HELD FOR UNDERTAKING
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group has obtained the following registrations from Works
Branch Development Bureau (Z2 & /5 T #%5#) of the Government

HURETEXBRHAZEM

AEEBCABFZEER LHRERE TS
MEAEAERmAE IR !

for undertaking projects as a main contractor:

Registration

=t

Value of project which the Group is eligible to undertake
under the relevant registration

FEERBEREMEERAEBEZIRZEE

Approved Contractors for Public Works —
Waterworks Category (Group C) (probationary
status)

A AHTREAERE—KFBER (R4

()

Approved Contractors for Public Works — Roads
and Drainage Category (Group C) (confirmed
status)

R AHETIEAERE

(R#E) (FE)

—ER KRR IT2585]

Approved Contractors for Public Works — Site

Formation Category (Group C) (confirmed status)

SR AHTAEAER - B TR IZER
(R#E) (REsD)

A maximum of two contracts exceeding HK$400 million each in any
one category, provided that the total value of works in any one
category does not exceed HK$1,500 million

RBZRER—EER R MIES 4 8i18400,000,0008 7T » HEE
A —E%E 5] T2 AR B E R #8381,500,000,0007% 7T

Contracts of any values exceeding HK$400 million

FRIB{E #87E400,000,000E TTHI & 49

Contracts of any values exceeding HK$400 million

{1 {E{E#815400,000,0008 TR & XY

Also, the Group has registered under the Voluntary Subcontractor
M HIE), which is
maintained by the Construction Industry Council (B23& 2% ), for

Registration Scheme (GE3&HIED

S AERTRRBERZGRILZIFAH]E

participating in civil engineering works, road works and drainage
services and waterworks engineering services as a sub-contractor.
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CORPORATE PROFILE

QREEN

CORPORATE STRUCTURE OF THE COMPANY

The following diagram illustrates the corporate structure of the

Company as at 31 March 2025:

RATIEERE

TESRRAEAT

RIS

W _E_RFE=HA=+—H

The Company
(Cayman Islands)
Investment holding
AT
(HEHE)
BEER
100%
TYW (BVI) Profit Station Succeed Axis Concept CNC Logistic Core Galaxy Shenzhen
Limited Limited Capital Limited Limited Limited Limited Qianhai Xinhua
BV BV BV BV BV BV TV Cultural
Hong Kong)* Hong Kong)* Hong Kong)* Hong Kong)* Hong Kong)* Hong Kong)* Development
Investment Investment Inactive Investment Inactive Investment Limited*
holding holding Succeed holding CNC Logistic holding (PRC/EF?C)“
TYW (BVI) Profit Station Capital Limited Axis Concept Limited Core Galaxy Inactive
Limited Limited (CEEEZHS Limited (CEHELHS Limited FINFTEE
(EHEZHE (EEEZEHE BB (EEEZEHE SEB) (EEEZEHE BRXEER
SEB) BB BEgE SEE) BEgE SEE) HIRAR
BEER BEER REER REER ([, [E)
BELE
100% 100%
97% 97%
TYW TY Civil Xinhua TV BayTV Network
(Hong Kong/ (Hong Kong/ Asia-Pacific Holdings
Hong Kong)* Hong Kong)* Operating Co., Limited
Provision of Holding of motor Limited (Hong Kong/
civil engineering vehicles and (Hong Kong/ Hong Kong)*
services provision of civil Hong Kong)* Inactive
EEKE engineering Inactive WEEEE
S ‘ . = e ATE
G senvices MEBRT AL ARAT
LT EELA EEBRAT BB BH)
7 (& 5B (BE BB gmge
FHEE@RREE gEmge
T AT
* for identification purpose only x (g e
#  Place of incorporation/place of operation t EERAL T B AR i B
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
AvEM

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors
Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung (Chairman)
(Redesignated as Chairman on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Hui Ka Tsun (Chief Executive Officer)
(Appointed on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Kan Chun Ting Max (Appointed on 16 April 2024)
Dr. Jiang Yan (Resigned on 16 April 2024)
Dr. Li Yong Sheng (Resigned on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Liu Da Yong (Resigned on 16 April 2024)

Non-executive Directors
Ms. Lam Shun Kiu Rosita (Appointed on 29 November 2024)

Mr. Law Cheuk Hung (Resigned on 29 November 2024)
Ms. Tang Li (Resigned on 16 April 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chin Chi Ho Stanley
Mr. Wong Chung Yip Kenneth (Appointed on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Lai Ah Ming Leon (Appointed on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Wu Guo Ming (Resigned on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Wan Chi Keung Aaron, 8BS, JP
(Resigned on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Kwok Man To Paul (Resigned on 29 November 2024)

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Hui Ka Tsun (Appointed on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Chan Chun Kit (Appointed on 23 May 2024)
Dr. Li Yong Sheng (Resigned on 16 April 2024)
Ms. Li Yuet Tai (Resigned on 23 May 2024)
COMPLIANCE OFFICER

Dr. Li Yong Sheng (Resigned on 16 April 2024)

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chan Chun Kit (Appointed on 23 May 2024)
Ms. Li Yuet Tai (Resigned on 23 May 2024)
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
NS

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Chin Chi Ho Stanley (Chairman)
Mr. Wong Chung Yip Kenneth (Appointed on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Lai Ah Ming Leon (Appointed on 29 Novermber 2024)
Ms. Tang Li (Resigned on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Wu Guo Ming (Resigned on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Wan Chi Keung Aaron, 8BS, JP
(Resigned on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Law Cheuk Hung (Resigned on 29 November 2024)
Mr. Kwok Man To Paul (Resigned on 29 Novermber 2024)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Lai Ah Ming Leon (Chairman) (Appointed on 16 April 2024)

Mr. Wong Chung Yip Kenneth (Appointed on 16 April 2024)

Mr. Chin Chi Ho Stanley (Resigned on 16 April 2024 and
re-appointed on 29 November 2024)

Mr. Wan Chi Keung Aaron, BBS, JP (Resigned on 16 April 2024)

Mr. Wu Guo Ming (Resigned on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Kwok Man To Paul (Resigned on 29 Novermber 2024)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung (Chairman)
(Redesignated as Chairman on 16 April 2024)

Ms. Lam Shun Kiu Rosita (Appointed on 30 June 2025)

Mr. Chin Chi Ho Stanley (Resigned on 16 April 2024 and
re-appointed on 29 November 2024)

Mr. Wong Chung Yip Kenneth (Appointed on 16 April 2024)

Mr. Lai Ah Ming Leon (Appointed on 16 April 2024)

Dr. Jiang Yan (Resigned on 16 April 2024)

Mr. Wu Guo Ming (Resigned on 16 April 2024)

Mr. Wan Chi Keung Aaron, 8BS, Jp (Resigned on 16 April 2024)

Mr. Kwok Man To Paul (Resigned on 29 November 2024)
Mr. Hui Ka Tsun (Appointed on 16 April 2024 and
resigned on 30 June 2025)
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
AvEM

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Mr. Wong Chung Yip Kenneth (Chairman)
(Appointed as member on 16 April 2024 and
redesignated as Chairman on 29 November 2024)
Mr. Chin Chi Ho Stanley (Redesignated as member on
16 April 2024)
Mr. Lai Ah Ming Leon (Appointed on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Wu Guo Ming (Resigned on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Wan Chi Keung Aaron, 8BS, Jp (Resigned on 16 April 2024)

Mr. Kwok Man To Paul (Resigned on 29 November 2024)

AUDITORS

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS
IN HONG KONG

Unit M & N, 8/F,
Hi-Speed Centre 1,

18 On Chuen Street,
Fanling, New Territories
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
NS

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE IN CAYMAN ISLANDS

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman

KY1-1111, Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited

17/F., Fast East Finance Centre,

16 Harcourt Road,

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Hang Seng Bank Limited

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
China Everbright Bank

WEBSITE

http://www.tsunyip.hk

STOCK CODE

8356

FENERMNBRELHEE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman

KY1-1111, Cayman Islands
BEERMBEELDE
BERSELERAE
B

BERE165%
BRETRFOTIE
FEFRIRT
TBEIRITHERAT
HELBESHRITARAE
FREE KIRTT

A
http://www.tsunyip.hk
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DEFINITIONS
B =

In this report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following 7R ER » BEX TS BAT#55) > T 55858
words and expressions shall have the following meanings when ;&K IRE @ HIEA B FiHEE -

used herein:

“AGM”
MRRBFERE

“Articles”

TR

“Board”
EEg)

“BVI”
B RE LB

“Company”

/NS

“Director(s)”

==

“Financial Statements”

BE e

“GEM”
I GEM J

the annual general meeting of the Company

TABDRRBFERE

the Articles of Association of the Company, and the “Article” shall mean an article of
the Articles of Association
RAB)Z BHMERZMA > BTARR R I5AE SR 4HA] 2 R

the board of Directors
Ee=y

the British Virgin Islands
REBRRES

Tsun Yip Holdings Limited (2B RAE]), a company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands with limited liability on 15 March 2010

EEERERAR —XR 2 ZEF=-FB+HHEHEHEAMARLZER
NC

director(s) of the Company from time to time
AT EZESR

the audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025
FERHE_Z_AF=RA=+—HIEFEZKEZUBRR

the GEM of the Stock Exchange
B2 PRGEM
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DEFINITIONS
B %

“GEM Listing Rules”
FGEM_E iR AN

“Government”

TR

“Group”
TR

“HK$” and “HK cent(s)”
FE 7o) B T

“Hong Kong”
r&#)

“Macau”
S

“Mr. Kan”
Mt

“PRC”
MR

“SFO”
s KA 1R

“Share(s)”
MR%1%

“Shareholder(s)”
Mg e

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM
GEMzE 5 LR A

the Government of Hong Kong

the Company and its subsidiaries
KRB REKEAE]

Hong Kong dollar(s) and cent(s), respectively, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

DHR/BEBEEGR AT RAE

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
REEEFRITHE

the Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC
REIRFIFRIITHE

Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung (f5El#¥), an executive Director and the controlling
shareholder of the Company

RABATESFRIERRRGEFLE

the People’s Republic of China, excluding Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan
PEARLAE FRESH RFIRAE

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) as
amended or otherwise modified from time to time

BBEPIBETIERF R E R (EFEHEST U E M S ERD

ordinary share(s) of the Company
KAB 2 BB

holder(s) of the Share(s)
OB A
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DEFINITIONS
B =

“Shunleetat”
I'Shunleetat J
“Stock Exchange”
MH§ 22 T )

“TY Civil”

MEEL AR

[ 2E K F5

ll%ll
M% |

Shunleetat (BVI) Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI which is wholly and
beneficially owned by Mr. Kan

Shunleetat (BVI) Limited» — XN ERBREZFHEFMR L2 2B HEXELEE
mER

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEGERBAARAF

Tsun Yip Civil Construction Company Limited (&% - K T2 5 R A 5l), a company
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability on 16 June 2000 and an indirect non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company
EXZIATRAERAT — XN _EEZTE AT BEEBEMMILZER
RED BERBZEFF2ENE LT

Tsun Yip Waterworks Construction Company Limited (&2 /KFEEEARAT), a
company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability on 6 February 1996 and an
indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company

EEKBREBRRE — RN —ANANEZANHEEBTMRILZERE
B RARBZERIIELENBE AT

per cent
BotE
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ITERESE

To all Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the annual results
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025.

RESULTS FOR THE YEAR

During the year ended 31 March 2025, we had recorded
approximately HK$366.1 million (2024: approximately HK$469.0
million) revenue, which represented a decrease of approximately
21.9% over the revenue for the year ended 31 March 2024.

The gross profit of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2025 was amounted to approximately HK$9.9 million (2024:
approximately HK$18.1 million), which represented a decrease of
approximately 45.0% from that of previous year.

The net loss of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 was
approximately HK$12.0 million (2024: approximately of HK$9.1
million), representing an increase of approximately 31.2% from that
of previous year.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

Looking ahead to 2025, the Group’s primary focus remains on
operating its core civil engineering and construction business in
Hong Kong.

During the year, competition in the construction market was
intense amid a challenging operational and broader economic
environment. The Group’s revenue is primarily derived from the
relatively low-risk public works sector. In the view that Hong Kong
Government’s fiscal deficit as outlined in the 2025-2026 Budget
and stringent budget control over expenditure is expected, it will
hinder the funding allocations for proposed public construction
works and delay the introduction of new projects for tenders.
Additionally, recent declines in price fluctuation compensation for
public sector work is expected to negatively impact on the gross
profit margins of the Group’s projects.

HNERRR:

FAANBERREFEMARELEEBHRE"
T RF=ZR=+—HALFEZFEXR-

FEER

BE_S_AE=ZR=+—HLEE &M
#1849366,100,0008 T (ZE_MF : 4
469,000,000 70) 2 Wm > BEE S ZMHE
=A==+ —HIEFEEZ W& #21.9%

BE_Z_AFE=-B=1+—HLEEE K&
B~ EHM£ 749,900,000 T (T2 2MHE . 4
18,100,000 7T) » B _F—F EH /1 4945.0% ©

BE_Z_FF=-A=+—HLEFE x£H
2 E1E497412,000,000E T (CE 2 ME 4
9,100,000/ 7T) » B _E—FEIEIN4I31.2%°

RERIR

RE2026%  AEEN T 2R ETRINE
BREEEROIARTRERERER-

FERNBEDHERIHI CERERERE
BIRETE MR - FEBBIWMA T EZRE AR
B BREBYAHE TREEPT - 78T » R #HE2025-
2026 F B A F P » T A BUF B BIR
%LX&H&?EE&E?/E%TW%J FE 5T 1 R 1 ¥
REBAHBREIRENES DA FIRELEEMIEA
ETE*%E’H&&OJH:?I\ MEAAH T RRHBRRK
FEE TR AR HEEERENEMNXRE
TEEFE-
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ITERESE

Despite the aforementioned challenges, the Group, as a participant
in a Joint Venture, was awarded a new contract during the
year, whereas some existing contracts have entered into the
maintenance period or are nearing completion. With the current
contracts on hand, the Group anticipates sustaining its turnover
for approximately two years. However, the operating environment
in the coming years is expected to be more challenging. Rising
construction costs continue to erode the Group’s project profit
margins. Furthermore, the increasing presence of contractors
offering low bid prices has intensified market competition, although
Hong Kong’s tendering system evaluates tenderers based on a
combination of technical competence, past performance and
price, but tender pricing remains a significant evaluation factor. The
uncertainties in the project execution and tendering increase the
overall risks of the Group.

In response to the highly competitive construction industry, the
Group remains vigilant and is strengthening the cost controls
and risk management over contractor operations. The Group will
continue to proactively monitor the development of the projects’
progress, implement effective cost control measures, and maintain
close communication with the Company’s stakeholders, including
customers, suppliers and subcontractors. The Group will also
actively pursue new business opportunities, tenders and quotation
invitations to maintain market competitiveness. At the same time,
the Group will seek diverse opportunities by collaborating with
partners to bid on contracts encompassing various types of work
categories of civil engineering projects.

With the Group’s experienced management team and reputation
in the construction industry, the Group remains steadfast in its
commitment to delivering high-quality civil engineering services.
The Group will continue to monitor the market situation, assess
the risks and uncertainties during the economic recovery cycle and
strive to take stringent measures to mitigate any potential adverse
impact on the Group achieving sustainable business growth and
delivering long-term benefits to our shareholders of the Company.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ITERESE

APPRECIATION

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to
express my most sincere appreciation to all the management team
and staff for their dedication and contribution over the past years. |
would also like to thank all the Shareholders, customers, suppliers
and business partners for their continuous support and trust.

Kan Kwok Cheung
Chairman

30 June 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEm Rt

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of civil engineering
services for the public sector in Hong Kong. During the year ended
31 March 2025, the Group continued to focus on rendering civil
engineering services to the public sector in Hong Kong.

Major projects awarded and undertaken as at 31 March 2025

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group has been
undertaking four contracts. Among the four contracts, one of these
is related to provision of waterworks engineering services and the
remaining contracts are related to provision of drainage services
and site formation services. Details of the contracts undertaken are
set out below:

275 [0 8

AEFBTERBTBAEMAIRELIATIER
B BE_E_AF=-RB=+—HLEFE &
EREBESEINAETERAEMPIRELIAT
T2 ARTS ©

RIEBE_RAFZA=+—HEMKREEZE
BIHH

BE_S_RFE=-A=+—HILEE x&EHR
—BETHOEAY - REUBEGHNF Hfh—18
BRIBHKB IRERBER > HBRa 4R HigH
ERIRB R B EREBR -FIEAEENZ
EIBEIWT

Contract period under

main contracts or
expected
Contract number  Particulars of contract Client completion date
RETENNEAH
BB BHEFE ER FRHAE T HEA
Subcontracts
SEEHN
ND/2018/02 The Establishment of an Agricultural Pak ~ Harvest - Tsun Yip Oct 2020 - Sept 2025 Total contract value

in Kwu Tung South (Phase 1)
ToRERIRER 1)

Joint Venture
SR
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HK$1982.0 milion
BatEE
1,982,000,000%7T

“F_FEAE
“ERENA

Total amount of works
certified (Nofe)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENmBEOH

Contract period under
main contracts or
expected

completion date
REFSHNEHRH
FHETAS

Contract number  Particulars of contract Client
BHER ELE ER
Joint Operations
BEEH
ND/2018/02 The Establishment of an Agricultural Pak  Civil Engineering
in Kwu Tung South (Phase 1) and Development
Department of the
Government
THRERIRER B—H) BNt AIRIRREE
4/WSD/19 Development of Anderson Road Quarry ~ Water Supplies
site — construction of grey water Department of the
treatment plant Government
ZEBBLBREAMER-—PKEER BRKBE
BEI1R
CV/2022/08 Site Formation and Infrastructure Works  Civil Engineering
at Area 48, Fanling and Development
Department of the
Government
WEFBRTHTRREARZHIRE BNIAIRAEE
ND/2024/06 Fanling North New Development Area, Civil Engineering
Remaining Phase: Fresh Water and and Development
Flushing Water Service Reservoirs and Department of the
Associated Works Government
MBELHERESRTRE-8KRAE BRNIAIREEE
KECK E R B R 42
Note: Amount of works certified is based on the certificates of payment

received from client.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, a joint venture contract
(contract numbered ND/2024/06) was newly awarded.

Oct 2020 - Sept 2025

“ETERE4RE
—E-hFAR

Sep 2020 - Sep 2025
“B_EFNAE
ZZTHFAR

Jan 2023 - Jan 2027

B =F—-RE
St - Sy =|

July 2024 - Aug 2027

“ETMEERECZE
“tENA

M EEBIRSEDREEERKIZ AR
R -

REBEE_Z_AFE=RB=+—HIEE HE
B—IBE5E 54 (54945 AND/2024/06) °

EEIEIRAT 2024/2025 £k 19



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Major projects completed or terminated for the year ended
31 March 2025

Completed or terminated projects refer to projects substantially
completed or terms of year of the contracts expired or early
terminated before the completion. Details of the major projects
completed or terminated by the Group during the year ended 31
March 2025 are as follows:

BE_T_AF=-A=+—HLFEBET
AR IEZ T EIEE

BRITHAIEBEEEARETIHNGHOFH
RETAEEMNIEAMKRILNEE - BE"E
“HF=ZA=+T—HLEFE -xEEBHETH
RIENETEBEEFBAOT

Contract period under

Contract number  Particulars of contract Client main contracts
BRET FEE ER RIEFSANEHNHE
Subcontracts

AEEN

CV/2016/10 Site Formation and Association Hsin Chong Tsun Yip ~ Dec 2017 - Jun 2021

Infrastructural Works For Development Joint Venture
of Columbarium at Sandy Ridge

Cemetery
DEBEZRESRZEMNTHTE HEEXHE
KAEABERRE T2
PYC- Site Formation, Foundation & Sub- Paul Y. Construction
03084BAH-001 structure Works for the Student Company Limited

Residence Development at The
Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology
EERBASNBLBEEERHEN REREERRH
THTE MER THAREIR
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Total amount of works

S i S = certified up to 31
BT FXA March 2025 (Note)
HK$1,307.8 million
Aug 2020 - Dec 2022 BE_T”_1E=R
=+—HE&EIR
mE (ryst)

1,307,800,000 7
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENmBEOH

Contract period under

Contract number  Particulars of contract Client main contracts
BHR BHFE ER REFEANEHH
Subcontracts

SEEN

1002EM19A Design-Build-Operate for the Additional ~ Paul Y. Construction ~ Dec 2020 - Dec 2023

District Cooling System (DCS) at the Company Limited
Kai Tak Development (KTD)

FBRREEMNRELRENT REREBRAT
ERBEMS 2GR

EP/SP/10/91 South East-New Territories (SENT) Landfill - Paul Y. Construction
Extension & Engineering Co.
Limited
MR REEERERE RERETREERA
=
Joint Operations
BEER
CV/2016/10 Site Formation and Association Civil Engineering
Infrastructural Works For Development and Development
of Columbarium at Sandy Ridge Department of the
Cemetery Government
DEEREESNZEMNIMTE BRIAIEERE
KRAEEERRMIE
CV/2019/04 Site Formation and Infrastructure Works  Civil Engineering
near Tsz Tin Road and Hing Fu Street and Development
in Area 54, Tuen Mun Department of the
Government
THEMRTEERREZENT BRIAIRAREE
MPBERERERTE

Note: Amount of works certified is based on the certificates of payment
received from client.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, contracts with contract
numbered CV/2022/08 and 4/WSD/19 were the main contributors
to the Group’s revenue, which generated approximately
HK$162.0 million and approximately HK$75.2 million, constituting
approximately 44.3% and 20.5% of the Group’s total revenue
respectively.

Y CE
Bt

July 2021 - July 2023

“Z_-FtRAE
“2T=ftA

Dec 2017 - Jun 2021

“E—+tH+"RBE
ey =

Dec 2020 - Jun 2024

“ETERE4CRE
“ETNENRA

Mz BRRIRSRLRELERKRIIZAMZE
BERE

BE_S_HEE=ZRA=1+—HLEEE 54
5= ACV/2022/08%4/WSD/19M &K AR ER
W B FEERIR 95 E £ 49162,000,0008 7T
2 #975,200,0007% 7t > 2 7l 1d A 5 B 4B U 25 49
44.3%%220.5% ©
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group reported a revenue
of approximately HK$366.1 million (2024: approximately HK$469.0
million), representing a decrease of approximately 21.9% as
compared with that for the previous year. The overall decrease in
revenue was mainly due to (i) decrease in works for certain civil
engineering projects at or nearly reaching completion stage and
(i) early termination of subcontract due to default payment of a
customer which is undergoing a winding-up procedure.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the revenue of the Group

BE_S_RFE=-A=+t—HILEE x&EH
718 UK 35 49366,100,0008 70 (T2 M4 © 4

469,000,0007870) * BRAFE /D 421.9% o &
BEER D FEBR)E TR SIET 5T R

HNEtARTEEBEENIRZERL ; R(iFA—%E
RETBFREFNEPIEXNNRMIBAIAZ LE
DEFTE

BE_Z_RF-RA=t+—HLEFE F&H

was primarily generated from the undertaking of civil engineering W@ FERBUS B EEEE H 5D 7?@’9?2
contracts in the capacity of a subcontractor and joint ventures. The T AR IR EH R AEEFHMEE D E 2B
breakdown of total revenue by nature of capacity of the Group is set & sFIB&E ST !
forth below:
For the year ended 31 March
BHE=H=1+—HLEE
2025 2024
ZEZREF “EIME
HK$’000 % of total HK$'000 % of total
Mﬂ%@ié /5/'/[1
FET B (%) FET B71(%)

Main contractor THRER - - _ _
Subcontractor DEBE 207,830 56.8 278,771 59.4
Jointly controlled operations HEEHLE 158,241 43.2 190,192 40.6
Total 4a%E 366,071 100.0 468,963 100.0
22  TSUN YIP HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024/2025



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Cost of services

The Group’s cost of services decreased by approximately 21.0%
to approximately HK$356.1 million (2024: approximately HK$450.9
million) for the year ended 31 March 2025 as compared with that
for the previous year. The Group’s cost of services mainly includes
costs of construction services. Costs of construction services
mainly comprise raw materials, direct labour and subcontracting
fee for services provided by the subcontractors. The decrease in
cost of services was mainly due to overall decrease in construction
costs for certain civil engineering projects at or nearly reaching
completion stage during the year ended 31 March 2025. The
following table sets out a breakdown of the Group’s cost of
services:

AR F5 A 2

AEBREE_T_AF=A=1+—HIE
FEZBRBUEAREFRDH21.0%EL
356,100,000 75 (ZZ Z 94 © £9450,900,000
B AEENRBRETETEZCERERS
A - BERBRATEZVAERME BES
ThDEBHRERBNDEER IR AR
PNFERARABE_SE_AF=A=+—
ALEFEETRNEZEATHRMERLEAT
BIEENEEMRFERRL  TRHTIEEH
RIS R A 2 5% 15

For the year ended 31 March
BE=B=1+—HL=EE

2025 2024
—E_ARF —E_E

HK$’000 % of total HK$'000 % of total
1aEgE 1hABEE
FAET B7H(%) FET  BDH(%)

Costs of construction services BRI
Raw materials Bt 27,679 7.8 26,869 6.0
Direct labour BEET 107,237 30.1 101,256 22.5
Subcontracting fee PBER 155,011 43,5 251,309 55.7
Other direct costs HAth B 66,211 18.6 71,466 15.8
Total 4azE 356,138 100.0 450,900 100.0
HRPRAIRAT) 2024/2025 £ 23



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Gross profit

The gross profit for the Group for the year decreased by
approximately 45.0% to approximately HK$9.9 million (2024:
approximately HK$18.1 million) for the year ended 31 March
2025 as compared with that for the previous year. The gross profit
margin of the Group amounted to approximately 2.7% (2024:
approximately 3.9%) for the year. The decrease in gross profit was
mainly due to (i) the extra construction costs employed from certain
civil engineering projects reaching nearly completion stage at lower
gross profit margin and (i) unexpected complexity and increased
costs of variation works arising from certain civil engineering
projects of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025.

Other income

The Group’s other income for the year ended 31 March 2025
increased by approximately 44.4% to approximately HK$4.3
million (2024: approximately HK$3.0 million) as compared with
that for the previous year. The other income mainly consisted of
sale proceeds of scrapped materials in respect of early terminated
civil engineering projects and receipt of government subsidy from
Construction Industry Council during the year ended 31 March
2025.

Other gains/(losses), net

The Group’s other gains, net for the year ended 31 March 2025
was amounted to approximately HK$5.0 million (2024: other
losses, net of approximately HK$1.1 million). Other gains, net
mainly consisted of combining effect of (i) one-off recognition of
gain on modification of promissory note of approximately HK$17.3
million due to the extension of maturity date of promissory note
during the year ended 31 March 2025 and (ji) provision of expected
credit loss of trade and other receivables and contract assets,
net of totalling approximately HK$13.2 million due to increased
uncertainty on settlement of a customer.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Administrative and operating expenses

The Group’s administrative and operating expenses for the
year ended 31 March 2025 increased by approximately
45.7% to approximately HK$25.7 million (2024: approximately
HK$17.6 million) as compared with that for the previous year.
The administrative expenses mainly consisted of auditors’
remuneration, legal and professional fees, staff costs (including
Directors’ remuneration) and depreciation expenses. The increase
in administrative expenses was mainly due to the additional
provision of long service payment arising from abolition of the
Mandatory Provident Fund - Long Service Payment offsetting
mechanism and legal and professional fee paid for the special
deals such extension and issuance of convertible notes, share
consolidation and change of Company name during the year
ended 31 March 2025.

Finance costs

The Group’s finance costs for the year ended 31 March 2025
decreased by approximately 54.8% to approximately HK$5.4
million (2024: approximately HK$12.0 million) as compared with
that for the previous year. The finance costs mainly consist of
interest expenses for the promissory note and convertible notes.
Upon the extension and modification of terms of the convertible
notes in the outstanding principal amount of approximately
HK$257.0 million (the “Existing Convertible Notes”) in April 2024,
the principal amount and the interest accrued of the Existing
Convertible Notes therein would be mandatorily converted into
shares at its maturity and hence no further interest would be
accrued from the effective date of extension and modification of
terms of the Existing Convertible Notes.

THREERX

REBRBE_SE_AF=R=+—HLE
EZTHRREERITREFIGMNNIE.7%ELN
25,700,000 7T (ZZ U4 : 4917,600,000
ABIT) THMAXZ EE S IEZEENE B AR
BEXER -BTIRA (BIFESHM) RITERH
T THHZEMEFrERAREE_ S AF=
B=1+—BLEFERBUHAG G AEE R
RBSHAEEMEENBINRPRE &
BURMERRETAIREREE RO HKR
ERAANBDLBERNRBMEZTNERER
EXBERMK-

BB M

AEEBRBEEZE-_AF=B=+—HL
FEZMEMAREF B VHNS54.8%EL
5,400,000 7T (Z & U4 : £912,000,0007%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Impairment assessment of contract assets and receivables

According to the policy of impairment provision of receivables of
the Group, the Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss model on trade balances individually or based
on collective assessment. Except for debtors with significant
outstanding balances or credit-impaired, which are assessed
for impairment individually, the remaining trade receivables and
contract assets of trade nature have been grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics and aging.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group recognised
provision of expected credit loss allowance, net of approximately
HK$13.7 million (2024: approximately HK$83,000) for contract
assets and reversed provision of expected credit loss allowance,
net of approximately HK$0.5 million (2024: approximately
HK$0.3 million) for trade and other receivables. Included in the
provision of expected credit loss allowance for contract assets,
allowance of approximately HK$14.6 million (2024: HK$Nil) was
made on credit-impaired contract assets (“Such Receivables”)
arising from one of the customers of the Group which is currently
undergoing winding up procedures. Provisional liquidators were
appointed for the aforesaid customer by the High Court of Hong
Kong, resulting in a significant increase in its credit risk. To the
best knowledge of the Company based on the information
currently available and after taking into consideration of (i) the
defaulted payments; (i) the aforesaid customer is in the process
of liquidation and (i) the provisional liquidator has been appointed
to this aforesaid customer, the Group assessed the recoverability
of Such Receivables became uncertain and Such Receivables
became credit-impaired. Accordingly, the Group recognized
provision of expected credit loss allowance on Such Receivables
of approximately HK$14.6 million (2024: Nil) during the year ended
31 March 2025. The Group will take appropriate actions against
the aforesaid customer to recover the amount. The Company will
update its shareholders on any material development as and when
appropriate.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the property, plant and
equipment and right of use assets based on higher of fair values
less costs of disposal and value in use. The carrying amount of the
relevant assets does not exceed the recoverable amount and no
impairment has been recognised.

Net loss

The net loss of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025
increased by 31.2% to approximately HK$12.0 million (2024:
approximately HK$9.1 million) as compared with that for the
previous year. The increase in net loss was mainly due to the
combined effect of (i) decrease in gross profit, (ii) provision of
additional expected credit losses allowance on contract assets and
(i) increase in administrative and operating expenses outweighed
by the one-off recognition of gain on modification of promissory
note.

Loss per Share
The basic loss per Share attributable to the owners of the Company

for the year ended 31 March 2025 was approximately HK20.1
cents (2024: approximately HK23.0 cents).

ME BB R iU K EREE ERETE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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PROSPECTS

In 2025, the construction industry faces significant challenges,
primarily driven by the Hong Kong Government’s diminishing
fiscal reserves, stringent expenditure controls, sluggish economic
recovery, reduced in private construction activity and other
unfavorable market conditions. These factors may resulted to
a decline in number of new construction projects launched and
further intensify market competition. Following the completion of
specific civil engineering projects this year, the Group has actively
engaged in a variety contract bidding processes. However,
the growing number of participants in Hong Kong market has
intensified the competitive environment. In the years ahead, local
construction companies will be face heightened pressure on
securing new contracts and maintaining competitive tender pricing.

Despite these challenges, the Group has been dealing with
rising operational costs, such as optimizing direct labor costs
and controlling subcontracting fees. The challenging fiercely
competitive business environment is expected to have a certain
negative impact on the Group’s operation and financial status.
The Group will continue to actively monitor market conditions
and taking appropriate measures to mitigate any negative impact
on the business and performance of the Group. In addition, the
Group will implement additional cost control measures to mitigate
the onslaught of the abovementioned challenges. The Group is
proactively adjusting its strategies to address financial constraints
and regulatory changes and therefore the management team
remains optimistic about the future.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Shares were listed on GEM on 30 August 2010. The capital of
the Group comprises only ordinary shares.

Total equity attributable to the owners of the Company amounted
to approximately HK$40.9 million in deficit as at 31 March 2025
(31 March 2024: approximately HK$405.1 million in deficit). The
increase in equity was mainly resulted from allotment of shares,
entering of the fifth supplemental deed (the “Fifth Supplemental
Deed”) of the Existing Convertible Notes and issuance of certain
convertible notes for the year ended 31 March 2025.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEER RN

On 15 April 2024, an aggregate of 1,666,666,667
subscription share, representing approximately 29.1% of
the issued share capital of the Company as enlarged by the
allotment and issue of the subscription shares immediately
after the share subscription completion, were allotted and
issued at the subscription price of HK$0.012 per subscription
share to Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung, an executive director and
controlling shareholder of the Company under the share
specific mandate. The then subscription price represents
(i) the closing price of HK$0.012 per Share as quoted on
the Stock Exchange on 12 August 2022 (last day before
resumption of trading on 1 March 2024); (ii) the average
closing price of approximately HK$0.012 per Share based
on the daily closing prices as quoted on the Stock Exchange
for the 5 trading days immediately prior to and including 12
August 2022; and (iii) a discount of approximately 14.3%
to the average closing price of approximately HK$0.014
per Share based on the daily closing prices as quoted on
the Stock Exchange for the 30 trading days immediately
prior to and including 12 August 2022. The gross and net
proceeds from share subscription are HK$20.0 million
and approximately HK$19.9 million respectively, of which
(i) HK$10,355,700 has been used for the repayment of its
outstanding indebtedness of the Group which includes (a) an
amount of HK$2,008,844 due to Xinhua News Agency Audio
News Desk (&£ 4.0, being a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Xinhua News Agency (#T#+t) and a fellow subsidiary of
China Xinhua News Network Co., Limited (“China Xinhua
NNC”), the then substantial shareholder of the Company;
and (b) part of outstanding broadcasting fee in the amount
of HK$8,346,856 owed to China Xinhua NNC as a service
provider to the Group; and (ii) the remaining amount of
approximately HK$9.5 million has been used for the general
working capital of the Group during the year ended 31 March
2025. As at 31 March 2025, the Group had fully utilised the
net proceeds for repayment of above-mentioned outstanding
indebtedness of the Group and general working capital of the
Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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(i)

30

The Fifth Supplemental Deed of the Existing Convertible Notes
has been effective on 15 April 2024, in which the maturity
date of the Existing Convertible Notes has been extended to 9
December 2025 and the interest rate has been retrospectively
reduced from 3% to 0.8% per annum from 9 December
2021. China Xinhua NNC, the holder of the convertible bonds
shall not convert or redeem the Existing Convertible Notes
before the maturity date and shall mandatorily convert all
of the Existing Convertible Notes and accrued interest into
the conversion shares at the conversion price of HK$19.6
per conversion share at the maturity date. Upon the date
of effective of the Fifth Supplemental Deed, the Company
assumed the Existing Convertible Notes have been converted
into ordinary shares of the Company and reclassified as the
equity of the Company.

Convertible notes of approximately HK$64,127,855 (the
“Convertible Notes A”) has been issued to China Xinhua
NNC on 15 April 2024. The overdue interest of the Existing
Convertible Notes has been set-off against the subscription
price of the Convertible Notes A. The maturity date of the
Convertible Notes A is 9 December 2025 and the interest
rate is 0.8% per annum. China Xinhua NNC, the holder of
the Convertible Notes A shall not convert or redeem the
Convertible Notes A before the maturity date and shall
mandatorily convert all of the Convertible Notes A and accrued
interest into the conversion shares at the conversion price of
HK$19.6 per conversion share at the maturity date. Upon the
date of issuance of the Convertible Notes A, the Company
assumed the Convertible Notes A have been converted into
ordinary shares of the Company and reclassified as the equity
of the Company.

TSUN YIP HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024/2025

(i)

RETHREBEZSLMBREZEER
“ETNENMATHEREN HREAR
MREBEZEMAEBERE-Z LS
TZAAE MENXEB T —F
TZRABER3%ER THE0.8% ]
BMRESFFAEAREMEMBERER
A SBRNBRIRAERRRE
B WAR IR ERGRPAERA R ]
REREHNERBHUESRKRBARN
19.6B THRAEIRM - NERMNFHT
ZEEVERER ARFERREFEF B
REFEEBRA/EIRATSZBRILBHD
EPEPNCIL

S REX 464,127,855 oI O] Ha g = 45

(TeT R EHEA ) B é:%:m&mﬁ
+HRASTFIENEFTEERE-IRE

ﬂ@%%%%@%ﬂ%@ﬁ%?@kﬁ
BANREE - I MR ERANTISAERZ
TTHRE+ZRAB E%WZ%O8%°D
MR ZBEANEE ATPERENEBRAE
mﬂ%5m$e%@ﬁ%@ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ
A M ZER EIER B o8 HIHE AT A AT R IR ZEIRA
K FEF RS inEsRERRKRHN19.68
TTERAERRG o R RRERAET
HE% ARBEREZUTBRKRERACE
MAXRNDSERRDPUEEDEAEA
B] M #m o



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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(iv) Convertible notes of approximately HK$16,240,000 (the
“Convertible Notes B”) has been issued to China Xinhua
NNC on 15 April 2024. Part of the outstanding broadcasting
fee owed to China Xinhua NNC has been set-off against the
subscription price of the Convertible Notes B. The maturity
date of the Convertible Notes B is 9 December 2025 and
the interest rate is 0.8% per annum. China Xinhua NNC, the
holder of the Convertible Notes B shall not convert or redeem
the Convertible Notes B before the maturity date and shall
mandatorily convert all of the Convertible Notes B and accrued
interest into the conversion shares at the conversion price
of HK$19.6 per conversion share at the maturity date. Upon
the date of issuance of Convertible Notes B, the Company
assumed the Convertible Notes B have been converted into
ordinary shares of the Company and reclassified as the equity
of the Company.

(v)  The one hundred (100) to one (1) share consolidation has
been approved by the shareholders at extraordinary general
meeting of the Company on 17 June 2024 and became
effective on 19 June 2024.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group generally
financed its operations through internally generated cash flows, net
proceeds from allotment of shares and extension and issuance of
certain convertible notes and promissory note.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had net current liabilities of
approximately HK$17.2 million (31 March 2024: approximately
HK$418.4 million), including cash balance of approximately
HK$56.1 million (31 March 2024: approximately HK$48.2 million).
The current ratio, being the ratio of current assets to current
liabilities, was approximately 0.90 as at 31 March 2025 (31 March
2024: approximately 0.33). The increase of current ratio was mainly
due to (i) the entering of the Fifth Supplemental Deed and issuance
of the Convertible Notes A and the Convertible Notes B pursuant
to which the Existing Convertible Notes, the Convertible Notes A
and the Convertible Notes B would be mandatorily converted into
shares of the Company at its maturity date and therefore classified
as equity of the Company; and (i) the modification and extension
of the promissory note and therefore the promissory note was
classified as non-current liabilities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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GEARING RATIO

The gearing ratio, which is based on the total amount of promissory
note, convertible notes, lease liabilities and contract liabilities
divided by total assets, was approximately 60.5% as at 31 March
2025 (31 March 2024 approximately 176.7%). Upon entering into
of the Fifth Supplemental Deed and issuance of the Convertible
Notes A and the Convertible Notes B, the Existing Convertible
Notes, the Convertible Notes A and the Convertible Notes B were
reclassified as equity of the Company. Therefore, the decrease of
gearing ratio was mainly due to decrease in total debts.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The group entities collect most of the revenue and incur most of the
expenditures in their respective functional currencies. The Directors
consider that the Group’s exposure to foreign currency exchange
risk is insignificant as the majority of the Group’s transactions are
denominated in the functional currency of each individual group
entity. During the year ended 31 March 2025 the Group was mainly
exposed to foreign currency exchange risk of Renminbi and the
management mainly monitored the foreign currency exchange risk
with advice from the Group’s major banks.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had a total capital commitment of
approximately HK$2.6 million (31 March 2024: HK$NIl), contracted
for but not provided for in the financial statements in respect of
acquisition of property, plant and equipment.

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS
As at 31 March 2025, the Group did not have any assets held
under finance lease. As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s machinery

with net book values amounted to approximately HK$3.6 million
were held under finance lease.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2025, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities (31 March 2024: Nil).

INFORMATION ON EMPLOYEES

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had 232 full-time staff in Hong
Kong and over 90% of them are direct labour. Total staff costs
(including Directors’ remuneration) for the year ended 31 March
2025 amounted to approximately HK$116.4 million (2024
approximately HK$105.2 million), representing an increase of
approximately 10.7% over that for the previous year. The increase
was mainly due to salary increment according to market situation
business for the year.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD

Except for investment in subsidiaries, during the year ended 31
March 2025 and as at the end of the reporting period, the Group
did not hold any significant investment in equity interest in any
company.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

As at 31 March 2025, the Group did not have other plans for
material investments and capital assets.

TREASURY POLICY

The Group will continue to follow a prudent policy in managing the
Group’s cash balances and maintain a strong and healthy liquidity
to ensure that the Group is well placed to take advantage of future
growth opportunities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME

In order to provide the Company with a new corporate image
and benefit the Company’s future business development, the
shareholders of the Company approved to change the name of
the Company from “CNC Holdings Limited” to “Tsun Yip Holdings
Limited” and the change of the dual foreign name in Chinese of
the Company from “REZEZFIZERBRAE" to “EEZERK
BIEAT)" (the “Change of Company Name”) on the extraordinary
general meeting of the Company held on 31 May 2024. The
Change of Company Name has become effective following the
issue of the certificate of incorporation on change of name by the
Registrar of Companies in Cayman Islands on 7 June 2024. For
further details, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 26 July 2024.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group did not have any

material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated
companies.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
EEREFE

DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung (B§E#¥), aged 60, is the founder of
the Group. Mr. Kan formed TYW and TY Civil in 1996 and 2000
respectively and has been the director of both companies since
their formation. Mr. Kan has over 31 years of experience in handling
civil engineering projects of various types. In the last three years, he
held no directorships in any listed public companies. Mr. Kan has
entered into a service contract with the Company for an initial term
of three years commencing from 11 August 2010, and will continue
thereafter until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by either party on the other or three months’ salary
being payment in lieu of notice. In addition, Mr. Kan has entered
into an employment contract with TYW to act as the director of
TYW for a continuous term commencing from 6 February 1996
until terminated by not less than thirty days’ notice in writing served
by either party on the other or thirty days’ salary being payment in
lieu of notice. He currently is a director of various companies of the
Group.

Mr. Hui Ka Tsun (FF&88), aged 51, has over 25 years of
experience in project management and administration of various
construction projects in the civil engineering industry. He has joined
and served as the project manager of TYW and TY Civil since 2010
and is primarily responsible for the management and operation of
the Group’s civil engineering projects, as well as overseeing the
construction progress of various projects undertaken by the Group.
Mr. Hui was further appointed as a director of TYW and TY Civil in
2020 and is responsible for the management and supervision of
the Group’s engineering projects and participating in the Group’s
administrative management work. He currently is a director of
various companies of the Group. He obtained a diploma in civil
engineering in 1999. In the last three years, he held no directorships
in any listed public companies. Mr. Hui has entered into a service
contract with the Company for an initial term of three years,
expiring at the end of the initial term or at any time thereafter, unless
terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served
by either party or by the payment of the equivalent of three months
salary in lieu of such notice by either party.

X

WITESE

EEERE 605 BEAEEZAIFA B
ERRR—NANRER_ETEFRIUESE
K REFET A WHERIEMRSZMEKA
BZEF - BAEHERARAFRIESHE LK
TREBZER -EBE=FR RILEENE
ALEHRARRBDEEENESTHFF -BELED
BARNBIRBEN BT —FF/N\R
+T—HEVIAR=F URFKERN BEE
ER—TFTES—HELFA DR =ZBRZEE
BAHX M —EARHFEFRBME T UKL
s BREEBKRER KBTI UL—NERES
WO BRAERKBES EEEHBA-ANKR
F_ANHEEEERA—FTAS—HELET
DR=+HZEEBNAZ T =+HHEMF
RBEMNEFTURILE - RIBEFAEEEETEX
RBIZEE-

SFRERSE S ABDBFIATIERS
BIREENREEEERITEER B -F—
TEE RMAEZKBTREZLKR EEER
BEE T EA8FEENETATEBEEN
EENBEUREEFCERZEREENMET
EE-R_Z-TF FAEE—TEEES
EXEKGREXZLIANES BEFEETE
EENEERGEETSHAEETHEEL
F-RBERBTEFEETZRABDVZEF
R—NANNEEELARIER R -TBE=F
W R ERER LB ARATDREEENES
B -SrREBERARETIURBEN 915
RS =5 BEEV S EHEREHEREM
KEEm BRIFER—REHA DR =@/
SEHBNNEAN-—SXNHEER=ER#=
ERBANE T UL L

EEIEIRAT 2024/2025 3R 35



BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
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Mr. Kan Chun Ting Max (%), aged 29, obtained a
Bachelor of Engineering in Civil Engineering from the Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology in 2018. Mr. Max Kan is
the son of Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung, being an executive Director
and the controlling shareholder of the Company and Ms. Lam
Shun Kiu Rosita, being non-executive Director of the Company.
Mr. Max Kan joined TYW as a financial controller in 2018, and
is responsible for corporate control, contracting works, project
management, and overseeing various construction projects. Mr.
Max Kan was appointed as a director of TYW and TY Civil in 2023
and is responsible for providing recommendations to the executive
directors in relation to the overall management and administration
of the Group’s civil engineering business. He currently is a director
of various companies of the Group. In the last three years, he held
no directorships in any listed public companies. Mr. Max Kan has
entered into a service contract with the Company for an initial term
of three years, expiring at the end of the initial term or at any time
thereafter, unless terminated by not less than three months’ notice
in writing served by either party or by the payment of the equivalent
of three months salary in lieu of such notice by either party.

Non-Executive Director

Ms. Lam Shun Kiu Rosita (1%3##5% 1), aged 60, has over 24
years of experience in project management and administration of
various construction projects in the civil engineering industry. Ms.
Lam is the spouse of Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung and the mother of
Mr. Kan Chun Ting Max. She has joined and served as the general
manager of TY Civil since 2000 and is primarily responsible for
the management and operation of the Group’s civil engineering
projects. Ms. Lam was further appointed as a director of TYW
and TY Civil in 2012 and is responsible for the management and
supervision of the Group’s engineering projects and participating
in the Group’s administrative management work. In the last three
years, she held no directorships in any listed public companies.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chin Chi Ho Stanley (§&3&3%), aged 42, has over 16 years of
experience in the areas of audit, financial management, corporate
governance and operations in capital markets. Mr. Stanley Chin has
obtained a Master of Business Administration from the University of
Hong Kong. He was admitted as a Certified Public Accountant in
2009 and served as an audit specialist in PricewaterhouseCoopers
and KPMG for 7 years. He has also been awarded the qualification
of Financial Risk Manager in 2009 and Chartered Financial Analyst
in 2010. Mr. Stanley Chin has extensive experience serving as
senior management for different Hong Kong listed companies. Mr.
Stanley Chin is currently an independent non-executive director
of each of Champion Alliance International Holdings Limited and
Peking University Resources (Holdings) Company Limited, the
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock codes: 1629 and 618 respectively). Apart from the above,
Mr. Stanley Chin did not hold any directorships in any listed public
companies in the last three years. He has not, by himself or through
his firm in which he practices, provided professional services to the
Company in last two years.

Mr. Wong Chung Yip Kenneth (E&£%), aged 57, graduated
with professional diploma in accountancy from Hong Kong
Polytechnic in 1990 and obtained a Bachelor of Laws from the
Peking University in the People’s Republic of China in 1998.
Mr. Kenneth Wong also obtained a Master of Science from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong in 1999. Mr. Kenneth Wong
has extensive experience in auditing, accounting and corporate
finance, and is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. Kenneth Wong previously worked at one
of the reputable international accounting firms for six years and
also worked in the Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited for
over 13 years with last position as senior manager of the Listing
Division of the Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited. Mr.
Kenneth Wong then worked in different financial service institutions
licensed by the Securities and Futures Commission as responsible
officer providing corporate finance advisory services for more than
10 years. Mr. Kenneth Wong had served as the independent non-
executive Director from December 2013 to October 2022. Apart
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from the above, Mr. Kenneth Wong did not hold any directorships
in any listed public companies in the last three years. He has not,
by himself or through his firm in which he practices, provided
professional services to the Company in last two years.

Mr. Lai Ah Ming Leon (B2HBH) , aged 68, obtained a Bachelor of
Laws with Honours from the University of Wales, University College,
Cardiff in July 1982 and subsequently completed a Postgraduate
Certificate in Laws at the University of Hong Kong in July 1986.
Mr. Leon Lai has been a practising solicitor in Hong Kong and a
member of the Law Society of Hong Kong since August 1988
and is the sole proprietor of a law firm in Hong Kong. He has also
been an advocate and solicitor of the Supreme Court of Singapore
since February 1995. He has been an independent non-executive
director of Allan International Holdings Limited (stock code: 684)
since December 1995 and Royal Deluxe Holdings Limited (stock
code: 3789) since January 2017. Apart from the above, Mr. Leon
Lai did not hold any directorships in any listed public companies
in the last three years. He has not, by himself or through his firm in
which he practices, provided professional services to the Company
in last two years.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEELRS

The Board hereby presents this Corporate Governance Report for
the year ended 31 March 2025.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards
of corporate governance to safeguard the interests of the
Shareholders and enhance the performance of the Group.

The Company has applied the principles and code provisions in the
Code on Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) as set out in
Appendix C1 to the GEM Listing Rules.

In the opinion of the Board, the Company has complied with
the Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2025, except for
paragraphs C.1.8, C.1.6 and C.2.7 of the Code. This report further
illustrates in detail as to how the Code was applied, inclusive of the
considered reasons for any deviation throughout the year ended 31
March 2025.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms which are the same as the
required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the
GEM Listing Rules.

The Company periodically issues notices to its Directors reminding
them of the general prohibition on dealing in the Company’s listed
securities during the blackout periods before the publication of
announcements of financial results.

The Company has confirmed, having made specific enquiry of the
Directors, that all the Directors have complied with the required
standards of dealings throughout the year ended 31 March 2025.
The Company was not aware of any non-compliance in this respect
throughout the year ended 31 March 2025.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is accountable for promoting the success of the
Company by directing and supervising its affairs in a responsible
and effective manner. Each Director has a duty to act in good faith
and in the best interests of the Company.

Matters reserved for the Board include, but not limited to:

40

approval of the Group’s long term objectives and strategy,
policies and annual budgets;

oversight of the Group’s operations and management;

approval of major changes to the Group’s corporate structure,
management and control structure;

approval of interim and annual results;

approval of any significant changes in accounting policies or
practices;

responsible for the system of internal control and risk
management;

approval of matters in relation to Board membership and
Board remuneration;

review of the existing policies of the Company on corporate
governance;

review of the coverage of knowledge and skills of the training
sessions arranged for the Directors and senior management
by the Company;

evaluated the effectiveness of internal safeguard procedure for

overseeing timely disclosure of material inside information and
perseverance of its confidentiality;
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e review and monitor the policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regularity requirements;

e monitor the compliance of code of conduct by the Directors
and relevant employees of the Group; and

e review of the Company’s compliance with the Code and
disclosure in this report.

Composition of the Board

The Board currently comprises seven Directors, including
three executive Directors, a non-executive Director and three
independent non-executive Directors.

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the “Biographical
Details of Directors” section on pages 35 to 38 of this report. The
composition of the Board is set out as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung (Chairman)
(Redesignated as Chairman on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Hui Ka Tsun (Chief Executive Officer)
(Appointed on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Kan Chun Ting Max (Appointed on 16 April 2024)
Dr. Jiang Yan (Resigned on 16 April 2024)
Dr. Li Yong Sheng (Resigned on 16 April 2024)
Mr, Liu Da Yong (Resigned on 16 April 2024)

Non-Executive Directors

Ms. Lam Shun Kiu Rosita (Appointed on 29 Novermber 2024)
Ms. Tang Li (Resigned on 16 April 2024)

Mr. Law Cheuk Hung (Resigned on 29 Novermber 2024)
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chin Chi Ho Stanley

Mr. Wong Chung Yip Kenneth (Appointed on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Lai Ah Ming Leon (Appointed on 16 April 2024)

Mr. Wu Guo Ming (Resigned on 16 April 2024)

Mr. Wan Chi Keung Aaron, B8S JP (Resigned on 16 April 2024)

Mr. Kwok Man To Paul (Resigned on 29 November 2024)

Mr. Hui Ka Tsun, Mr. Kan Chun Ting Max were appointed as
executive Directors and Mr. Wong Chun Yip Kenneth and Mr. Lai
Ah Ming Leon were appointed as independent non-executive
Directors with effective from 16 April 2024 respectively. Ms. Lam
Shun Kiu Rosita was appointed as non-executive Director with
effective from 29 November 2024. Mr. Hui Ka Tsun, Mr. Kan Chun
Ting Max, Mr. Wong Chung Yip Kenneth, Mr. Lai Ah Ming Leon and
Ms. Lam Shun Kiu Rosita obtained the legal advice referred to in
Rule 5.02D of the GEM Listing Rules on 22 February 2024 and 29
November 2024 respectively, and has confirmed that each of them
understood his/her obligations as a director of a listed company.

The list of Directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company pursuant to the GEM
Listing Rules from time to time. The independent non-executive
Directors are expressly identified in all corporate communications
pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules. Every Director is entitled to have
access to Board papers and related materials and has access to
the advice and services of the Company Secretary. The Board and
each Director also have separate and independent access to the
Company'’s senior management.
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Chairman and chief executive officer

In order to have a clear division between the management of the
Board and the day-to-day management of the business operations
of the Group, the role and duties of the chairman and the chief
executive officer of the Company are carried out by different
individuals.

Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung is the chairman of the Board. The chairman
is responsible for strategic and business directions to the Board
and ensures its effectiveness in all aspects. The Chairman provides
leadership for the Board and ensures that the Company establishes
sound corporate governance practices and procedures. He also
encourages all the Directors to make a full and active contribution
to the affairs of the Board.

Mr. Hui Ka Tsun is the chief executive officer of the Company.
The chief executive officer of the Company is responsible for the
Company'’s day-to-day management and operations and focuses
on implementing objectives, policies and strategies approved and
delegated by the Board.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the
Board and Senior Management

The Board is the primary decision-making body of the Company
and takes the responsibility to oversee all major matters of the
Company, including the formulation and approval of all policy
matters, overall strategies, internal control and risk management
systems, and monitor the performance of the senior executives.
The Directors have to make decisions objectively in the interests
of the Company. The Board directly, and indirectly through its
committees, leads and provides direction to the management
by laying down strategies and overseeing their implementation,
monitors the Group’s operational and financial performance, and
ensures that sound internal control and risk management systems
are in place.
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The Board has delegated the responsibilities of the execution
of strategies and decision making for day-to-day operation and
administration functions of the Company to the management
team headed by the chief executive officer. The Board has set out
guidelines for management team as to when final authority should
rest with the Board and its prior approval should be obtained before
making decisions or entering into any commitments; issue of such
include but not limited to any proposed notifiable transactions,
connected transactions, significant investments, major business
decisions related to operation and business strategy, change of key
management of the Group and disclosure of inside information.

Appointment, re-election and removal

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company for an initial fixed term of three years, expiring at
the end of the initial term or at any time thereafter, unless terminated
by not less than three (38) months’ notice in writing served by either
party or by the payment of the equivalent of three (3) months
salary in lieu of such notice by either party, subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at the first annual general meeting of
the Company after his appointment pursuant to the Articles and
thereafter subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
annual general meeting at least once every three years according
to the provisions of the Articles, the GEM Listing Rules and other
applicable laws.

The non-executive Director was appointed for a specific term of
three years, expiring at the end of the term or at any time thereafter,
unless terminated by not less than one-(1) month’ notice in writing
served by either party and subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election at the first annual general meeting of the Company after
her appointment pursuant to the Articles and thereafter subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at annual general meeting
at least once every three years according to the provisions of the
Articles, the GEM Listing Rules and other applicable laws.
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Each of the independent non-executive Directors was appointed
for a specific term of three years, expiring at the end of the term
or at any time thereafter, unless terminated by not less than one-
(1) month’ notice in writing served by either party and subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at the first annual general
meeting of the Company after his appointment pursuant to the
Articles and thereafter subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election at annual general meeting at least once every three years
according to the provisions of the Articles, the GEM Listing Rules
and other applicable laws.

In accordance with the Articles, at each AGM one third of the
Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. Such retiring Directors may,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.

None of the Directors has a service contract with any member
of the Group which does not expire or is not determinable
by the relevant employer within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Independent Non-executive Directors

The Company has established mechanisms to ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board, including without
limitation by reviewing that the independent non-executive
Directors have appropriate qualifications and expertise from time
to time with sufficient time commitment to the Group, that the
number of independent non-executive Directors comply with the
requirements of the GEM Listing Rules, and that channels are
established (including without limitation by questionnaires or at
Board meetings) to assess and evaluate the independent non-
executive Directors’ contribution and views. The implementation
and effectiveness of such mechanisms will be reviewed by the
Board on an annual basis.
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The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company
considers all of the independent non-executive Directors are
independent.

Paragraph C.2.7 of the Code provides that the chairman should at
least annually hold meetings with the independent non-executive
Directors without the executive Directors and non-executive
Directors present. Although the chairman did not hold a meeting
with the independent non-executive Directors, excluding the
executive Directors and non-executive Directors during the year
ended 31 March 2025, he delegated the company secretary to
gather any concerns and/or questions that the independent non-
executive Directors might have and report to him for setting up
follow-up meetings, whenever necessary, in due course.

Relation of the Board Members

Mr. Kan Chun Ting Max and Ms. Lam Shun Kiu Rosita is the son
and the spouse of Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung, being an executive
Director and the controlling shareholder of the Company
respectively. Save as disclosed above, all Directors are no
relationships (including financial, business, family or other material
or relevant relationships) among members of the Board.

Meeting of the Board

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Board had convened
total 6 meetings, 4 of which are in regular nature. The attendance
record of individual Directors at the Board and committees’
meetings and general meetings are set out in page 63 of this
report.
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Directors’ Training and Professional Development

Every Director keeps abreast of responsibilities as a director of the
Company and of the conduct, business activities and development
of the Company. The Company provides all members of the Board
with monthly updates on the Group’s performance and financial
position.

The Directors are aware of the requirement under the paragraph
C.1.4 of the Code regarding continuous professional development.
During the year, the Directors reviewed the monthly business
and financial updates and other reading materials provided to
them concerning latest developments in corporate governance
practices and relevant legal and regulatory developments. A record
of the Directors’ participation in various continuous professional
development program is kept by the company secretary as below:
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Training
=3
Attend Induction
Self-learning seminar training
BHEEE  2miAsg ARSI
Executive Directors BWITES
Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung Bl 4
Mr. Hui Ka Tsun HEBTE
(appointed on 16 April 2024) (R ZEZmFEPYH+xH
EZE) v v
Mr. Kan Chun Ting Max BERELE
(appointed on 16 April 2024) (R —EZmFEPIH+H
EZT) v v
Dr. Jiang Yan ZEEL
(resigned on 16 April 2024) (= ZFE S +xH
FHE) v
Dr. Li Yong Sheng FkFHEL
(resigned on 16 April 2024) (R ZEZFEMAE+-H
FHE) 4
Mr. Liu Da Yong KRBRE
(resigned on 16 April 2024) (R ZEZmFEPYH+xH
) v
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Training
b=
Attend Induction
Self-learning seminar training
BHE#EE  2miAsg ARSI
Non-executive Directors EHITES
Mr. Lam Shun Kiu Rosita MEEIBELZ L+
(appointed on 29 November 2024) (R-E_pyeFE+—4
Z+ N HEZE) v v
Ms. Tang Li BEEZL
(resigned on 16 April 2024) (R ZEZgFELYS+3H
FHE) v
Mr. Law Cheuk Hung lﬁf’&?ﬁi
(resigned on 29 November 2024) (R =—EZpyF+—H
Z+AHEFE) v
Independent non-executive BIEMITES
Directors
Mr. Chin Chi Ho Stanley BEERE v
Mr. Wong Chung Yip Kenneth TERELE
(appointed on 16 April 2024) (R ZEZmFAF+~H
ESF) v v v
Mr. Lai Ah Ming Leon RIERTE
(appointed on 16 April 2024) (R ZEZmFS+~H
EZT) v v v
Mr. Kwok Man To Paul WX EEILE
(resigned on 29 November 2024) R ZEZmF+—HAZ+7
HEHE) v
Mr. Wu Guo Ming RESE
(resigned on 16 April 2024) (R-EZpgFEm A +5H
FHE) v
Mr. Wan Chi Keung Aaron, B8s, Jp FESRITE » t74#1 22 X P+
(resigned on 16 April 2024) (R ZEZFEYSE+3H
FHE) v
Directors’ insurance cover of legal action EEFRERTHZEFER
Pursuant to code provision C.1.8 of the Code, the Company RESFRIFNTFREXEC.1.81& X AT EF

should arrange appropriate insurance cover in respect of legal
action against its Directors. Such directors’ liability insurance will be
reviewed and renewed annually. Upon the expiry of insurance cover
on 30 August 2020, the Company did not arrange appropriate
insurance cover in respect of legal action against its Directors since
then. On 16 September 2024, the Company has rearranged an
appropriate insurance coverage in respect of legal action against its
Directors and re-complied with code provision C.1.8 of the Code.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees, namely audit
committee (the “Audit Committee”), nomination committee
(the “Nomination Committee”), remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) and risk management committee (the
“Risk Management Committee”), to oversee particular aspects of
the Company’s affairs. Their respective terms of reference are set
out in the Company’s website.

Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee on 11 August
2010 with terms of reference in compliance with paragraph D.3.3
of the Code.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include, among
other things, reviewing and supervising the financial reporting
process and internal control systems, as well as the overall risk
management of the Group, reviewing the financial statements
and the interim and annual reports of the Group, and reviewing
the terms of engagement and scope of audit work of the external
auditors.

The composition of the Audit Committee is as follows:

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Chin Chi Ho Stanley (Chairman)

Mr. Wong Chung Yip Kenneth (Appointed on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Lai Ah Ming Leon (Appointed on 29 Novermnber 2024)

Mr. Wu Guo Ming (Resigned on 16 April 2024)

Mr. Wan Chi Keung Aaron, 8BS, Jp (Resigned on 16 April 2024)

Mr. Kwok Man To Paul (Resigned on 29 November 2024)
Non-executive Directors

Ms. Tang Li (Resigned on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Law Cheuk Hung (Resigned on 29 November 2024)
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The members of the Audit Committee possess diversified
industry experience and the chairman of the Audit Committee
has appropriate professional qualifications and experience in
accounting matters.

Summary of works

During the year, the Audit Committee has convened 2 meetings
to discuss and review the interim results for the six months ended
30 September 2024 and the annual results for the year ended
31 March 2025 and is of the opinion that the preparation of such
results complied with the applicable accounting standards and that
adequate disclosures have been made.

Nomination Committee

The Company has established the Nomination Committee on 11
August 2010 with terms of reference in compliance with paragraph
B.3.1 of the Code.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the structure, size and composition of the Board, identifying and
nomination of directors and making recommendations to the
Board on appointment and re-appointment of Directors, reviewing
the board diversity policy, reviewing the nomination policy and
reviewing and accessing the independence of the independent
non-executive Director and making recommendation if necessary.
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The composition of the Nomination Committee is as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung (Chairman)
(Redesignated as Chairman on 16 April 2024)
Ms. Lam Shun Kiu Rosita (Appointed on 30 June 2025)
Mr. Hui Ka Tsun (Appointed on 16 April 2024 and
resigned on 30 June 2025)
Dr. Jiang Yan (Resigned on 16 April 2024)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Chin Chi Ho Stanley (Resigned on 16 April 2024 and
re-appointed on 29 November 2024)

Mr. Wong Chung Yip Kenneth (Appointed on 16 April 2024)

Mr. Lai Ah Ming Leon (Appointed on 16 April 2024)

Mr. Wu Guo Ming (Resigned on 16 April 2024)

Mr. Wan Chi Keung Aaron, BBS, JP (Resigned on 16 April 2024)

Mr. Kwok Man To Paul (Resigned on 29 November 2024)
Summary of work

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Nomination Committee
had convened 4 meetings to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board, assessed the independence of the
Independent non-executive Directors and considered the Directors
to retire and stand for re-election at the AGM. The Nomination
Committee has also reviewed the board diversity policy as set out
in the paragraph headed “Board Diversity Policy” above on 24 April
2025.

When identifying suitable candidates for directorship, the
Nomination Committee will carry out the selection process by
making reference to the skills, experience, education background,
professional knowledge, personal integrity and time commitments
of the proposed candidates, and also the Company’s needs and
other relevant statutory requirements and regulations. Qualified
candidates will then be recommended to the Board for approval.
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Nomination Policy

The Board has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”) which sets out the selection criteria and nomination
procedures to identify, select and recommend candidates for
Directors. The Nomination Policy aims to (i) set out the criteria and
process in the nomination and appointment of directors of the
Company; (ii) ensure that the Board of the Company has a balance
of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to
the Company; and (iii) ensure the Board continuity and appropriate
leadership at Board level.

Selection Criteria

The Nomination Committee shall consider a number of the factors
in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate to the Board,
including but not limited to the following:

(@) character and integrity;

(b) qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under the
Board Diversity Policy that are relevant to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy;

(c) any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on
the Board;

(d) requirement for the Board to have independent directors in
accordance with the GEM Listing Rules and whether the
candidate would be considered independent with reference to
the independence guidelines set out in the GEM Listing Rules;

(e) any potential contributions the candidate can bring to
the Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,
independence and gender diversity;

() wilingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge

duties as a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s)
of the Company; and
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(@ such other perspectives that am appropriate to the

Company’s business and succession plan and where
applicable, may be adopted and/or amended by the Board
and/or the Nomination Committee from time to time for
nomination of directors and succession planning.

Nomination Procedures

Appointment of New Director

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board may select
candidates for directorship from various channels, including
but not limited to internal promotion, re-designation, referral
by other member of the management and external recruitment
agents.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should, upon
receipt of the proposal on appointment of new director and the
biographical information (or relevant details) of the candidate,
evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as set out
above to determine whether such candidate is qualified for
directorship.

If the process vyields one or more desirable candidates, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should rank them by
order of preference based on the needs of the Company and
reference check of each candidate (where applicable).

The Nomination Committee should then recommend to the
Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for directorship,
as applicable.

For any person that is nominated by a shareholder for election
as a director at the general meeting of the Company, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should evaluate
such candidate based on the criteria as set out above to
determine whether such candidate is qualified for directorship.
Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the
Board should make recommendation to shareholders in
respect of the proposed election of director at the general
meeting.
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Re-election of Director at General Meeting

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should review
the overall contribution and service to the Company of the
retiring director and the level of participation and performance
on the Board.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should also
review and determine whether the retiring director continues to
meet the criteria as set out above.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should then
make recommendation to shareholders in respect of the
proposed re-election of director at the general meeting.
Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect or re-elect
a candidate as director at the general meeting, the relevant
information of the candidate will be disclosed in the circular to
shareholders and/or explanatory statement accompanying the
notice of the relevant general meeting in accordance with the
GEM Listing Rules and/or applicable laws and regulations.

Monitoring and reporting

The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of

the Nomination Policy and report to the Board when necessary.

Also, the Nomination Committee will review the Nomination Policy,

as appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the Nomination

Policy and will discuss any revisions that may be required, and

recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration and

approval.
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The Company reviewed its nomination policy for a formal,
considered and transparent procedure to help identifying and
nomination of candidates for Directors. All valid nomination of
candidates, accompanied with biographical details, would be
presented to the Board for consideration. Consideration would
be given to factors such as the candidate’s integrity, experience
and qualifications relevant to the Group’s business. It is believed
that members of the Nomination Committee collectively would
have required relevant knowledge and skills to identify, invite and
evaluate qualifications of nominated candidates for directorship.

Board diversity policy

The Company has adopted the board diversity policy on 30
August 2013 with a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced
development of the Group. The Company sees increasing
diversity at the Board level as an essential element in supporting
the attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable
development.

With the Board Diversity Policy adopted by the Company, the
Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board towards enhancement of its overall performance.
With a vision of achieving a sustainable and balanced development,
the Company regards Board diversity as an essential element
for achieving its strategic goals. Appointments of Directors
are made on merits having due regard to a range of diversity
objectives, including inter alia gender, age, cultural and educational
background, length of service, professional experience, knowledge
of the Group’s business and a broad range of individual attributes,
interests and values.

A summary of the Board Diversity Policy together with the
measurable objectives for implementing such policy and the
progress on achieving such objectives are disclosed below.
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Summary of the Board Diversity Policy

The Company recognises the importance of diversity in board
members to corporate governance and the board effectiveness.
The purposes of the Board Diversity Policy are to set out the
basic principles to be followed to ensure that (i) a diverse
range of candidates are considered; and (ii) the Board has
the appropriate balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives necessary to enhance the effectiveness of the
Board and to maintain high standards of corporate governance.
Board nomination and appointments will be made on merit basis
based on its business needs from time to time while taking into
account the benefits of diversity. The Company has identified
and implemented programs that will assist in the development
of a broader and more diverse pool of skilled and experienced
employees and that, in time, their skills will prepare them for senior
management and board positions.

Measurable objectives

Selection of board candidates shall be based on a range of diversity
perspectives with reference to the Company’s business model
and specific needs, including but not limited to gender, age, race,
language, cultural background, educational background, industry
experience and professional experience. The ultimate decision shall
be based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates
shall bring to the Board.

For the purpose of implementation of the Board Diversity Policy, the
following measurable objectives were adopted:

()  Independence:

The Board should include a balanced composition of
executive and non-executive Directors (including independent
non-executive Directors) so that there is a strong element of
independence in the Board. The independent non-executive
Directors shall be of sufficient caliber and stature for their views
to carry weight.
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(i)  Skills and experience:

The Board possesses a balance of skills appropriate for
the requirements of the business of the Company. The
Directors have a mix of finance, academic and management
backgrounds that taken together provide the Company with
considerable experience in a range of activities.

Monitoring and reporting

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board
Diversity Policy, developing and reviewing measurable objectives
for implementing the Board Diversity Policy and monitoring
the progress on achieving these measurable objectives. The
Nomination Committee shall review this policy and the measurable
objectives at least annually to ensure the continued effectiveness of
the Board.

On 24 April 2025, the Nomination Committee considered and
reviewed the board diversity policy and the director nomination
policy of the Company, with recommendations to the Board
for approval. Any revisions to the Board Diversity Policy as
recommended by the Nomination Committee would be submitted
to Board for consideration and approval.
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The Company is conscious of maintaining a Board made up with
independent non-executive Directors as the majority, together
with an appropriate level of female members on the Board. At
present, half of the directors on the Board are independent non-
executive Directors. They represent diverse career experience in
both international and local enterprises. Current female Director
accounts for about 14.3% if the Board (one female out of seven
Directors). The Board considers that gender diversity is currently
achieved in the Board and is committed to maintaining gender
diversity in the Board. As the Board considers gender diversity has
been achieved, the Board currently has no further numerical target
and timeline set for achieving gender diversity on the Board. While
conscious efforts are being taken by the Company to fulfil the Board
Diversity Policy, all appointments are ultimately made on a merit
basis taking into account available and suitable candidates. The
Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
Policy for the year ended 31 March 2025 and was of the view that
the Board Diversity Policy was sufficient and effective.

Workforce Diversity

As at 31 March 2025, except the directors of the Company, the
Group had a total of 225 staff members. The gender composition
of the staff members was approximately 74.7% male staff
members and 25.3% female staff members. As the Company
engages in the construction business which is predominated by
male, the Board considered that gender diversity of the workforce
of the Group has been well maintained during the year ended
31 March 2025. The details of gender ratios in the workforce by
categories of employees are set out in the section headed “B1:
Employment” in the Environment, Social and Governance (ESG)
Report in this Annual Report.

While we would aspire to have more female representation
amongst our senior management as part of succession planning
and to increase female representation amongst our workforce, we
are also mindful of the significant challenges in doing so as the
market in which we operate (construction in particular) traditionally
has a predominantly male workforce. We will continue to take
opportunities to increase the proportion of females amongst our
staff, as and when suitable candidates are identified.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee on 11
August 2010 with terms of reference in compliance with paragraph
E.1.2 of the Code.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include,
among other things, formulating and making recommendations
to the Board on the remuneration policy, determining the specific
remuneration packages of all executive Directors and senior
management and making recommendations to the Board of the
remuneration of non-executive Directors.

The Company adopts the remuneration policy to its Directors as
disclosed in the section headed “Remuneration Policy” in this
Directors’ report.

The composition of the Remuneration Committee is as follows:

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Lai Ah Ming Leon (Chairman) (Appointed on 16 April 2024)

Mr. Wong Chung Yip Kenneth (Appointed on 16 April 2024)

Mr. Chin Chi Ho Stanley (Resigned on 16 April 2024 and
re-appointed on 29 November 2024)

Mr. Wan Chi Keung Aaron, 8BS, Jp (Resigned on 16 April 2024)

Mr. Wu Guo Ming (Resigned on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Kwok Man To Paul (Resigned on 29 November 2024)

Summary of work

During the year, the Remuneration Committee had convened 4
meetings to consider the revision of Directors’ remuneration and
the remuneration packages of all the Directors, reviewed and made
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration package
of the proposed Directors in accordance with the Remuneration
Committee’s written terms of reference.

On 24 April 2025, the Remuneration Committee has held a
meeting during which the remuneration packages of all Directors
and senior management for the year have been reviewed
individually and the proposal for year 2025 remuneration
adjustment and bonus distribution, if any, were considered.
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Risk Management Committee

The Company established the Risk Management Committee on 15
June 2016 with written terms of reference in compliance with the
GEM Listing Rules and the Code.

The main duties of the Risk Management Committee include,
among other things, reviewing the risk management system
of the Group; assessing the risks from major decisions and to
consider solutions for significant risk; monitoring the Group’s
risk profile; reviewing and monitor emerging risks relating to the
Group’s business and strategies; having periodic assessment on
the Group’s risk profile and risk management capabilities; and
overseeing the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems on an ongoing basis.

The composition of the Risk Management Committee is as follows:

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Wong Chung Yip Kenneth (Chairman) (Appointed on 16 April
2024 and redesignated as Chairman on 29 November 2024)

Mr. Chin Chi Ho Stanley (Re-designated as member on
16 April 2024)
Mr. Lai Ah Ming Leon (Appointed on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Wu Guo Ming (Resigned on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Wan Chi Keung Aaron, BBS, JP (Resigned on 16 April 2024)

Mr. Kwok Man To Paul (Resigned on 29 November 2024)

60 TSUN YIP HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024/2025

RREEEZEE

ERBERZZE—AERA+EARIAR
BEEZET HEEREHLETSGEMLETR
AR sFRI e

EREEEE e T2REAE (EHPaRE) @2
SNAEEZAREERERG  SHERBEETRRR
ZRBAREBHEEARBZBARALE , BE
AEBZARER ; Bef REEHRZBBE
EREBRRBEZER ; EREAERZER
BERkEREEENETIE , RFEERAE
EEZRBREERABESR R

EEREEEEE ZEMRNT

BWIERITES
ITRERE (EFFE) W -E_WELF+H
ELZAFUER —E_MAF+—FA -+ N1H

BEERE (K ZEZENHF A NHBEES
5)

ZRABR A (R E —JUFELIA AN HEESE)

REIE (R EZIUELNF 5 HEE)

FERIE  wgmEs P+ (R ZEZ[94F
P98+~ HFF )

EAXERIE (R E P —HF =+ /L HEHE)



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEELRS

Summary of work

The Risk Management Committee should meet at least once a
year to consider major investigation findings on risk management
matters and the scope and quality of management’s ongoing
monitoring of risks. During the year, the Risk Management
Committee had convened one meeting to consider the risk
assessment of the Group.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Company has not established any committee responsible
for the corporate governance function of the Group and the
function has been collectively performed by the Board. The
Board acknowledges the overseeing of the corporate governance
function by the Board collectively. The Board is responsible for the
corporate governance functions with the following duties:

e to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations on
changes and updating;

e toreview and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

e to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

e to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors;

e to review the Company’s compliance with the Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report; and

e such other corporate governance duties and functions set
out in the Code (as amended from time to time) for which the
Board are responsible.
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The Board has reviewed and approved the Corporate Governance
Report set out in this report. The Board reviewed the Company’s
corporate governance policies and practices, and the Company’s
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements.

ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF MEETINGS

The Board is scheduled to meet regularly at least four times a
year, and Directors will receive at least 14 days prior written notice
of such meetings. For any ad hoc Board meetings, Directors
are given as much notice as is reasonably practicable in those
circumstances. Agendas and accompanying papers are sent not
less than 3 days before the date of Board meetings to ensure that
the Directors are given sufficient time to review the same. Draft and
final versions of minutes of regular board meetings are circulated
to all directors for their comment and records respectively. All
Directors are kept informed in a timely manner of major changes
that may affect the Group’s businesses, including relevant rules and
regulations. The Board also understands where potential conflicts
of interests arise, the independent non-executive Directors shall
take the lead the physical meetings in discussing the relevant
transactions being contemplated when there is a Director or any
of his associates having a material interest in the transactions and
shall abstain from voting. All directors, in the discharge of their
duties, are allowed to seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances at a reasonable cost to be borne by the
Company.
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BE_Z_HF=R=+—HLEFE BN
EEENREEGEHRURKRRREZHER

Details of the Directors’ attendance at Board and committees’
meetings and general meetings for the year ended 31 March 2025

are set out below:

BEMT

Risk
Audit Nomination Remuneration  Management General
Board Committee Committee Committee Committee meeting
28 ENZE8Y Re%Z8T  §NZ8e EAREEZSE BRRAE
Number of meetings R 6 2 4 4 1 4
Executive Directors BES
Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung BEREE 6/6 - 4/4 - - 4/4
M. Hui Ka Tsun (aopointed on 16 Apii 2024) #8854 (K -FE -/ 5/5 - 33 - = 33
DA+ HEZE)
Mr. Kan Chun Ting Max BREIAE R oE-mE 5/5 = = = = 2/3
(appointed on 16 April 2024) BB+ HEZT)
Dr. Jiang Yan resigned on 16 April 2024) EERT (W EmE 17 - 17 - - 17
BE+7B#E)
Dr. Li Yong Sheng (resigned on 16 April 2024)  EXFEL (K -F_HE 17 - - - - 17
BA+ A
Mr. Liu Da Yong (resigned on 16 Apri 2024) URBRE (R ZEZME 17 - - - - 17
BE+H#E
Non-executive Directors FaTES
Ms. Lam Shun Kiu Rosita WRELT (RZE-AF - - - - - -
(opointed on 29 November 2024) F—A-1AHEZE)
Ms. Tang Li fresigned on 16 April 2024) BELT (#-E-mE 0/1 = = = = 0/1
BE+H#E
Mr. Law Cheuk Hung BB KZF-AE 6/6 2/2 = = = 4/
(resigned on 29 November 2024) F=AZ+AHET
Independent non-executive Directors BiuknnEs
Mr. Chin Chi Ho Stanley BEELE 6/6 212 1 1 1 4/4
Mr. Wong Chung Yip Kenneth IRERE (K EmE 5/5 2/2 33 33 17 3/3
(appointed on 16 April 2024) BE+7HEZE)
Mr. Lai Ah Ming Leon RERSELE (R E-mE 5/5 - 33 33 1 3
(appointed on 16 April 2024) BB+ HEZT)
Mr. Wu Guo Ming fresigned on 16 April 2024)  RER%ESE (K -E_/9E 17 - 17 17 - 17
BE+7B#E)
Mr. Wan Chi Keung Aaron, 855, .7 FEREL wenes t2et 1 - 1 1 - 1
(resigned on 16 April 2024) R_E-mE
BE+7B#E)
Mr. Kwok Man To Paul BNERE (R EmE 4/6 1/2 2/4 2/4 1 4/4
(resigned on 29 November 2024) F—B=1AH#D
Average attendance rate FHLEE 90.5% 87.5% 94.4% 91.7% 100.0% 90.5%
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RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
AND EXTERNAL AUDITORS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the Financial
Statements, which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs,
results and cash flows of the Group in accordance with relevant law
and disclosure requirements under the GEM Listing Rules.

The statement of the auditors of the Company about its
reporting responsibilities on the Financial Statements is set out in
“Independent Auditors’ Report” section on pages 152 and 162 of
this report.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration in respect of audit services provided by the
Company’s auditor, during the year ended 31 March 2025
amounted to HK$0.65 million.

RISK MANAGEMENT ANS INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibilities for the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems to safeguard the
interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole. To
this end, the Board oversees and approves the Group’s risk
management and internal control strategies and policies, which
are aimed at evaluating and determining the nature and extent of
the risks that are compatible with the Group’s strategic objectives
and risk appetite, with main purpose for provision of reasonable
assurance against material misstatement or loss rather than
absolute elimination of the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives.

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for establishing
and maintaining the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems and reviewing their effectiveness. The risk management
and internal control measures are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.
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In June 2016, the Group has established a risk management
framework, which consists of the Board, the Audit Committee,
Risk Management Committee and the senior management of the
Group. The Board determines the nature and the extent of risks
that shall be taken in achieving the Group’s strategic objectives
and has the overall responsibilities for monitoring the design,
implementation and the overall effectiveness of risk management
and internal control systems. The Board, through the Audit
Committee, conducts reviews of the effectiveness of such systems
at least annually, covering all material controls including financial,
operational and compliance controls.

Risk Management Philosophy

Risk taking is a necessary and accepted part of the Company’s
business. Effectively managing risk is a competitive necessity
and an integral part of creating shareholder value through good
business practices designed to ensure that the Company achieves
its strategic, business and governance objectives, and protects
its corporate reputation, values and integrity. Risk management
applies to all aspects of the Company’s business and forms a
critical part of developing strategic plans, preparing operational
plans and budgets, completing detailed project approval requests
and designing and managing project plans.

Risk Management Process

In addition to the Board’s oversight responsibilities, the Company
has developed a risk management process to identify, evaluate
and manage significant risks and to resolve material internal control
defects (if any). Senior management is responsible for the annual
risk reporting process. Risks are compiled, ratings are assigned
and mitigation plans are documented. The risk assessment
is reviewed by certain members of senior management and
presented to the Risk Management Committee and the Board
for their review. Risks are evaluated by the Board and senior
management based on (i) the severity of the impact of the risk on
the Company’s financial results; and (i) the probability that the risk
will occur.
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Based on the risk evaluation, the Company will manage the risks as
follows:

e Risk elimination — senior management may identify and
implement certain changes or controls that in effect eliminate
the risk entirely.

¢ Risk mitigation — senior management may implement a risk
mitigation plan designed to reduce the likelihood, velocity or
the severity of the risk to an acceptable level.

¢ Risk retention — senior management may decide that the
risk rating is low enough that the risk is acceptable for the
Company and that no action is required. The risk would
continue to be monitored as part of the risk management
program to ensure the level of risk does not increase to an
unacceptable level.

Reporting, monitoring and evaluating are essential and integral
parts of managing risk. Senior management has established an
annual risk reporting process to gather risk issues affecting the
Company. A risk template has been developed to assist in the
identification, documentation, assessment and management of risk
exposures.

Review the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control system

The Risk Management Committee met at least annually during
the year and reported to the Board for assessment. Key risks are
identified and their responsive mitigating controls are documented
in the risk registers and report to the Bard by the Risk Management
Committee.

The Group does not have an internal audit function as the Board
has reviewed the effectiveness of the internal control system of the
Company and is currently of the view that there is no immediate
need to set up an internal audit function within the Group in light
of the size, nature and complexity of the Group’s business. The
situation will be reviewed from time to time.
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The Board has engaged Redford Business Advisory Services
Limited as its risk management and internal control review
adviser (“the Adviser”) to conduct the annual review of the risk
management and internal control systems for the year ended
31 March 2025. Such review is conducted annually and cycles
reviewed are under rotation basis. The scope of review was
previously determined and approved by the Board. The Adviser
has reported findings and areas for improvement to the Audit
Committee and management. The Board/Audit Committee are of
the view that there are no material internal control defeats noted.
All recommendations from the Adviser are properly followed
up by the Group to ensure that they are implemented within a
reasonable period of time. The Board therefore considered that the
risk management and internal control systems are effective and
adequate.

Inside information policy

The Company recognises the significance of consistent practices
of fair disclosure with the aim of disclosing inside information in a
timely and accurate manner. The Company has a policy with regard
to the principles and procedures for handling and disseminating the
Company’s inside information in compliance with the requirements
under Part XIVA of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap 571
of the laws of Hong Kong) and the GEM Listing Rules, and such
policy has been communicated to the relevant senior executives
of the Group. Company Secretary works closely with senior
executives in identifying potential inside information and assess
the materiality thereof, and where appropriate, to escalate such
information for the attention of the Board to resolve on further
action(s) complying with the applicable laws and regulations.
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In prevention of premature leakage of inside information, the
Company has taken all reasonable measures from time to time to
ensure proper preservation of confidentiality of inside information
until disclosure to the general public, including inter alia:

® restrictive access to inside information to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in
possession of inside information are fully conversant with their
obligations to preserve confidentially;

e appropriate confidentiality agreements are put in place when
entering into any significant negotiations;

e inclusion of a strict prohibition on the unauthorised use or
disclosure of inside information in employee code of conduct;
and

e policy is issued to all employees annually reminding their
duties and obligations in respect of any dealings in the listed
securities of the Company as well as its subsidiaries and
associated corporations.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chan Chun Kit (BR1£f%), aged 42, joined the Group as
Company Secretary and Chief Financial Officer on 23 May 2024.
Mr. Chan is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. He is also a Chartered Governance Professional and
Chartered Company Secretary, as well as a member of The Hong
Kong Chartered Governance Institute. He graduated from the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University with a Master’s Degree in Corporate
Governance and a Bachelor Degree in Accountancy.
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Mr. Chan has served as a corporate financial consultant for various
Hong Kong, the People’s Republic of China and overseas listed
and private companies since 2018. In the past, he had held
chief finance in-charge positions in two listed companies on the
Mainboard of Singapore Stock Exchange (“SGX-ST”) for 9 years.
Between 2011 to 2020, he has been the chief financial officer
at Sino Grandness Food Industry Group Limited (2020), and
Chief Financial Officer and company secretary at China Flexible
Packaging Holdings Limited (between 2011 to 2018). Prior to these
roles and positions, he had worked at an international audit firm,
BDO Limited in Hong Kong from 2007 to 2011 as an auditor.

Mr. Chan had also served as an independent director at a number
of public companies listed in Hong Kong or overseas. In the past
3 years, Mr. Chan had previously served as an independent non-
executive director for various listed companies including (i) Jlogo
Holdings Limited (listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
Limited (“SEHK”); code: 8527.HK) from March to May 2024; (i) GS
Holdings Limited (listed on SGX-ST; code: 43A.Sl) from 2019 to
2022; and (i) Universe Printshop Holdings Limited (listed on the
SEHK; code: 8448.HK) from 2017 to 2022. Apart from above, Mr.
Chan held no directorships in any listed public companies in the last
three years.

The company secretary took more than 15 hours’ professional
training for the year ended 31 March 2025. Reporting to the
chairman and chief executive officer, the company secretary
plays an important role in ensuring proper Board procedures are
tailored to the Company’s business needs and compliance with all
applicable laws, rule and regulations. The Directors could obtain
advices and services from the company secretary for any updates
and developments in corporate governance, applicable laws and
regulations when necessary.
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The company secretary, as delegated by the Chairman, is
responsible for preparing the meeting agenda, serving notice to
the Board at least 14 days before the regular meetings or at a
reasonable time for other ad-hoc meetings, and providing relevant
Board papers to Directors at least 3 days before the meetings, so
as to ensure that the Directors receive adequate, accurate, clear,
complete and reliable information in a timely manner for effective
and informed decision making.

The company secretary also ensures that the Board meetings are
convened and constituted in accordance with all applicable laws,
regulations and the procedural requirements set out in the articles
of association at all times. In addition, the company secretary
will take minutes of the meetings and circulate them to Directors
for comments at a reasonable time after the meetings. After
incorporating Directors’ comments, the executed version of the
minutes will be maintained by the company secretary and be open
for Directors’ inspection during normal office hours.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Board believes that general meetings can provide an
open forum for communication between the Board and the
Shareholders. Shareholders are encouraged to attend general
meetings of the Company and give valuable advices to the
Company through this direct communication platform. The
Company will convene AGM every year and convene any other
extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”) as required.
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The way in which Shareholders can convene an EGM

Any one or more Shareholders holding not less than 10% of
the issued share capital at the time of deposit of the requisition
and carrying the right of voting at general meeting can deposit
a written request to convene an EGM.

The written request must state the purposes of the meeting,
signed by the Shareholders concerned and deposited to the
Board or the company secretary at the Company’s principal
place of business at Unit M & N, 8/F, Hi-Speed Centre 1, 18
On Chuen Street, Fanling, New Territories, and may consist
of several documents in like form each signed by one or
more Shareholders. The request will be verified with the
Company’s share registrar and upon its confirmation that
the request is proper and in order, the company secretary
will notify the Board to convene an EGM and include the
resolution in the agenda. The Board shall convene and hold
such general meeting within two months after the deposit of
such requisition. If the request is verified to be not in order,
Shareholders concerned will be advised of the result and no
EGM will be convened.

If within twenty-one days of such deposit, the Board fails to
proceed to convene such general meeting, the Shareholders
or any of them representing more than one-half of the total
voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene an EGM,
but any EGM so convened shall not be held after the expiration
of three months from the said date.
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The procedures for sending enquiries to the Board

Shareholders who wish to raise any queries with the Board
may write to the Company’s investor relationship contact at
Unit M & N, 8/F, Hi-Speed Centre 1, 18 On Chuen Street,
Fanling, New Territories, by phone on +852 2358 2888 or by
email at ir@tsunyip.hk.

The procedures for making proposals at Shareholders’
meetings

To put forward proposals at Shareholders’ meetings, the
Shareholders shall submit a written notice of those proposals
with the detail contact information to the company secretary
at the Company’s principal place of business. The request
will be verified with the Company’s share registrar and upon
its confirmation that the request is proper and in order, the
company secretary will ask the Board to include the resolution
in the agenda for the general meeting.

Communications with Shareholders

The Board believes regular and timely communication with
shareholders forms part of the Group’s effort to help our
shareholders understand our business better. Copies of
the annual reports and interim reports of the Company are
distributed to its shareholders in accordance with statutory
and regulatory requirements and also to interested parties
recorded in the Company’s mailing lists. The publications
of the Company, including financial reports, circulars and
announcements, are also available on the Company’s
website.
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The Company acknowledges that general meetings are good
communication channel with the shareholders. At the general
meeting, each substantially separate issue is considered by a
separate resolution, including election of individual directors,
and the poll procedures are clearly explained. Paragraph C.1.6
of the Code requires that independent non-executive directors
and non-executive directors shall generally attend general
meetings to gain and develop a balanced understanding of
the views of shareholders. An executive Director, namely Mr.
Kan Chun Ting Max, did not attend the annual general meeting
of the Company held on 26 September 2024 due to pre-
arranged business engagements. Other Board members and
the chairmen of the relevant Board committees also attended
the annual general meeting to inter-face with, and answer
questions from the Shareholders. The then non-executive
Director, namely Ms. Tang Li, did not attend the extraordinary
general meeting of the Company held on 8 April 2024 due to
pre-arranged business engagements. Other Board members
and the chairmen of the relevant Board committees also
attended the extraordinary general meeting to inter-face with,
and answer questions from the Shareholders.

The attendance of the Directors at the general meetings of the
Company is set out on page 63 of this report.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company’s corporate website is www.tsunyip.hk. The
Company may from time to time conduct investor/analysts
briefings and presentations, roadshows, media interviews,
marketing activities for investors and specialist industry forums etc.

All corporate communication materials published on the Stock
Exchange’s website (www.hkexnews.hk) are posted on the
Company’s corporate website as soon as practicable after
their release. The Company’s constitutional documents are
also available on our website. On 31 May 2024, the proposed
amendments by way of adoption of a new amended and restated
memorandum of association and amended and restated articles of
association in substitution for and to the exclusion of, the existing
memorandum and articles of association of the Company was
approved at the extraordinary general meeting. Apart from this, no
significant changes were made to these documents during the year
ended 31 March 2025. Information on our website will be updated
on a regular basis.

The Board was satisfied with the review of the implementation and
effectiveness of the communication with the shareholders, which
could effectively provide a two-way communication platform by the
Company with the investors and shareholders by way of regular
meetings and timely update of the Company’s financial results and
developments.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT
EETHRS

The Directors are pleased to present this annual report together
with the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the provision of civil engineering services
for the public sector in Hong Kong.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Further discussion and analysis of business activities of the Group,
including a business review of the Group and an indication of
likely future developments in the Group’s business, can be found
in the Management Discussion and Analysis set out on pages 18
to 34 and Environmental, Social and Governance Report set out
on pages 94 to 151 of this annual report. This discussion forms
part of this directors’ report. Description of the principal risks and
uncertainties facing the Group can be found throughout this annual
report.

An analysis of the Group’s performance using financial key
performance indicators is provided in the Five Year Financial
Summary from pages 283 to 284 and Financial Highlights on
pages 3 to 4 respectively of this annual report.

CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME

Pursuant to a special resolution passed at the extraordinary
general meeting on 31 May 2024 and the issue of the certificate of
incorporation on change of name by the Registrar of Companies
in Cayman Islands on 7 June 2024, the English name and the
Chinese name of the Company have been changed from “CNC
Holdings Limited” to “Tsun Yip Holdings Limited” and “f B ¥ #£ &5
RIERBRAB to “EXIZERBRAT, respectively.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to supporting the environmental
sustainability. The Group is committed to implementing policies
and measures in our daily business operations to foster reduction
of the Group’s environmental impact. Detail information regarding
the environmental, social and governance practices adopted by the
Group are set out in the ESG Report on pages 94 to 151 of this
report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year, as far as the Company is aware, there was no
material breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws and
regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the
business and operations of the Group.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES

The employees of the Group are one of the most important assets
and stakeholders of the Group and their contribution and support
are values at all times. The Group regularly reviews compensation
and benefits policies accordingly to industry benchmark as well
as the individual performance of employees. Other fringe benefits,
mandatory provident fund, share options and share award scheme
are provided to retain loyal employees with the aim to form a
professional staff and management team that can bring the Group
to different levels of success.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy which aims to provide
reasonably stable and sustainable returns to the shareholders of
the Company. When considering the declaration and payment of
dividends, the Board shall take into account, inter alia, our results of
operation, the working capital requirements, cash flow and financial
position, liquidity position, debt to equity ratio, general economic
environments and other factors the Board considers appropriate.
The declaration, form, frequency and amount of any dividend
payout of the Company must be in accordance with relevant laws,
rules and regulations and subject to the Articles of Association of
the Company.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
The Group’s results for the year ended 31 March 2025 are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income on pages 163 to 164 of this report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2025.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The record date for ascertaining shareholders’ entitiement to attend
and vote at the AGM will be Thursday, 25 September 2025. The
register of members of the Company will be closed from Monday,
22 September 2025 to Thursday, 25 September 2025, both days
inclusive. During this period, no transfer of Shares will be registered.
In order to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfers of Shares
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company’s Share Registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at
17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Wanchai, Hong
Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 19 September 2025.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year are set out in note 18 to the Financial
Statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital during the
year are set out in note 30 to the Financial Statements.

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during the
year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
on page 167 of this report and note 41 to the Financial Statements.

DONATIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group did not make any
charitable donations.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2025, the Company’s distributable reserves,
including the share premium account, calculated under the
Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman lIslands, amounted to approximately
HK$23.5 million.
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CONVERTIBLE NOTES

Details of the convertible notes of the Group are set out in note 28
to the Financial Statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Group’s results and financial position for the last
five financial years is set out on pages 283 to 284 of this report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of the Group’s revenue, subcontracting costs
and purchases of raw materials attributable to the Group’s major
customers, subcontractors and suppliers respectively for the year
ended 31 March 2025 is as follows:

AR ERE

AEEZ P RREERFIBHRNMBRRME
280

MEHE

FEERBEREMBERENERRMBIK
M EH I ARG FE283EEH284H ©

FTERERRLEDS
BE_ S _AF=RA=+—HULEEFE > x&EH

ZWaE s DEMRA KRR EHR B GAEE T
EXER - DEBREEENEDLEDRMT

Revenue Y 2

The largest customer RAER 29.7%
Five largest customers in aggregate AREFR &L 88.7%
Subcontracting costs bR D%

The largest subcontractor RADEH 15.9%
Five largest subcontractors in aggregate ARDEEEM 53.0%
Purchases of raw materials (Notes) REBEME (152)

The largest supplier BRAMER 30.0%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate A REEEEN 71.2%

During the year, none of the Directors, their associates or any
Shareholders (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any interest
in any of the Group’s five largest customers, subcontractors and
suppliers.

Notes:

Total purchases of raw materials by the Group included purchases of raw
materials by main contractors for the Group’s use in carrying out waterworks
engineering services as a subcontractor for respective contracts. However,
the suppliers from which main contractors purchased the raw materials were
not included as the suppliers of the Group as the Group did not have direct
relationship with these suppliers.

78 TSUN YIP HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024/2025

REFE BEEF REZHBBEATRESR
PRAER R AB B ETRAS%U L Z AR
RRAEREAERER - DEBREEEHTD
BERE e

Mt -

FEERMERBRECEEIAEBUSSNRETE
E R ER D BBET KT LERBMANERM K - 22
M > EEGE IR R B R R A A A 52 8 2 fit
few FRRAEMEZSHER T BEERG-



DIRECTORS' REPORT
EETHRS

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2025 are set

out in note 38 to the Financial Statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date of

this report are:

Executive Directors
Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung (Chairman)
(Redesignated as Chairman on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Hui Ka Tsun (Chief Executive Officer)
(Appointed on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Kan Chun Ting Max (Appointed on 16 April 2024)
Dr. Jiang Yan (Resigned on 16 April 2024)
Dr. Li Yong Sheng (Resigned on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Liu Da Yong (Resigned on 16 April 2024)

Non-Executive Directors

Ms. Lam Shun Kiu Rosita (Appointed on 29 Novermber 2024)
Mr. Law Cheuk Hung (Resigned on 29 Novernber 2024)

Ms. Tang Li (Resigned on 16 April 2024)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chin Chi Ho Stanley

Mr. Wong Chung Yip Kenneth (Appointed on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Lai Ah Ming Leon (Appointed on 16 April 2024)

Mr. Wu Guo Ming (Resigned on 16 April 2024)

Mr. Wan Chi Keung Aaron, BBS, JP (Resigned on 16 April 2024)

Mr. Kwok Man To Paul (Resigned on 29 Novermber 2024)
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CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Subsequent to the date of the interim report for the six months
ended 30 September 2024 of the Company, the changes in the
Directors’ information as required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules are set out below:

Name of Director(s)

EEEs

Details of Changes

LI

ESENEE

RAERBHEEZZE_WNFAB=1THLXE
BZzAHAREHRAE  RBEGEMLETRAE
1750AMNIFRATFIRBEZEFEHEHIT !

Mr. Chin Chi Ho Stanley
from 1 April 2025.

ER e

Mr. Wong Chung Yip Kenneth
from 1 April 2025.
FRERSE
F2e

Mr. Lai Ah Ming Leon
1 April 2025.
RIS E
E2e

INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATIONS OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company
considers all of the independent non-executive Directors are
independent.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

The Company’s Articles of Association provide that all Directors and
officers of the Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which
they shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty.
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Mr. Chin’s annual director fee has been revised to HK$180,000 with effect
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Mr. Wong's annual director fee has been revised to HK$180,000 with effect
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Mr. Lai’s annual director fee has been revised to HK$180,000 with effect from
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Upon the expiry of the previous insurance cover in year 2020, the
Company did not arrange appropriate insurance cover in respect
of legal action against its Directors since then. On 16 September
2024, the Company has rearranged an appropriate insurance
coverage in respect of legal action against its Directors. During the
year, no claim was made against the Directors and officers of the
Company.

COMPETING INTEREST

During the year, no Director was interested in the business which
competed or was likely to compete either directly or indirectly, with
the business of the Group as required to be disclosed under the
GEM Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company for an initial fixed term of three years, expiring at
the end of the initial term or at any time thereafter, unless terminated
by not less than three (3) months’ notice in writing served by either
party or by the payment of the equivalent of three (3) months
salary in lieu of such notice by either party, subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at the first annual general meeting of
the Company after his appointment pursuant to the Articles and
thereafter subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
annual general meeting at least once every three years according
to the provisions of the Articles, the GEM Listing Rules and other
applicable laws.

The non-executive Director was appointed for a specific term of
three years, expiring at the end of the term or at any time thereafter
unless terminated by not less than one-(1) month’ notice in writing
served by either party and subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election at the first annual general meeting of the Company after
his appointment pursuant to the Articles and thereafter subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at annual general meeting
at least once every three years according to the provisions of the
Articles, the GEM Listing Rules and other applicable laws.
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Each of the independent non-executive Directors was appointed
for a specific term of three years, expiring at the end of the term
or at any time thereafter, unless terminated by not less than one-
(1) month’ notice in writing served by either party and subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at the first annual general
meeting of the Company after his appointment pursuant to the
Articles and thereafter subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election at annual general meeting at least once every three years
according to the provisions of the Articles, the GEM Listing Rules
and other applicable laws.

None of the Directors has a service contract with any member
of the Group which does not expire or is not determinable
by the relevant employer within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

The biographical details of Directors as at the date of this report are
set out in the “Biographical Details of Directors” section on pages
35 to 38 of this report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the business of the Group was entered into or existed during
the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACT

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Connected
Transactions”, no contract of significance to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of the year or at any time during the year.
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REMUNERATION POLICY

Remuneration is determined with reference to the nature of
job, performance, qualifications and experience of individual
employees, as well as the result of the Group and the market trend.
The Group carries out staff performance appraisal once a year and
the assessment result is used for salary reviews and promotion
decisions. The Group recognises the importance of staff training
and thus regularly provides internal and external training for its staff
to enhance their skills and knowledge.

The remuneration of the Directors is determined with reference
to the duties and level of responsibilities of each Director, the
remuneration policy of the Group and the prevailing market
conditions.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and of the five highest
paid individuals of the Group are set out in notes 13 and 14 to the
Financial Statements.

PENSION SCHEMES

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for employees
employed under the jurisdiction of the Employment Ordinance
(Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The MPF Scheme
is a defined contribution retirement plan administered by an
independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and
its employees are each required to make contributions to the MPF
Scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap
of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the
MPF Scheme vest immediately.
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Pursuant to the relevant labour laws, rules and regulations in the
PRC, the Group participates in defined contribution retirement
benefit scheme (the “Retirement Benefit Scheme”) organised by
the relevant local government authorities in the PRC whereby the
Group is required to make contributions to the Retirement Benefit
Scheme at a certain rate of the standard wages determined by the
relevant authorities in the PRC during the year. Contributions to the
Retirement Benefit Scheme vest immediately.

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group
had no forfeited contributions under the MPF Scheme and the
Retirement Benefits Scheme utilised to reduce the existing levels
of contributions. As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, there was no
forfeited contribution under the MPF Scheme and Retirement
Benefit Scheme which may be used by the Group to reduce the
contribution payable in the future years.

Particulars of the pension schemes are set out in note 14 to the
Financial Statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme was adopted and approved by the
shareholders of the Company on 11 August 2010. The share
option scheme expired on 10 August 2020. No share options have
been granted pursuant to the share option scheme during the year
ended 31 March 2025.

The Board has resolved to propose the adoption of a new share
option scheme for the approval by the shareholders of the
Company. The purpose of the new share option scheme is to
provide incentive or reward to eligible persons for their contribution
to the Group and/or to enable the Group to recruit and retain high
calibre employees and attract human resources that are valuable
to the Group or any entity in which the Group holds any equity
interest.
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The new share option scheme will constitute a share option
scheme under Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Board
will propose the new share option scheme for shareholders’
approval at a general meeting of the Company to be convened in
due course for the purposes of, among other things, seeking the
approval from the shareholders of the Company for the adoption
of the share option scheme and authorising the Board to grant the
share options pursuant to the share option scheme and to allot and
issue the shares of the Company pursuant to the exercise of the
share options. As at the date of this report, the new share option
scheme remains subject to the obtaining of (i) the approval from the
shareholders of the Company at a general meeting of the Company
to be convened in due course; and (i) the approval from the Stock
Exchange for the listing and trading of any Shares to be issued
under the share options that may be granted under the new share
option scheme.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES OR DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2025, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which have to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions in which they are taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or which were
required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein; or which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the required
standard of dealings by Directors as referred to in Rule 5.46 of the
GEM Listing Rules, were as follows:
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Long position in the Shares:

RGNS :

Number of Shares

v S ¢=]
Percentage of
aggregate
Interest in interests to
Beneficial controlled total issued
Name owner Spouse corporation Total interests share capital
WERGRE
M2EREE BRITREDN
et BmEEA [T ZHE e B
Mr. Kan 16,666,666 - 16,013,327 32,679,993 57.1%
GEAes (Note a)
(Ktata)
Ms. Lam Shun Kiu Rosita - 32,679,993 - 32,679,993 57.1%
MERE L L (Note b)
(B7&tb)
Notes: Kat .
a.  Mr Kanis the sole beneficial owner of Shunleetat, which was interestedin =~ a.  f%c4% AShunleetatWE—SFZHEE A M
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16,013,327 Shares. Under the SFO, Mr. Kan is deemed to be interested
in all the Shares held by Shunleetat.

Mr. Lam Shun Kiu Rosita is the spouse of Mr. Kan. Accordingly, Mr. Lam
Shun Kiu Rosita is deemed to be interested in the 32,679,993 shares held
by Mr. Kan.
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Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company had any other
interests or short positions in any Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO); or which were required, pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein;
or which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standard of dealings by
Directors as referred to in Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

So far as was known to the Directors, as at 31 March 2025,
the following persons/entities (other than the Directors or chief
executive of the Company) had, or are deemed to have, interests
or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures
of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO
or who were directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more of the
nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in
all circumstances at general meetings of any member of the Group
or who/which were recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under Section 336 of the SFO with details as follows:
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Long position in the Shares:

RGNS :

Number of Number of underlying Shares under
Shares held convertible notes (\ote g

FrsiRin 8B ABRREET ZEBRGHE (fza)
Percentage of
aggregate
interests to
Interest total issued
Beneficial Beneficial in controlled share capital
owner owner corporation Total interests (Note ¢)
BRELEHET
RS BRALYERL
Name 215 BHEAA HEAA EEZ R il 4 (Hizte)
Shunleetat Shunlestat 16,013,327 - - 16,013,327 28.0%
China Xinhua NNC TEHMENEERE - 17,688,018 - 17,688,018 30.9%

(Note b)
(Miztb)

R ENE R FERENEEREERAT - - 17,688,018 17,688,018 30.9%

HIR/AF (‘CNC China’) (THEFENEERE (Note b)

(RE) ) (Miztb)

Notes: Kz

(@) Details of the convertible notes were set out in the circulars of the
Company dated 19 November 2011, 6 January 2015, 17 January
2018, 16 January 2019, 18 May 2021 and 15 March 2024 and the
announcement of the Company dated 18 June 2024.

(b)  China Xinhua NNC is wholly and beneficially owned by CNC China.
Accordingly, CNC China is deemed to be interested in 17,688,018
underlying Shares held by China Xinhua NNC under the SFO.

(c) The percentage of aggregate interests to total issued share capital is
calculated based on the number of shares in issue as at the 31 March
2025 (i.e. 57,220,166 Shares).

Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, the Directors
were not aware of any other person/entity (other than the
Directors or chief executive as disclosed in the paragraph headed
“Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and short positions in the
Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations” above) who which had, or is deemed to
have, interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares
or debentures of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO or who which were directly or indirectly interested in 5%
or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying
rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any
member of the Group or who/which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Details of the equity-linked agreements entered into during the year
or subsisting at the end of the year and up to date of this report are
set out below:

(i)

The Fifth Supplemental Deed of the Existing Convertible Notes
has been effective on 15 April 2024, in which the maturity
date of the Existing Convertible Notes has been extended to 9
December 2025 and the interest rate has been retrospectively
reduced from 3% to 0.8% per annum from 9 December
2021. China Xinhua NNC, the holder of the convertible bonds
shall not convert or redeem the Existing Convertible Notes
before the maturity date and shall mandatorily convert all of
the Existing Convertible Notes and accrued interest into the
conversion shares at the conversion price of HK$19.6 per
conversion share at the maturity date.

Convertible Notes A of approximately HK$64,127,855 has
been issued to China Xinhua NNC on 15 April 2024. The
overdue interest of the Existing Convertible Notes has been
set-off against the subscription price of the Convertible Notes
A. The maturity date of the Convertible Notes A is 9 December
2025 and the interest rate is 0.8% per annum. China Xinhua
NNC, the holder of the Convertible Notes A shall not convert or
redeem the Convertible Notes A before the maturity date and
shall mandatorily convert all of the Convertible Notes A and
accrued interest into the conversion shares at the conversion
price of HK$19.6 per conversion share at the maturity date.
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(i)  Convertible Notes B of approximately HK$16,240,000 has
been issued to China Xinhua NNC on 15 April 2024. Part
of the outstanding broadcasting fee owed to China Xinhua
NNC has been set-off against the subscription price of the
Convertible Notes B. The maturity date of the Convertible
Notes B is 9 December 2025 and the interest rate is 0.8%
per annum. China Xinhua NNC, the holder of the Convertible
Notes B shall not convert or redeem the Convertible Notes B
before the maturity date and shall mandatorily convert all of the
Convertible Notes B and accrued interest into the conversion
shares at the conversion price of HK$19.6 per conversion
share at the maturity date.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this report, none of the Directors and their
respective associates including spouses and children under 18
years of age was granted by the Company or its subsidiaries any
right to acquire Shares or debentures of the Company or any other
body corporate, or had exercised any such right during the year
ended 31 March 2025.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Shares during the year ended 31
March 2025.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company’s total issued share capital was held by the public
throughout the year ended 31 March 2025 and as at the date of
this report.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association and the laws of Cayman Islands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis
to existing Shareholders.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group entered into following connected
transactions:

(i)

On 15 April 2024, an aggregate of 1,666,666,667
subscription share, representing approximately 29.1% of
the issued share capital of the Company as enlarged by the
allotment and issue of the subscription shares immediately
after the share subscription completion, were allotted and
issued at the subscription price of HK$0.012 per subscription
share to Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung, the executive Director and
the controlling shareholder of the Company under the share
specific mandate.

The Fifth Supplemental Deed of the Existing Convertible Notes
has been effective on 15 April 2024, in which the maturity
date of the Existing Convertible Notes has been extended to 9
December 2025 and the interest rate has been retrospectively
reduced from 3% to 0.8% per annum from 9 December
2021.

Convertible Notes A of approximately HK$64,127,855 has
been issued to China Xinhua NNC on 15 April 2024. The
overdue interest of the Existing Convertible Notes has been
set-off against the subscription price of the Convertible Notes
A. The maturity date of the Convertible Notes A is 9 December
2025 and the interest rate is 0.8% per annum.
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Convertible Notes B of approximately HK$16,240,000 has
been issued to China Xinhua NNC on 15 April 2024. Part
of the outstanding broadcasting fee owed to China Xinhua
NNC has been set-off against the subscription price of the
Convertible Notes B. The maturity date of the Convertible
Notes B is 9 December 2025 and the interest rate is 0.8%
per annum.

GEM LISTING RULES IMPLICATIONS

@

(ii)

92

Share Subscription

Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung is an executive Director and the
controlling shareholder of the Company, and is therefore
a connected person of the Company under Chapter 20 of
the GEM Listing Rules. Accordingly, the share subscription
constitutes a connected transaction on the part of the
Company and is subject to the reporting, announcement,
circular and Independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Convertible Notes

Pursuant to Rule 34.05 of the GEM Listing Rules, any
alteration in the terms of convertible debt securities after issue
must be approved by the Stock Exchange, except where the
alteration takes effect automatically under the existing terms
of such convertible debt securities. China Xinhua NNC is a
substantial shareholder of the Company at the date of entering
into the Fifth Supplemental Deed, subscription Agreement
of the Convertible Notes A and subscription agreement of
the Convertible Notes B and therefore a connected person
of the Company under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.
Accordingly, the (1) entering into of Fifth Supplemental Deed
with China Xinhua NNC; and (2) the issue of the Convertible
Notes A and Convertible Notes B to China Xinhua NNC,
constitute connected transactions on the part of the Company
and is subject to the reporting, announcement, circular and
Independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, controlling
Shareholders and their respective associates has any other conflict
of interests with the Group during the year ended 31 March 2025.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Group’s corporate governance practices are set out
in the “Corporate Governance Report” section on pages 39 to 74
of this report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save for disclosed in this annual report, no significant event has
taken place subsequent to 31 March 2025 and up to the date of
this report.

AUDITOR

The Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025
have been audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited which
will retire and, being eligible, offer itself for re-appointment at the
forthcoming AGM. A resolution to re-appoint HLB Hodgson Impey
Cheng Limited and to authorise the Directors to fix its remuneration
will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board
Kan Kwok Cheung
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 June 2025
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

Tsun Yip Holdings Limited (the “Company”), together with its
subsidiaries (the “Group”), is pleased to present this Environmental,
Social and Governance Report (the “Report”) to provide an
overview of the Group’s management of significant issues affecting
the operation, including environmental, social and governance
issues. This Report is prepared by the Group with the professional
assistance of Redford Business Advisory Services Limited.

PREPARATION BASIS AND SCOPE

This Report is prepared in accordance with Appendix C2 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM (the “GEM
Listing Rules”) of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) — “Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide” and has complied with the “comply or explain”
provisions in the GEM Listing Rules.

This Report summarises the performance of the Group in respect
of corporate social responsibility, covering its operating activities
which are considered as material by the Group — namely provision
of civil engineering services for the public sector in Hong Kong (the
“Civil Engineering Services Business”). With the aim to optimise
and improve the disclosure requirements in the Report, the Group
has taken the initiative to formulate policies, record relevant data
as well as implement and monitor measures. This Report shall be
published both in Chinese and English on the website of the Stock
Exchange. Should there be any discrepancy between the Chinese
and the English versions, the English version shall prevail.
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REPORTING PERIOD

This Report demonstrates our sustainability initiatives during the
reporting period from 1 April 2024 to 31 March 2025.

CONTACT INFORMATION

The Group welcomes your feedback on this Report for our
sustainability initiatives. Please contact us at ir@tsunyip.hk.

INTRODUCTION

The Group is principally engaged in the Civil Engineering Services
Business in current year. The Civil Engineering Services Business
includes provision of waterworks engineering services, road works
and drainage services and site formation work for public sector in
Hong Kong.

Sustainable development is an integral part of the Group’s
business strategy in order to enhance capabilities for long-term
competitiveness. The Group is committed to operating in a manner
that is economically, environmentally and socially sustainable while
balancing the interests of its stakeholders and fostering a positive
impact on the society. To demonstrate its commitment, the Group
has established and implemented various policies to manage
and monitor the risks related to the environment, employment,
operating practices and community. Details of the management
approaches to sustainable development of different areas are
illustrated in this Report.

5 HA R

AREHINEANR S _WFENS—BESE
TETHEZAZ+—HIEREHEE A
B ETE o

BraRER
AERETE BETHARSREHAERKMANE

BRI 2R FBiBBir@tsunyip.hkE3L
FIRGRAR ©

i

i

AEEREEETEETIATRBHES
TAIRBHEBOEATBRABHBIIRM
KBTI 8% TR EBREUR S
FETR-

REERATEREBRBCEEZMMD A
DRERERF N AEEBHLUEE IRIR
RAGRFEZER 2 HNETKE  BRKF
HEFNEZN R AT ERELEETE S
BRERL FEBEHE L B 2 BRI
EERERERG -ER EEERKTER
MR ABEHEFRBE 2 AIFEERE
EESHEFE

EEIGEIRAT 2024/2025 £k 95



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIE-HEREBRHRS

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY
ASSESSMENT

The Group understands the success of the Group’s business
depends on the support from its key stakeholders, who (a) have
invested or will invest in the Group; (b) have the ability to influence
the outcomes within the Group; and (c) are interested in or affected
by or have the potential to be affected by the impact of the Group’s
activities, products, services and relationships. It allows the Group
to understand risks and opportunities. The Group will continue to
ensure effective communication and maintain good relationship
with each of its key stakeholders.

Stakeholders are prioritised from time to time in view of the Group’s
roles and duties, strategic plan and business initiatives. The Group
engages with its stakeholders to develop mutually beneficial
relationships and to seek their views on its business proposals and
initiatives as well as to promote sustainability in the marketplace,
workplace, community and environment.

The Group acknowledges the importance of intelligence gained
from the stakeholders’ insights, inquiries and continuous interest
in the Group’s business activities. The Group has identified key
stakeholders that are important to our business and established
various channels for communication. The following table provides
an overview of the Group’s key stakeholders, and various platforms
and methods of communication are used to reach, listen and
respond.
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Key Stakeholders
FERGRE

Government

BT

Shareholders and
Investors

RERGES

Employees

(=1=]

Expectations
HAE

e Compliance with the applicable laws
and regulations

o ETBRIEREKRA

e Proper tax payment

o MRIEMNIR

e Promotion of regional economic
development and employment

o HFEEHBRNIE

e | ow risk
o (EEP

e Return on the investment

o B[O
e |nformation disclosure
o BIFE

e Protection of interests and fair
treatment of shareholders
e RERREDNTEHEHF

e Safeguard the rights and interests of
employees

o RIEEESREN KED

e Working environment

o T{FIRIR

e Career development opportunities

o HEXEEKE

e Health and safety

o BEHEZE

Engagement Channels
BHERE

e On-site inspections and checks

o BMHERKBE

e Conferences

s B

e Work reports preparation and submission
for approval

o TIRREMHRMRIEIHE

e Annual and interim reports

s FEKPTHIRSG

e  Company website

o NE)HTuL

e Annual general meeting and other
shareholder meetings

s RERBFAGRAMBRERE

e Annual, interim and quarterly reports

s FE -HFHKFERS

e Announcements

o N
e Newsletter
o fh

e Feedback forms

o REEFRAE

e Training, seminars and briefing sessions
o FiI-HNERENE

e Employee activities

s BEEH
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Key Stakeholders
FERFHDE

Suppliers and Partners

HERRGIEBH

Peer/Industry
Associations

[FI%HEF AR

Market Regulator
MR EHE

A S

RIE-HERE

Expectations

HAZE

Long-term partnership

REAB AR

e Honest cooperation

o BHSE

e Fair and open tendering process
o RNENARTBEME

e |nformation resources sharing

s BMERKEE

e Experience sharing

. EBHE

e Cooperation
. BfF
e Fair competition

e Compliance with applicable laws and
regulations

o HETFBRAEEKRRG

e Information disclosure

o BfifEE
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Engagement Channels
BHRE

e Business meetings and supplier
conferences

s XBEERMEETER

e Strategic cooperation

o HERSIF

® Review and assessment

o @5t KTt

e Tendering process

o KIRMAZ

e |ndustry conference and seminars
o TEGRZRKMAFNE
e Site visit

o BMFEFH

e Consulting

HaE

e |nformation disclosure

. BHRE

e Annual, interim, quarterly reports and
other published information

s FE - -FTERESRHEMTIZEEZ
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Through general communication with stakeholders, the Group
understands the expectations and concerns from stakeholders.
The feedbacks obtained allow the Group to make more informed
decisions, and to better assess and manage the resulting impact.

The Group has adopted the principle of materiality in the ESG
reporting by understanding the key ESG issues that are important
to the business of the Group. All the key ESG issues and key
performance indicators (KPIs) are reported in the Report according
to recommendations of the ESG Reporting Guide (Appendix C2 of
the GEM Listing Rules) and the GRI Guidelines.

The Group has evaluated the materiality and importance in ESG
aspects through the following steps:

Step 1: Identification - Industry Benchmarking

e Relevant ESG areas were identified through the review of

relevant ESG reports of the local and international industry
peers.

e The materiality of each ESG areas was determined
based on the importance of each ESG area to the Group
through internal discussion of the management and the
recommendation of ESG Reporting Guide (Appendix C2 of the
GEM Listing Rules).

Step 2: Prioritisation — Stakeholder Engagement

e The Group discussed with key stakeholders on key ESG
areas identified above to ensure that all the key aspects were
covered.

Step 3: Validation — Determining Material Issues

e Based on the discussion with key stakeholders and
internal discussion among the management, the Group’s
management ensured that all the key and material ESG areas,
which were important to the business development, were
reported and in compliance with ESG Reporting Guide.
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As a result of this process carried out in 2025, those important ESG
areas to the Group were discussed in this Report.

ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS

The Group is committed to continuously improving its
environmental sustainability and integrating environmental
considerations into its operations. For the Civil Engineering
Services Business, the Group endeavours to manage construction
sites in an environmentally friendly and energy efficient manner with
the implementation of the “Environmental Management Policy” and
the “Environmental Management Plan”.

The “Environmental Management Policy” (the “EMP”) summarises
the Group’s commitment in ensuring environmentally responsible
operation, including establishing and attaining environmental
objectives and targets, communicating with employees and
sub-contractors the Group’s standards, as well as preventing or
reducing environmental pollution and nuisance with adequate
protective measures.

The “Environmental Management Plan” outlines how the Group
intends to minimise the environmental nuisance of air, noise and
wastewater pollution, and minimise the generation of surplus
construction and demolition (‘C&D”) materials and complying the
requirement of Environmental Permit under Environmental Impact
Assessment Ordinance.
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EMISSIONS

The Group has implemented the “Environmental Management
Plan” and various emission control initiatives to address air, noise,
water and waste pollution during construction. The Group strictly
complies with the relevant laws and regulations, including but
not limited to the Noise Control Ordinance (Cap. 400), the Air
Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 311), the Water Pollution Control
Ordinance (Cap. 358), the Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap. 354)
and the Environmental Impact Assessment Ordinance (Cap. 499),
to ensure the environmental impacts arising from its business are
managed in a proper manner.

During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of any non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations relating to air
and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land,
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

Air Pollutant Emissions

Air pollutants are a major concern for construction industry.
Construction activities such as concrete breaking and demolition
works, drilling works, excavation works and combustion of fuels
resulted in generation of air pollutants. The Group has implemented
various mitigation and preventative measures to reduce its air
pollutants emission.

In managing the dust generation, all stockpile of construction
materials including excavated soft materials, demolition debris, fill
materials, etc. which are dusty by their nature are properly covered
by tarpaulin or other approved means. For carrying out dusty
construction activities such as demolition works, drilling works or
excavation works, the Group provides dust screens or enclosure,
water spraying system, the fitting of vacuum cleaning services to
the pneumatic or drilling, cutting and polishing machines or other
appropriate abatement measures to reduce the air nuisance to the
public.
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The Group also provides wheel washing systems at all existing
points of construction sites, comprising high-pressure water jets
and heavy duty metal grating capable for supporting the heaviest
vehicles and a tough for collecting wastewater.

For the fuel control, the Group uses Ultra-Low-Sulphur Diesel for
non-road mobile machinery. All non-road mobile machinery must
be approved with a proper label in a prescribed format issued
by the Environmental Protection Department in accordance to
the Air Pollution Control (Non-road Mobile Machinery) (Emission)
Regulation. The increase in air pollutant emissions in 2025 was
mainly attributable to the commencement of some sizable new
construction projects during the year.

During the reporting period, the air pollutant emissions were as
follows:

Type of air pollutant Unit
ERISREMER B
Nitrogen oxides (NOx) tonnes
KAIEHINOK) i
Sulphur oxides (SOx) tonnes
ME1EH)(SOy iz
Particulate matter (PM) tonnes
567 FER Y (PM) iR
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Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emission

GHG is considered as one of the major contributors to the climate
change and global warming. During the operation of the Group,
electricity and fuel consumptions account for a major part of its
GHG emission. The Group places great emphasis on improving
energy efficiency and reducing energy consumption to reduce
GHG emission. The Group has adopted energy saving initiatives
mentioned in the section “Use of Resources” of this Report.

Regarding GHG emissions of the Group, scope 1 direct emissions
and scope 2 indirect emissions mainly result from the combustion
of fuels in stationary sources and purchased electricity respectively
for business operations. During the year, the Group complied with
all applicable environmental laws and regulations or prosecution
for non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations relating
to emissions. The increase in GHG emissions in 2025 was
mainly attributable to the commencement of some sizable new
construction projects during the year.

During the reporting period, the GHG emission was as follows:

Type of GHG emission Unit
i E R AR e EE R B i

tonnes of COze
W —FEIREE

Scope 1 (Note 1)
HE (FEE1)

tonnes of COze
WStk EE

Scope 2 (Note 2)
#gE2 (fizE2)

tonnes of CO:ze
W —SEREE

Total GHG emission

BERBEHFREE

GHG emission intensity

BEREFINEE

Note 1:  Scope 1 refers to direct emission from sources that are owned or
controlled by the Group.
Note 2:  Scope 2 refers to indirect emissions from the generation of

purchased electricity consumed by the Group.

tonnes of CO2e/HK$’'000
M —S|EiREE,/ THET

= RS HRK

BERERSAERIEELCREXKERNE
BRAZ — - REEEZSER  BHRMBELH
HEEBERBHBNEEZEND AEHIFE
ERIESERVER KR BEREFE  femmRb
BEREHN AEBERMETRS TERF
FJ—BAFr i B ER BEFE T

MAEBERBEREHFNMES  SE1EZIN
REEEZEFR DR EZDHIREEBEE
BEPEERMEHRAERPIBESE - ER
AEECETAEBERRB AR EARNILE
K& R EHFMA MR AR ERIRIE
TECHFRAEREHFREREM HEEARN
FRNETRAERENTEREBEESH TR

RSB RERBIRAOT !

2025 2024
—ECRF —ETUE
2,190.72 2,140.73
417.95 303.21
2,608.67 2,443.94
0.007 0.005
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Hazardous and Non-hazardous Wastes

The Group generates non-hazardous waste from construction sites
and office operations. The construction sites produce waste that
includes C&D materials and household waste. The Group strives to
reduce the generation of C&D materials in particular metallic waste,
timber, cardboard packaging and chemical waste.

The approaches include proper planning of works, good site
management, avoiding cross contamination to reusable materials,
use of metal formwork and maximising the reuse of excavated
inert C&D materials. All C&D materials arising from or in connection
with construction works shall be sorted to recover the inert C&D
materials and reusable and/or recyclable materials prior to disposal
of the waste portion off-site. The disposal of waste is managed
properly in accordance with the relevant legislation.

Furthermore, the Group strives to minimise the use of timber for
temporary construction works. Alternative environmentally friendly
materials, such as metal scaffolding and metal formwork shall
be used to replace timber. The Group reuses timber as much as
possible and tries to avoid treating the timber with chemicals which
make it difficult to reuse or recycle.

The Group provides recycling bins for the collection of aluminium
cans, papers and plastic bottles on construction sites. The
recyclable materials are collected by recycling companies on a
regular basis.
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In addition, the Group has implemented the “Environmental
Office Practices”, which provides guidelines on reducing waste in
office operation. The Group strives to reduce the paper waste by
encouraging employees to use both sides of paper and suitable
font size and shrinkage mode. Besides, communication by
electronic means is promoted to minimise the use of paper and
paper waste. Employees are also encouraged to use reusable
items, such as reusable cups and cutleries to reduce the amount
of waste. The decrease in the amount of non-hazardous waste
generated in 2025 was mainly attributable to the different work
categories and different stages of civil engineering projects which
will generate different amount of non-hazardous waste and the
effective implementation of waste management strategies during
the year.

During the reporting period, the non-hazardous waste generated
by the Group was as follows:

Type of waste Unit

BE¥ AR B
Non-hazardous waste generated tonnes
FRELZ mEREEY) g
Non-hazardous waste generated intensity tonnes/HK$’000
FREEZBEEREVEE Mg, FAET

During the reporting period, there was no significant hazardous
waste generated by the Group. The Group will closely monitor its
operation to the possible generation of hazardous waste in the
future.
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Noise

Noise is generated from the Group’s construction activities, such
as excavation of hard materials, operation of plants and machinery,
falsework dismantle and formwork removing. In managing the
impacts of construction noise on the surrounding environment,
the Group strictly adheres to the relevant laws and regulations,
including the Noise Control Ordinance (Cap. 400). The Group
strives to mitigate the noise nuisance by controlling the noise
source and adopting noise abatement practices.

The Group undertakes various construction planning to eliminate
noise sources. Except for those machinery operations and
construction works stated in the Construction Noise Permit issued
by the Environmental Protection Department, other operations are
not allowed to be carried out from 7 p.m. to 7 a.m. or at any time
on Sundays or public holidays. The Group also selects the quieter
plants to be used on site instead of noisy plant when feasible.

In order to minimise the noise pollution on construction sites, the
Group has adopted noise abatement practices. The Group uses
non-percussive equipment such as sawing and coring machines
for demoalition and concrete breaking work. Mufflers or silencers,
and dampening layer with steel collars are fitted to hand held
pneumatic breakers. Where percussive breakers are used, the
breaker tip is enclosed with sound insulating material to reduce the
noise.
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Wastewater

Wastewater such as toilet sewage generated from the site depot
is discharged into a foul sewer if connection to foul sewer can
be made. Otherwise, it is temporarily collected in the sewage
tank. The Group has engaged licensed sewage contractor for
sewage disposal. Direct discharge of wastewater produced
during construction into rainwater gutter is prohibited. Wastewater
generated from the sites is properly treated by appropriate means
before disposal such as sedimentation tank or waste treatment
plant whenever necessary.

During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of any non-
compliance with relevant laws and regulations that would have
a significant impact on the Group relating to air and greenhouse
gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

USE OF RESOURCES

The Group places great emphasis on ensuring efficient use of
energy and resources. The Group aims to promote resource saving
by adopting green office practices and motivating our employees
to participate in resource conservation activities. The Group’s
“Environmental Office Practices” provides guidelines on saving
energy and water in the office operation.
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Energy

The energy consumption of the Group comes from electricity and
fuel consumption. In view of the scarcity of energy, the Group
has advocated various energy conservation strategies. Electrical
appliances should be set to energy-saving mode where possible.
Computers are set in standby mode when they are not in use
for a long period of time. Besides, room temperature should be
maintained at an energy-efficient level. Lighting and power supply
should be switched off when they are not in use. The increase
in energy consumption in 2025 was mainly attributable to the
commencement of some sizable new construction projects during
the year.

During the reporting period, the energy consumption was as
follows:

Type of energy Unit

RETREE R B
Purchased electricity MWh

BAE JE R
Petrol MWh

AU JE R B

Diesel MWh

S0l JKFLEF

Total energy consumption MWh
AERFEFRARE JEEBF
Energy consumption intensity MWh/HK$’ 000
SEREREE JEEEE,FHE T
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Water

Water is another important resource used by the Group. Employees
are reminded to turn off the tap when not in use. In case of leaking
faucet or pipe, employees should report to the relevant authority
to avoid wastage of water. The increase in the water consumption
in 2025 was mainly attributable to the commencement of some
sizable new construction projects during the year.

During the reporting period, the water consumption was as follows:

Water Unit

KEIR B

Water consumption m?

FEKE AV AN

Water consumption intensity mé/HK$’ 000
FEKBRE MFHKSTFET

THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES

As stipulated in EMP, the Group considers in its construction
planning all the statutory and contractual environmental protection
and pollution control requirements that are applicable to the
proposed construction works, which are likely to pose potential
harm to the environment or environmental nuisance to the
members of general public. Before the intended commencement
of individual construction operations, the environmental officers
and site agents identify the potential adverse impacts on the
environment and develop pollution and mitigation measures,
in order to reduce the environmental impacts to the minimum.
The Group establishes and maintains a routine site inspection
programme as part of its active monitoring programme to identify
and rectify environmental problems and assess the adequacy of
existing pollution control and waste management measures with a
view to achieving progressive improvements.
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In addition, the Group adopts various promotion activities to
enhance the environmental awareness of its employees. The Group
establishes safety and environmental notice boards for displaying
environmental information, provides and displays adequate and
appropriate environmental protection and waste management
signs and posters, delivers environmental talks and distributes
environmental protection and waste management publications and
information sheets to generally promote environmental protection
and waste management to the workforce. The Group also launches
environmental campaigns such as model workers to encourage
frontline staff to participate in environmental protection activities.

With the integration of policies and measures to reduce air
pollutants and GHG emissions, waste generation, noise nuisance
and resource consumption, the Group strives to enhance
environmental sustainability and minimise the impacts on the
environment.

CLIMATE CHANGE
Governance

The Board holds ultimate responsibility for overseeing the Group’s
ESG related risks and opportunities, as well as the effectiveness
of the strategy and measures. The Board establishes the Group’s
ESG-related strategies and targets, regularly reviews the Group’s
ESG performance against these targets, and revises strategies as
necessary in case of significant deviations.

The Group has established dedicated teams composed of staff
from main department of the Group to manage ESG issues within
each business division of the Group and kept monitoring and
overseeing the progress against corporate goals and targets for
addressing climate change. Dedicated teams with designated staff
for management of ESG issues have been assigned to enforce
and supervise the implementation of the relevant ESG policies
cascading through the Group.
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Supported by our ESG Working Group, our Board oversees
climate-related issues and risks and ensures that they are
incorporated into our strategy.

Our Group addresses climate-related risks based on the nature of
the risk to our operations. The physical impacts of climate change,
including extreme weather events, or damage to facilities have
immediate operational impacts and are treated as operational risks.
Long-term challenges, such as emerging ESG issues and climate-
related risks and opportunities, may be discussed by the Group’s
ESG Working Group. Our commitment is to implement, maintain
and continually improve our Quality, Environmental, Health and
Safety (“QEHS”) management system and QEHS performance
to uphold the elements of this QEHS Policy and achieve
Environmental Friendliness and Protection, Prevention of Pollution
and Green and Gracious practices, we endeavour to protect the
environmental aspects, reduce the impact of global warming and
practice graciousness to our site surroundings. The QEHS policy is
reviewed annually to suit climate change.

Our ESG Working Group provides effective governance for
integrating and addressing ESG issues, including climate change,
within our business. The ESG Working Group plays an integral role
in overseeing the Company’s ESG strategy, policies and disclosure,
including reporting to the Board regularly as important matters
arise. The Board plays a role in decision-making and supervision on
ESG-related issues.

The board indicates the Company’s development direction,
supervises whether all subsidiaries have completed the
targets, and assesses and manages climate-related risks and
opportunities.
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To ensure that our management keeps up with the latest trend
of climate-related issues, climate competence training will be
provided so that it has the necessary expertise and skills to oversee
the management of climate-related issues. Our Board also seeks
professional advice from external experts when necessary to better
support the decision-making process.

The ESG Working Group is responsible for approving operational
emissions targets for the Group, and commissioning an ESG
benchmarking and gap analysis exercise to identify gaps in both
disclosure and policy relative to best practice standards. Moreover,
the ESG Working Group works closely with the Group’s different
operation departments, with an aim to develop consistent and
enhanced approaches on addressing climate risk issues and report
to the management. Moreover, the team works together with
consultants to review the green-mark rating of our development.
This is to ensure that the proposed design or method to construct
green sustainable buildings is considered thoroughly while
selecting and reviewing materials, technology and sourcing for
a sustainable product that is more climatic responsive, energy
effective, resource efficient, smarter and has healthier indoor
environments.
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Strategy

Climate change risk forms part of our overall risk profile through
its role in increasing the frequency and intensity of certain
diseases, and the health and mortality impacts resulting from
natural disasters. We assess the overall level of risk by taking into
consideration a range of diverse risk factors across the many
categories in our product or service range. This diversity of risk
together with our business strategy and broad geographic footprint
helps us distribute risk and provides protection against the impacts
of short-term climate change effects. The climate-related risks and
opportunities are a factor that determines whether a company can
adapt to the market. If the change strategy seizes the opportunity,
it will go further; if the risk is resisted, business will be more
successful.

In the short term, the Company needs to invest higher costs in
the initial stage to achieve environmentally friendly projects. For
example, the Company has to source and make use of green
materials and sustainably sourced finishes and provide higher
energy saving appliances and water saving sanitary wares. We
have to face many uncertain factors, such as investor preferences
and consumer preferences.

After the initial investment, certain results will be seen in the medium
term. At this time, we have to face the situation of whether to
continue to expand the influence and whether investment and
return are proportional.

The Company will incorporate more technology with integrated
solutions that meet the multiple functional needs of a home, which
may include lighting, thermal comfort, air quality, noise control and
more, to integrate solutions that meet the multiple functional needs
of a home. The system is constantly updated to be abreast with the
latest technology available in the market.
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Our diversified products and services plan to provide protection
cover to people in our communities against weather and heat-
related disease, while we continue to explore opportunities to
engage our business partners with the participation in renewable
energy programs and adoption of energy efficiency measures,
encouraging them to develop climate resilience and reduce their
operational carbon footprint by taking into consideration different
climate-related scenarios, including a “2°C or lower scenario”
through the following steps:

Step 1: Foresee Future Images Assuming Climate Change
Effects

As climate change measures proceed, there is a possibility that
the industry will be exposed to substantial changes such as
stricter policies including the introduction of and increases in
carbon pricing as well as advances in technology, and changes
in customer awareness. In light of these climate change effects,
based on the IEA scenarios and others, we have foreseen multiple
future images as the external environment that will surround our
Group.

With regard to the IEA scenarios, we put focus on the 2°C scenario
(2DS) to analyse and picture future images in cases where climate
change measures do not progress and where climate change
measures progress further Beyond 2°C scenario.

Step 2: Consider the Impacts
We considered the impacts on our Group for each of the future
images foreseen in Step 1. We believe that in such a society, it will

be possible to expand carbon dioxide reduction effects. This in turn
will lead to increased business opportunities.
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With regard to effects on production and purchasing, introduction
of and increase in carbon pricing is anticipated in accordance with
the global advance of climate change measures, leading to the
possibility of higher purchasing and production costs.

On the other hand, in the case where climate change measures
are not adequate throughout society, production interruptions and
supply chain disruptions are likely to increase as a result of higher
frequency and intensification of natural disasters such as flooding.

Step 3: Confirm Measures

Our Group will begin promoting the reduction of non-renewable
energy in our daily operation. This strategy will allow for flexible
and strategic responses to each demand for the regions where the
emission factors of purchased electricity consumptions are high. By
promoting real carbon emissions reductions throughout the world
through these types of initiatives, we are working to achieve zero
carbon emission in our business.

We minimise carbon emissions through comprehensive energy-
saving and introduction of renewable energy. With respect to
renewable energy in particular, we have set a new target, achieve a
reduction rate for purchased electricity in the coming few years.

With regard to the ongoing confirmation of the suitability and
progress of the Group’s strategies, we believe that we will have
opportunities for stable funding and sustainable increase in
corporate value through appropriate information disclosure,
dialogue with institutional investors and other stakeholders.
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Risk Management

Our Group identifies the climate change related risks or tests the
existing risk management strategies under climate change with
the aid of risk assessment, and therefore the areas where new
strategies are needed could be identified.

The risk assessment takes a standard risk-based approach using
national data, local information and expert knowledge, which can
identify how climate change may compound existing risks or create
new ones.

The risk assessment is conducted through the following steps:
Step 1: Establish the context

e  Objective/goal

e Scale

e Time frame

e (Climate change scenario for most climate variables and
sea level

Step 2: Identify existing risk (past and current)

e |dentify the record of occurrence of climatic hazards in the past
in the area

e Risk management strategies in place to tackle future
occurrence of the hazard

Step 3: Identify future risk and opportunities

e Explore climate change projections for the selected time
frame(s) and emission scenario(s)

e |dentify potential hazards

e Investigate whether any existing risk from Step 2 may get
worse under future projected changes

e Identify new risks that can emerge under future projected
changes

116  TSUN YIP HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024/2025

iR E R

REEH P ERIEECARAYERR  SUEBE
et E AR R ESETHIRERREERE
K] IS BT LA 58 Bl 2R 1) 7 T SR BE HY SE B o

LR S SRR E I AR AIIR 27505 AR
B EMER RERMH > sHEREZE
AEREREERERNEEMER

JR B 5T 4 A8 LA 2 BRAETT

#F1¥BIUIEE

o HI//BIE

o RE

o HFMEIMELR

s RIJHREEHKESFTEHHREELER

F2% B RE R (BERET)

o RIMIEIE KB L R R K ERIECER

o REHRRIFLENKEMAERREE
i

F3Y  BPIRKEERET

s BRENEERBEXRRIRER THRE
BETER

o HAEBEEXE

s BEIH2HEMRBEABRERESENRIRK
RAZERRIE



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIE-HERERERS

Step 4: Analyse and evaluate risk

e |dentify a set of decision areas or systems (i.e. geographical
areas, business operation, assets, ecosystems, etc.) that has
the potential to be at-risk in future

As outlined within the ESG Governance section above, the Group
has robust risk management and business planning processes that
are overseen by the Board in order to identify, assess and manage
climate-related risks. Then, the Board will issue instructions to the
ESG Working Group to issue specific rectification measures to
business units. The Group engages with government and other
appropriate organisations in order to keep abreast of expected and
potential regulatory and/or fiscal changes.

The Group continues to raise awareness of climate change in
regard to monitoring of carbon and energy footprint in our daily
operation. However, there remains gaps in understanding how
such climate risks and opportunities may impact our operations,
assets and profits. Our Group assesses how the business
addresses climate change risks and opportunities and takes the
initiative to monitor and reduce its environmental footprint.

During the reporting period, the significant climate-related physical
risks and transition risks, which have impacted and/or may impact
our Group's businesses and strategy including but not limited to the
products and services, supply chain and/or value chain, adaptation
and mitigation activities, investment in research and development
and operations areas, the impact on financial planning in operating
costs and revenues, capital expenditures and capital allocation,
acquisitions or divestment and access to capital areas, and the
steps taken to manage these risks, are as follows:
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Climate-related risks description

%48 BA R P et
Physical Risk
B E b

Acute physical risks

= BERRRE

e Increased severity and frequency
of extreme weather events such as
cyclones and floods. Workers are unable
to access the construction sites due
to high water level, and the rebar at
storage area become unusable due to
overexposed to water. Besides, some
excavation areas may not be visible, thus
may cause drowning. Reconstruction
is required and the increase in material
demand will cause suppliers to increase
prices or out of stock. Additionally,
excavation slope will be erose which may
endanger workers working in the pit/
trench.
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Financial Impact
MBETE

e QOperating cost increases such
as the inadequate water supply
for power plants
EEMAIEIN > dE BRR
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e Capital cost increases due to
the damage of facilities
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Steps taken to manage the risks
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e Plan to adopt scenario analysis

to disclose an organisation’s
planning under future scenarios,
most notably one with in a 2°C
scenario.
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Ensure all site are provided with
proper drainage system to ensure
water are able to flow during
heavy downpour.
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Climate-related risks description
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e Increased likelihood and severity of
wildfire. Natural or man-made natural
fires can cause a large number of trees to
be burned. Thereby affecting the supply
of raw materials.
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Financial Impact

Steps taken to manage the risks

7 B 12 B B3 P B EX B $E

e Ensure Earth Control Measures

(“ECM”) machine is working

and always on standby, with
regular maintenance of ECM
machine and ensure sufficiency
of chemicals for ECM machine to
prevent delays due to shortage of
chemical.
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Based on past historical climate
analysis, a plan to deal with
possible natural disasters is
established.
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Improve warehouse protection
measures to prevent materials
from being damaged by fire and
rain.
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Consciously save materials in
peacetime.
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Protect of cut slope using soail
erosion blanket.
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Introduce storm water tank and
raise the minimum platform level.

B AKIE EEBRETAE

EEIAEIRAT 2024/2025 3k 119



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIE-HEREBRHRS

Climate-related risks description
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Chronic physical risks

1R ERAR

e Changes in precipitation patterns and
extreme variability in weather patterns,
rainy seasons become unpredictable.
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e Sites may face high water level due to

excessive rain throughout the days and
work will be delayed due to damaged
materials and equipment. Besides, the
water availability will reduce under the
change of rainfall patterns, which will
greatly affect the construction progress
of the site.
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¢ Rising temperatures: Hot weather can
affect the construction progress, such as
the reduction of the efficacy of materials

like sealants and mortar. Besides, staff or

workers may feel sick easily in extreme
temperature.
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Financial Impact
MBETE

e Revenue reduces from
decreased production capacity
and the negative impacts of
workforce.
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Steps taken to manage the risks

#»EERERFTERREE

e Carefully plan areas that will be

affected by extreme weather, and
increase design flexibility to adapt
to possible situations such as sea
level rise. For example, elevating
the materials from the ground

to an optimum level to minimise
physical contact with water, and
to have personnel be on standby
in case of heavy rain to turn on the
ECM machine.
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Develop the habit of saving
resources.
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Climate-related risks description
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¢ Rising sea levels: The rise in sea
level may cause the coastal area to
be submerged. The original building
planning area cannot be constructed
normally, or the completed building is
submerged.
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Financial Impact

Steps taken to manage the risks
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® |ncrease water conservation

efforts through effective use of
water coming out from water
treatment plants, and joint all
reservoirs together to ensure
water discharge to open drain.
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Engage with local or national
governments and local
stakeholders on local resilience to
promotes healthy living to all staff
and workers.
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Climate-related risks description
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Transitional Risk

paEN

Policy risk
B 2R B

e As aresult of energy efficiency
requirements, the complied standard of
construction materials may be required.
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e The choices of suppliers become scarce
as they are unable to adapt to new
changes.
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e Mandates on and regulation of existing
products and services. Contractors have
to update their equipment and reduce
environmental pollutions.
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Financial Impact
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Operating cost increases due
to high compliance costs for
the updates of equipment and
inspections
ARNREEMEERREE
HREREAR EF FEEN
ZIE AN

Construction costs increase
as the price of materials and
traditional fuels rise
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Steps taken to manage the risks
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e Source out alternative
construction materials.
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Outsource to overseas suppliers.

SNELT IR IME IR o

Educate the staff on the usage of
new materials.
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Climate-related risks description
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e The government will increase the price of
fuel to restrict the use of traditional fuel
sources such as diesel and petrol.

BN RS MEMER  LIRHIS R A
HEFERIREIAVEEA o

e The Group needs to spend much time
and resource to carry out ISO quality
inspections every year in order to meet
the government’s quality inspection
requirements.
FEESFRELEAERERER
ETISORBERE  UNEBNEER

BEXe

Financial Impact

Steps taken to manage the risks

A EERRFTIRERAEE

e The Group should follow the

development of technology and
use clean energy machines and
appliances, such as energy-
efficient 5-ticks aircons aids in the
reduction in carbon emissions.
REBBRERMERE £RFE
BRAE RS2 sk 0 ANERBETLS
2258 > LUR D BRHE IR o

There should be environmental
awareness to reduce carbon
dioxide emissions. The
management carefully study
the requirements of ISO and
implement.

BB R ZaREBRER
#H o BIRE/ VO ZEISOZE Kl
MLGEE -
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Climate-related risks description

SRZHE BR 2 B i St
Legal risk
ERERE

e Exposure to litigation. Contractors
have to adapt the tightened law and
regulations issued by the government
due to climate change. When the
construction sites affect nearby
residents, such as noise pollution and
water pollution, residents will complain or
even file a lawsuit.

EEEFER - A BB BEBRENER
BEEMEEEBEEBERER B
BRETHEWAERSHRTER N
RE SRR ERERFEE

TRHESFEA ©

e Unable to tender for new project.

BOARIZMIRE -

e Will be blacklisted by the Government
bodies.

WE B AR BE -

e The Group will be fined when they fail
to comply with relevant government
regulations.
MAEBRNRTEBINBRRE iR
B A ETRR ©

e The Group may be required to cease
operations when they fail to obtain
certificates.
ERERRAESHBAR oJEE®
ERFLEE

Financial Impact
MBETE

e QOperating cost increases due
to high compliance costs
RN ERMA LA EEWR
ZS

e Additional cost increases when
the companies are fined
BREIWEUSIE g1
INEBSMAY A AR
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Steps taken to manage the risks

#»EERERFTERREE

e Monitor the updates of

Environmental laws and
regulations and implemented
GHG emissions accounting in
advance. Management has to
review environmental plan if any
change of legal requirements.
ERIRIB AR ARNENRS
o RAIB IR E REEHERZ
HoERERELBL B
B BEMBEIRIRE

Engage Environmental Control
Officer to advice the site on any
environmental issues.
RRIREES A SR T HAE
IR AR -

Conduct inspection and report to
ensure compliance.

ETHRBETREUERER -

Seriously abide by relevant laws
and regulations proposed by the
government.

SEE ST BT BB AR AR
ERR©
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Climate-related risks description

SR AR RA R B i 2k

Technology risk
B i =@

e More green building strategies with low-
carbon, energy-saving technologies are
produced. Lagging behind may weaken
our oompetitive edges.

SRR~ ISR R AIT 0 AR B IR SR 2R AR
%ﬁ o EBEFHIFHMRHEEE
o

e Advanced training is required for the staff
to use new teohnology
ETREBETERAMRMNSRE
gl o

e Requires more space consumption due
to advancement of technology.
BRERMRES  REERAEZHZE
fE e

e The technology fails due to inadequate
experience/still under research and
development (‘R&D”) phase.
RACERKBAE MBI R
FAEE (THA3E)) BEER TR R

Financial Impact

MBRE

e Capital investment in
technology development
increases

RMAENE S REEN

e R&D expense in new and
alternative technologies
increases
M R BRI EE
FB 1IN

Steps taken to manage the risks

7 B 12 B B3 P B EX B $E

Examine the feasibility and
benefits of applying the latest
environmental technologies to
increase the competitiveness and
productivity.

b ST FE A R I IR (R T IR 1=
PN REEINEITME R A

Source out companies that may
offer better pricing wise but
deliver the same as others.
SO ERHEEEER EBHEE
A BRMEAERRBHNAST -

Educate the staff on how to use
the technology.
HEE T U AHEARA-

Cater the space for advancement
of technology.

I S M P R RY T

Ensure the supplier is well
recognise to prevent failure in
technology.
HREEESEEZ D INMHE
72 DABR L T SR 28
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Climate-related risks description Financial Impact Steps taken to manage the risks

SR AH A L B e St MBETE # B2 R FEFr IR AR HE i

Market risk

5% & B

e More customers are considering e Revenue decreases due to the e Control the environmental
climate-related risks and opportunities, change in revenue mix and hazardous materials in products
which may lead to changes in sources. such as asbestos, and studying
customer preference. Consumers may AR WAMRSE RRIRE LS the application of eco-friendly and
be more inclined to buy green and 16> ERURA R L recycled materials.
environmentally friendly homes. The loss TR ERPHIRIEAEENM
of competitiveness of traditional houses ~ ® Operating cost increases as L AR W SR IR R K
has led to a decline in corporate profits. abrupt and unexpected shifts BEMEBER-
FZERFEEEEREERNERRE KR in energy costs.
B OEEENEPRREFNE - HE BN BERAMZEIAKLER o Alocated appropriate budget or
EOEEEREEABIRFREET. ZHNEME  BEREER A costing while tendering projects.
BHRETKREFRF I EREFE AR 1Ehne FEEREROEREENTER
B o RS 0

e Construction cost increases

e Uncertainty in market signals. Green due to changing input prices e Source out supplier not only in the
buildings become one of the factors to and output requirements and country but overseas to maintain
affect the property price. the increased cost of raw pricing competition.
MG ERTEES ABERENAT materials. FRAM LI EIMEFER U
EEMEBRNARZ —-o AR ABRRELERSE REFEBEFRIE ] -

FEE U RR AL B A 18

e More environmentally-friendly raw 0 BREERASIE 0 o e Advise and recommend the
materials may be much expensive. benefits of using environmentally-
BFEHNREREMNAEECERES friendly products to the customer.
ge MEFEZELRERERIRRE

AV YT AR o
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Climate-related risks description

SR AR RA R B i 2k

e Fewer suppliers can provide
environmentally-friendly raw materials.

BIRRMIRFEREM B HERE LD -

e The changes in consumer preferences
lead to the increase in the risks that
companies have to bear.
HEERENSCEH AT ARERN
Rz 1B 0 o

Financial Impact

Steps taken to manage the risks

A EERRFTIRERAEE

e Actively conduct surveys on user

preferences in the consumer
market to formulate appropriate
development strategies.
BIBRERHISHARERR R
HE o G EEENE R R o

Increased revenues through
access to new and emerging
markets (e.g., partnerships with
governments, development
banks).
FiBEAF IS RIEGE (1
B~ ERIRTTS1E) LU
WA o

Increased diversification of
financial assets (e.g. green bonds
and infrastructure).
RATHMEESKRCREE 4k
BEFRERER) o
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Climate-related risks description Financial Impact
SR AH A L B e St MBETE

Reputational risk

BERM
e Shifts in consumer preferences. More e Revenue decreases from
customers are considering climate a decrease in demand for
related risks and opportunities, which properties/engineering
may lead to changes in customer services, and the decrease in
preference for the houses with greener engineering work capacity
design. AR ZE TRRHN
HEERFINEZ - HRBZHNER BRI TR EERD TR
BEEZE B ERIEAERBE R RS >
HMAIEERE R RFIERRTEIR
REE- e Qperating costs increase from
negative impacts on workforce
management and planning
e Stigmatisation of sector, more HEHNHEERRINEE
stakeholder concern or negative FEEHEERAE N

stakeholder feedback on the contractors
or developers if the houses are
developed in a less environmentally
friendly way.
BIARFENETSHZIXGERITE
75516~ 1517 B 7K B i Bl A 3 s
AT EEMDIEE
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Steps taken to manage the risks

#»EERERFTERREE

Fulfilled the social responsibility
by organising more activities

or actions to show how the
corporation places importance on
climate change.

BITHgEM AHEZEHN
TE BRRAREREEENE
R o

Engaged Environmental Control
Officer to advice the site on any
environmental issues.
ERIRIBEG A SMIRRRE
mIRBIR M RZE

Management should conduct
inspections and reports to ensure
compliance.
EEERETRE kRS LR
RER

Management to review the
environmental plan if any change
of legal requirements.
MERBEREFARI TEE
B EERIEE -
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Climate-related risks description

SR AR RA R B i 2k

e [f the operation in the construction

site violates environmental protection
laws and is subjected to monitoring,
it will damage the Group’s reputation
and reduce chances of acquiring new
contracts or will be blacklisted by the
Government bodies. Besides, the
public’s trust in the company may be
reduced as well.
ﬁJﬁL;”%Iimﬁ’\]“tt}ifﬁi%ﬁ%%iﬂi
RERE KEEAERBEE D
ﬁ%ﬁmﬂmw » SR B 4B 51
ABZE I RBHEARABTNEE
ETRgREE-

Damage to the company’s reputation will
affect the judgment of investors. Existing
investors may withdraw their capital, and
potential new investors may abandon
their investment.
ARRBERBEREREE -
HEREERGHE  BEWKRE
ERRRENERE

Financial Impact

Steps taken to manage the risks

7 B 12 B B3 P B EX B $E

e The construction work will be

terminated if any noncompliance
is found.
HERERMASRIBER TR
ko

e Take practical actions to prove

that the company attaches great
importance to climate protection
and hold more related activities.
MERTHFERLIHRIER
EEEER WRNRFLAEME
)

Meet all government
requirements for climate
protection.

W BN H RARRERIFT A 2
Ko

e To ensure the safety is in place for

all sites.

HRAAE TR 2
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Climate-related risks description

SRR AR A | B i 2

Resource efficiency

BiRM

e Construct and move to more efficient
buildings
BRIUBEFEAWNDNET

e Reduce water usage and consumption

B B K B HFE

Energy source
AEIR

e Use of lower-emission sources of energy

ERHFMELBEEIR

e Use of supportive policy incentives

o A S F 14 EURBH B

e Use of new technologies

o AR T el

Financial Impact
MBETE

e QOperating cost reduces

through efficiency gains and
cost reductions

25 48 %8 e WA 2 ) e A 2%
REEm A

Operating cost reduces
through use of lowest cost
abatement

BIBR A EE E R RRE
EEMA

Returns on investment in low-
emission technology

HESFRERMIR BRI

Revenue increases through
new solutions to adaptations
needs, such as insurance risk
transfer products and services
FiBt BT RO ER
75 Z BN > B a0 fR B &
% 878 B on e AR 75

Revenue increases through
access to new and emerging
markets

2B E AT B IS IE AU A
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Steps taken to manage the risks

#»EERERFTERREE
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Climate-related risks description

SR AR RA R B i 2k

Products and services

= i KBRS

e Development of climate adaptation and
insurance risk solutions

1 E S f% 78 P e A e L B AR AL AR 75

?rﬁ}

e Ability to diversify business activities

ES R IE Si(o:N)5

Markets
HiE

e Access to new markets

EAHTIS

Resilience

S

e Participation in renewable energy
programs and adoption of energy-
efficiency measures

2 Bi0] B4 B IR 5T &I R SR AR SERUFE

e Resource substitution or diversification

BEREBRIEZ R

Financial Impact

MBRE

e Market valuation increases

through resilience planning,
such as infrastructure, land,
buildings

BiBERREIE M5B
B WMERE L BF

Reliability of supply chain and
ability to operate under various
condition increase
KBIER TR EEEE
REZSEEIRA

Revenue increases through
new products and services
related to ensuring resiliency
ZBBERBERERNE®R
T2 ARF5 18 ANUCA

Steps taken to manage the risks

7 B 12 B B3 P B EX B $E
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Metric and Targets

Our Group adopts the key metrics to measure and manage
climate-related risks and opportunities. The energy consumption
and greenhouse gases (GHG) emissions indicators are the key
metrics used to assess and manage relevant climate-related risks
where we consider such information is material and crucial for
assessing the impact of our operation on global climate change
during the year. We track our energy consumption and greenhouse
gas emissions indicators regularly to assess the effectiveness of
emission reduction initiatives, as well as set targets to contribute
our effort to limit global warming. The details of time frames over
which the target applies and base year from which progress is
“Emissions” and section
A2: “Use of Resources” of this Report. Our Group adopt absolute

measured are described in the section A1:

target to manage climate-related risks and opportunities and
performance.
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SOCIAL ASPECTS
EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES
Employment

The Group believes people are the most valuable assets to the
continuing development and success of the Group. As such, the
Group strives to attract and retain talents and maintain a safe and
equal working environment for its employees. Through the staff
handbook, the Group has stated the terms of compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods
and other benefits and welfare. The Group strives to construct a
diverse and inclusive workplace where all its employees are treated
with dignity and respect. The Group provides equal opportunity
in all aspects of employment and maintaining a workplace that
is free from discrimination or harassment against any individual
on the basis of seniority, nationality, gender, age, marital status,
disability, race, color, religion or sexual preference. Remuneration
and promotion opportunities are crucial to retain and motivate
employees in achieving key objectives of the Group. The Group
provides remuneration for its employees in accordance with the
Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57), the Minimum Wage Ordinance
(Cap. 608) and the Labour Law of the PRC. For promotion of
employees, the Group conducts performance appraisal annually
to evaluate overall performance of employees. The data collected
is used to serve as reference in considering promotion. In addition,
the Group provides mandatory provident fund in accordance
with the Mandatory Provident Fund Ordinance (Cap. 485) to its
Hong Kong employees and required social insurance to its PRC
employees.

HESE

EBERSETER

2%

AEBRE BEIATERFEERKIEDMN
hZzREBEE-HIb FEBELZHRSIRE
BAT IAHEEEERERTEFNIFR
15 BT FMETAEE BRI M E 18
BRET TR R KA MR KRET
ZIER-ANERIBNEUZTIERHERMIIE
BRI - EEhEEL2RES -AEENRERS
FEHRHTERE TEE—EFSRERE
BUFE ~ 1R~ F 8L~ IS IRARRE IR RE IR T8
B~ SRE M AR A T $ 3 A A1 B A 1R AR B
BRIBR TIFIRIR - $rBl R B 1 1% B 5 B S Kt
BEESENAEENTIEZERMSBEESZ-
FEBRB(EBHRA) (FE57%) (REIE
156D (35608E) R(TEHEX) B EER M
M-tREESHTEH FEEESFETRE
> LT EREEMNWERRE - FRIRENEIE
BEsHEE AR E o IbSh > ZEEIRE (51
MRBEEERD) (554858 BEEEEES
REBFIMELARS TAETEESREERE
AIFL & IREE
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During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of any non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that would have
significant impact on the Group relating to compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods,
equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination and other benefits
and welfare. As at 31 March 2025, the employee compositions by
gender, age group, geographical region, employment category and

RE|SHRE > FEBBANBEARETHERB
N AR BRERET S TR R
TERE-ZTE - RERUREMFERE
NMZBAERREEMBTERELEERT
E2BR-R_BE_HAF=A=+—H &%
B~ F AR & BB R EEENS

employment mode were as follows:

Employee compositions

B &4

By gender R B 5
e Male s BE
e Female o Y%

By age group B E 4R E 5
e Age 30 or below e 30pR AT
o Age 31-40 o 31-40%%
e Age 41-50 o 41-507%

e Age 51 or above

o 51 E

By geographical region it E & 5
e Hong Kong o« BF

e Other region

By employment category
e Senior management
e Middle management

o Hfthihi&

R ITERI 215
- BREEE
. PRERE

e General staff o —fRET
By employment mode HEREENE 2
e Full-time staff e 2RBET
e Part-time staff e ZWBET
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AZREENBERINT :

2025 2024
—E-REF ZEOE
75% 74%

25% 26%

9% 8%

17% 18%

17% 20%

57% 54%

97% 100%

3% =

9% 12%

20% 26%

71% 76%

96% 97%

4% 3%
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During the reporting period, the employee turnover rate by gender,
age group and geographical region during the reporting period was
as follows:

Employment turnover rate

[ PEES
By gender iR &5
e Male e Bk
e Female o« M
By age group ¥l R
¢ Age 30 or below e 30T
e Age 31-40 o 31E405%
e Age 41-50 * 41E505%
e Age 51 or above o 51 L
By geographical region it EE 5
» Hong Kong « HA
e Other region o Hithith®
Overall it

Health and Safety

The Group places the highest priority on securing health and
safety of all its employees. Adhering to the Occupational Safety
and Health Ordinance (Cap. 509) and the Law of the PRC on
the Prevention and Control of Occupational Disease, the Group
strives to minimise workplace accidents and continuously improves
workplace safety. The Group has established the “Health and
Safety Policy Statement” and the “Safety Management Policy”,
covering the Group’s commitment, safety objectives and safety
measures in ensuring occupational safety.

RIS i B R AR R E R 8
BEMELLENT :

2025 2024
“E-RF —E A
30% 42%
33% 40%
38% 61%
31% 34%
33% 31%
30% 43%
30% 36%
57% =
31% 21%

BRERE

rEERREEREEZEREZE2RES
fl-AEBEBRET(BELEREEHFEH)

(55509%) BUK (R EE WA /A7) » 71K
DITRERRAEEATFREZE M A&
EERE MBEEAZEEREBRAI 22 EE
BR > ETHELAEENAE L2ERRZ
2 DRRBEZE-
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Safety education is crucial to ensure that employees are fully
understand the safety risks and well-equipped to handle the job
duties in a safe manner. All workers on sites are required to attend
an induction training on the safety policies of the Group. Depending
on work nature, the safety officers are responsible to provide safety
briefing regularly to illustrate major safety issues to the workers.
Besides, safety reminders and warnings are posted at prominent
areas at the sites to enhance the safety awareness of workers.

In addition, safety monitoring is important to identify the potential
safety risks. The safety officers, site agents and the Group’s clients
carry out weekly on-site inspection to identify the existing and
potential safety issues. In case any safety issue is noticed, the site
agent will implement safety precautions and rectification measures
to minimise the risk.

During the reporting period, the Group recorded 1 case (2024:
1 case) of work-related injury for the Civil Engineering Services
Business. The Group did not have any work-related fatality during
the year. Besides, the Group was not aware of any non-compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations that would have significant
impact on the Group in providing a safe and healthy working
environment during the reporting period.

Development and Training

The Group considers the skills and knowledge of its employees
as the key elements of the Group’s continued business growth
and success. By encouraging employees to participate in training
programmes, the Group strives to enhance employees’ work
performance, personal development and promotion opportunities.
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According to the Group’s staff handbook, the Group provides
internal trainings for employees, including induction training, on-
the-job training and professional training. The induction training
covers the corporate culture, corporate facilities and regulations
such as security and confidentiality. The on-the-job training
includes the business knowledge and skills required for specific
positions, with the aim to enhance employees’ work performance.
The Group also encourages employees to attend professional
training and obtain relevant certification and license.

For Civil Engineering Services Business, the Group encourages
employees to participate in training programmes organised by
professional institutes, including Construction Industry Council,
Occupational Safety and Health Council, Hong Kong Institute of
Construction, Vocational Training Council, etc.

During the reporting period, the percentage of employees trained
by gender and employment category was as follows:

Percentage of employee trained

RiFEEE AL

By gender R E o
* Male e Bt
e Female o %

By employment category H{EERRE 5
e Senior management s SHREIEE
* Middle management s WEETIEE
* General staff s —fRET

Overall it

BEAEESTITFM AEERERSREAND
el B ABE S RS R B EET
ABEINREEEE - EERBREE W0
ZRREE) - EHIEIISEEEBUMEE
BR#RXE SERABEIFRF A&
E R B R S EEEE BEUEREE &
HEER o

MEIARIEBRBEBMNS  ~EEXBEES
MESXZRG BERERERR THAEEER
B~ B2 Bl AR R & R AR AH B RV I 5 ER AR -

PR S HAR » R K (R 4R R D B Ry = 13l
EEBEEWNT

2025 2024
—E"REF —ETUF
25% 21%

7% 10%

15% 28%

34% 66%

18% 27%

21% 18%
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During the reporting period, the detailed breakdown of employees
trained (in percentage) and the average training hours completed
per employee by gender and employment category was as follows:

Average training hours
(hours/employee)

g1 R B

PR S HARE > 1 R K (R (R 4B R D BBy = 13
B8 (BoLh) AR B 8 e YT 1918
EUILiSE 6 I

Breakdown of
employee trained (%)

(GNP 15312 & PR 4H(%)

Training 2025 2024 2025 2024
&3l ZECRF ZETEONMF ZEZRFE TZTTNF
By gender iR & 5

¢ Male o Bt 2.1 1.8 92% 87%

e Female o % 25 1.7 8% 13%
By employment category  1Z{E{E4E5 &S

¢ Senior management s SREIERE 3.3 2.7 6% 11%

¢ Middle management o MEEEE 2.2 1.7 33% 25%

o General staff o —RET 1.9 1.7 60% 64%
Overall B 2.1 1.7 100% 100%
Labour Standards & T %A

With the implementation of “Labour Standards Policy”, the Group
is committed to prohibiting the use of forces and child labour in
any part of its business. The Group strictly adheres to the relevant
laws and regulations, including the Employment Ordinance (Cap.
57) and the Labour Law of the PRC. As stipulated in the staff
handbook, newly recruited employees are required to present
their identity documents to Human Resources Department for
age verification as prevention of engaging child labour. Besides,
all work should be voluntarily performed and should not involve
forced labour. Employees are free to leave employment upon giving
reasonable notice. During the reporting period, the Group was not
aware of any non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
related to recruitment of child labour or forced labour practices.
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OPERATING PRACTICES
Supply Chain Management

During the Reporting Period, there were 138 suppliers and all of
them were located in Hong Kong. The Group strives to maintain
long-term and stable relationships with suppliers and sub-
contractors who meet our standards of technical competence,
innovation, product quality, reliability and delivery performance,
financial soundness, ethics and social responsibility. The Group has
implemented a “Supply Chain Policy” and ensures that its suppliers
and sub-contractors meet the Group’s requirement regarding
quality, environmental, safety, labour and confidentiality standards.
It ensures the production capacity, technology level, quality
assurance capabilities, supply capacity, safety and environment
management qualifications if needed. Only the highly qualified
suppliers/subcontractors complied with regulatory requirements
are eligible for the supplier/subcontractor selection by the Group.
The Group also carries out regular assessment on suppliers’/
subcontractors’ overall capabilities, assets position, nature of
business, reputation in the industry, quality of products, goods
delivery and compliance with law and regulations. The Group
provides technical assistance and supervision to suppliers and
subcontractors for quality assurance and educate them with anti-
corruption terms. Meanwhile, the Group encourages any feedback
from our suppliers and sub-contractors, which may help the Group
in understanding their needs and facilitate us in formulating the
future policy.
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Product Responsibility

Service quality is always of the utmost concern in the Group’s
operation. The Group continues to provide high-quality and
safe services to its clients in order to meet their expectations
and enhance their satisfaction. The Group has implemented
the “Quality Management Policy”, which covers the Group’s
commitment to enhance the service quality by providing trainings
for employees, monitoring the progress and building action
plan. For the Civil Engineering Services Business, the Group’s
subsidiaries are certified for ISO9001:2008 Quality Management
System Standards. To pursue quality construction work, the
Group has adopted various quality control procedures, including
regular monitoring, inspection and testing at different stage of
construction, recording data and controlling non-conforming
works. The Group implements project quality plan for each
project, covering the specifications, timing of delivery, quality
of construction materials and manpower required. The project
manager is responsible to ensure the progress is in line with the
project quality plan. Besides, the site agent or foreman conducts
inspection to ensure the quality of the completed work conforms
to the requirements specified in the contract. The Group is aware
of the importance in handling customer information. The Group
takes high precaution in ensuring their confidentiality to avoid
misuse or leakage of personal data. As stipulated in the Group’s
Code of Conduct and staff handbook, employees are required to
abide by the guidance on prohibiting any unauthorised disclosure
of confidential information.
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In addition, the Group does not make false claims regarding
the service provided. Besides, we respect intellectual rights and
purchase products and services from authorised suppliers and
copyright holders. The Group is in strict compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations, including the Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance (Cap. 486), the Copyright Ordinance (Cap. 528) and the
Copyright Law of the PRC. During the reporting period, the Group
did not receive any complaint related to the services provided. The
Group was not aware of any non-compliance with relevant laws
and regulations relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling
and privacy matters during the reporting period.

Anti-corruption

The Group is committed to upholding the high standards of
business ethics and integrity. Abiding to the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance (Cap. 201) and the Criminal Law of the PRC, the
Group has incorporated its requirement towards anti-corruption
into the Code of Conduct. All employees should decline an offer
of advantage if acceptance of it could affect their objectivity in
conducting the Group’s business. Employee who violates the Code
of Conduct after investigation will be subject to disciplinary actions,
including termination of employment. The Group will also report
the case to relevant legal authorities. The Group’s “Whistleblowing
Policy” encourages and enables employees to report on observed
and suspected non-compliance and questionable practice by mail,
email or phone. The Group treats all disclosures in a confidential
and sensitive manner to reasonably protect whistle blowers against
intimidation and reprisal.
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The Group plans to host regular trainings delivered by
representatives from regulators and professionals to all Directors
and employees in regards to anti-corruption policies and
procedures so to maintain employees’ awareness on anti-
corruption best practices. During the reporting period, no legal
case regarding corrupt practices was brought against the Group.
The Group was not aware of any non-compliance with the relevant
laws and regulations that would have significant impact on the
Group relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering
during the reporting period.

COMMUNITY
Community Investment

As a socially responsible enterprise, the Group is constantly aware
of the community needs and strives to bring a positive impact on
community development. The Group encourages and supports
community development initiatives to enhance social benefits
such as environment, health and education. Besides, the Group
encourages its employees to dedicate their time and skills to
supporting local communities.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE RE-HERERBRSTESI
REPORTING INDEX

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key
Performance Indicators (KPIs) Section Pages

TERE B —RNBERARBRIER 411 BX

A. Environmental
A IRIE

A1: Emissions

Al D BEB)

General Disclosure “Emissions” 101

— AR BB TBEm.

KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions “Emissions — Air Pollutant Emissions” 101
data

RARGENIERE  BFIELE AR HE R BR FHE — 22 /5 B

A1

KPI A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total and, where ~ “Emissions — Greenhouse Gas 108
appropriate, intensity Emission”

FRGENIEE ARERRGHNRER WER) BE MBER) —R=EREBHITU

Al.2

KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced and, where Not applicable to the Group’s business. N/A
appropriate, intensity

FRENIER MELESEEVEER MER BE NERAREEEER @A

A1.3

KPIA1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and, where “Emissions — Hazardous and 105
appropriate, intensity Nonhazardous Wastes”

FRGENIER MELARSEEVEER ER) BE TBER) — B SR ESEEY)

Al.4
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key

Performance Indicators (KPIs)

FTEHB BE  —RIKERARERIER

KPIA1.5

B AENIE R

A1.5

KPI'A1.6

BRI R
A1.6

Description of measures to mitigate emissions

and results achieved

HAUBR R E R R PT S AR

Description of how hazardous and nonhazardous
wastes are handled, reduction initiatives and

results achieved

HHREEERESERYN DA REEE

BT FTISRR

A2: Use of Resources

A2 I EIRA A

General Disclosure

—RRE

KPI'A2.1

FREMIE R
A2.1

KPI A2.2
B SR A IE 1R
A2.2

KPI' A2.3

B ENIE R
A2.3

144  TSUN YIP HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024/2025

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by

type in total and intensity
RELE DN ERE R K EEE

=

Water consumption in total and intensity

BIEKERTE

Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and

results achieved

R BE TR 56 A a5 B R PRIS AR

RABFEE K

Section

EH

“Emissions — Air Pollutant Emissions”
“Emissions — Greenhouse Gas
Emission”
TBER) — B RS 2R H .
MBER) —REREHITU

“Emissions — Hazardous and
Nonhazardous Wastes”

Y —BAERES

&

=Y

“Use of Resources”
M&RF A

“Use of Resources — Energy”

ME R A — sk

“Use of Resources — Water”
& RAE—KEIR]

“Use of Resources — Energy”

MERHM A — TR

Pages
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key

Performance Indicators (KPls) Section Pages
FTEHR BEH  —RRBERARESUSE =6 BR
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in “Use of Resources — Water” 109

sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water

efficiency initiatives and results achieved
RRAEMIER MAREEBANRLEIAEAME UKEAH TERANA—KER
A2.4 Rk 5t 8 K PRI AR

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished Not applicable to the Group’s business. N/A
products and, if applicable, with reference to per
unit produced

REBEMIEE HUMRFMBEEEMNNEER WBR)SEE FERNEAERES- 8
A2.5 BAE2

A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
A3 IRIBERKRARER

General Disclosure “The Environment and Natural 109
Resources”

— IR E NRERKRAEIR

KPI' A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities “The Environment and Natural 110

on the environment and natural resources and the Resources”
actions taken to manage them
FRGENIER WREBIHHRERRABRNEATE RIEKRAER
A3.1 REHRIREEREGMEENTH
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key

Performance Indicators (KPIs) Section Pages
FTEHR -EEH —RRBERAREIUSE =3:)] BR

A4: Climate Change
Ad T RIEEE

General Disclosure “Climate Change” 110-117
—HRIE MR
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related “Climate Change” 118-132

issues which have impacted, and those which
may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to
manage them
RBEMIER HACKKAIEGHETAELERXENEXR [RIEEME)

A4 A1 RIEHERAER MEHTTH
B. Social
B.#t&

Employment and Labour Practices

EEKREIER

B1: Employment

Bl : EfE

General Disclosure “Employment” 133
— R R M 6.

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age “Employment” 134

group and geographical region
FRGENIEE BN EEELE FRANRMEZI2HNE HERE
B1.1 B

KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and “Employment” 135
geographical region

FRGENIESR EMh - FieAn e DHNES KRR HER

B1.2
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key
Performance Indicators (KPls) Section Pages

TEHR B —RIRERARERIER E-3:11] BXR

B2: Health and safety
B2 @EHZS

General Disclosure “Health and Safety” 135
— AR R Mgz

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities “Health and Safety” 136
RRENIEE REIERMAMIETHABKLLE MERRHZ s

B2.1

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury “Health and Safety” 136
RIRAEANIERE HIGEXIIERH MERRHZ s

B2.2

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety “Health and Safety” 136

measures adopted, how they are implemented

and monitored
RARGENIEE MWIMFTERAN B R RERE T 28 MR MEREZ 2
B2.3 HITREE %
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key

Performance Indicators (KPIs) Section
FTEHR -EEH —RRBERAREIUSE =1

B3: Development and Training
B3 : &R &I

General Disclosure “Development and Training”
— R R M2 & R 3s il
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employee trained by gender  “Development and Training”

and employee category
FGENIESE B REESEESNZIEER DL M2% & ka5l
B3.1

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per “Development and Training”
employee by gender and employee category

RRENIER RMKEEHEFE D SLEETMTIIN TEREKE

B3.2 Ralisdo

B4: Labour Standards
B4 : BT %R

General Disclosure “Labour Standards”
—ARINEE M T 281
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment  “Labour Standards”

practices to avoid child and forced labour
FRGNIESR Wt siBREANEmMERE T Kad IR
B4.1 T

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such The Group current does not report on
practices when discovered this indicator.

FRGENIEE WMAEERERBERFHREMEAMRE AEEBRTERILIERETRS

B4.2 R B
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key
Performance Indicators (KPls) Section Pages

TEHR B —RIRERARERIER E-3:11] BXR

Operating Practices
SEIEA

B5: Supply Chain Management
B5 : AR EIE

General Disclosure “Supply Chain Management” 139
— AR BB MtrERE IR

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region “Supply Chain Management” 139
FRENIER KtaoNEEmEE M pEsR E1R)

B5.1

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging “Supply Chain Management” 139

suppliers, number of suppliers where the

practices are being implemented, how they are

implemented and monitored
RRENIER HMAARMEREEEIES - BITAREAN HEEEEIE)
B5.2 HEBHE - UKBREANRITRERFZE
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key

Performance Indicators (KPIs)

FTEHB BE  —RIKERARERIER

B6: Product Responsibility

B6: EmEE

General Disclosure

— BB

KPI B6.1

R EMIE R
B6.1

KPI B6.2

B A IE R
B6.2

KPI B6.3

FREMIE R
B6.3

KPI B6.4

B R AR IE R
B6.4

KPI B6.5

B R AR IE R
B6.5
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Percentage of total products sold or shipped
subject to recalls for safety and health reasons
EESEEXERMAHFTRL 2 EEEIER

AR B L

Number of products and service related

complaints received and how they are dealt with

RERBNERKRBHRFHEURER A

5

Description and practices relating to observing
and protecting intellectual property rights

A B A 5 S R R S E A RABVIE B

Description of quality assurance process and

recall procedures
g EmTEBE N ERLKRER

Description of consumer data protection and
privacy policies, how they are implemented and

monitored

HIUH 8 & BEHMRE R REER > LURAERIH

TRERTE

Section

EH

“Product Responsibility”
EmEE]

Not applicable to the Group’s business.

NERARAEEES-

No complaint related to the service
provided was received.

PR EARFTR RSB ko

“Product Responsibility”

EmEE

“Product Responsibility”

EmEE

“Product Responsibility”

EmEE
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key
Performance Indicators (KPls) Section Pages

TEHR B —RIRERARERIER E-3:11] BXR

B7: Anti-corruption

B7 . R&5

General Disclosure “Anti-corruption” 141
— Rk TRE5]

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding No legal case regarding corrupt N/A

corrupt practices brought against the issuer or its practices was brought against the
employees during the reporting period and the  Group.
outcomes of the case

FRENIER NRSHEBEHETARHEERETEES BMEHLAEENMESTARLRESR TEH

B7.1 HESFARHRRE KafehiE R ZERE M
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and “Anti-corruption” 141

whistleblowing procedures, how they are
implemented and monitored

RREMIER WADSHERRERER  UREAATRE RE5)

B7.2 BHE
Community
HE

B8: Community Investment
B8 (tEKE

General Disclosure “Community Investment” 142
— IR E MtERE]
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, “Community Investment” 142

environmental concerns, labour needs, health,
culture, sport)
RIREMIEE HIEREE WS RIEEE - FTERY HEKE)

B8.1 R -X1t-BA)

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the “Community Investment” 142
focus area
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B8.2
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
& 3% TR S

BT &t EH ARG
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

HLB

TO THE MEMBERS OF

TSUN YIP HOLDINGS LIMITED (formerly known as CNC
Holdings Limited)

(Incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tsun
Yip Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as “the Group”) set out on pages 163 to 282, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2025, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 March 2025, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditors’
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to Note 3(c) in the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that the Group incurred a net loss of
approximately HK$11,959,000 during the year ended 31 March
2025 and, as of that date, the Group had net current liabilities and
net liabilities of approximately HK$17,209,000 and HK$39,865,000
respectively. As stated in Note 3(c), these events or conditions,
along with other matters as set forth in Note 3(c), indicate that a
material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not
modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In addition to
the matter described in the “Material Uncertainty Related to Going
Concern” section, we have determined the matters described
below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our
report.
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Key audit matter

RELSER

How our audit address the key audit matter

FTHELNAHAREZFHETRE

Contract revenue recognition and accounting for construction contract

RSNt REEEHZ Bt EIE

Refer to Notes 5 and 6 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 4 to

the consolidated financial statements.

A2RGEMBRRMEFSKOURGEMEBRRMF4Z G R

The Group recognises revenue over time in accordance
with HKFRS 15 Revenue for contract with customers.
EERRREBMGRESEF 15T, 0N T
[ e P e 58 i

The revenue and profit recognised in a year on
these projects is dependent, amongst others, on the
assessment of the Group’s efforts or inputs to the
construction projects (i.e. contract cost incurred for
work performed) relative to the total expected inputs to
the construction projects (i.e. estimated total budgeted
contract cost committed for the projects).

ZEBER —FABRDNIN G somF > BURAR (HA
BiE) BERHEEBENZHSEA BIEEMK
ITREENEONAE) BN ERBEENATEREA
(B AEE AHENGEHEBEE S M A) BET o

The uncertainty and subjectivity involved in determining
the cost to complete and foreseeable losses may have a
significant impact on the revenue and profit of the Group.
EESTIMAKOITEREERY RAEE S R EEHM
EERZIEY SEENRERENERERE
%o
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Our procedures in relation to revenue recognition from
construction projects included but not limited to:
FTERMBREE WGBSR ZEFEEERRL !

Obtaining an understanding of the projects, evaluated
the design and implementation of relevant controls
relating to revenue recognition and partially completed
projects.

TEREB LR EESENB O TRIER R BN
M RAE S B9 5R St AN B T o

Assessing the Group'’s revenue recognition practice
to determine that they are in compliance with HKFRS
15 Revenue from contracts with customers, including
the assessment of the Group’s efforts or inputs to the
construction projects (i.e. contract cost incurred for
work performed) relative to the total expected inputs to
the construction projects (i.e. estimated total budgeted
contract cost committed for the projects).
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Key audit matter How our audit address the key audit matter

RELER FITNBERMAHRAREZERETREE

Contract revenue recognition and accounting for construction contract (Continued)

R EHINE RBEEEHNZ B EE ()

Refer to Notes 5 and 6 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 4 to

the consolidated financial statements. Continued)

F2REEMBRRMEASKOURGEMBRRMF4Z SR (&

e  For selected projects, our audit procedures included
the following:
s MEFTBBEMZ ATHEZEBFEEUTEIEAE:

agreed projects contract sum to signed contracts
and variation orders;
HEGNTHENEMEI e KR TIET

obtained construction contract from management
and reviewed for any specific or special
performance obligations and conditions during the
financial period;
BEEEBEGERSHON T XN AMBHEARE
A B SAS AN BB ERIFY

assessed the reasonableness of cost incurred
against our understanding of the projects;
MAETHEBEEN THRIZMEER AN GIE
% ;

vouched the actual cost incurred during the year
to details of supplier invoices and subcontractors
to check the validity and accuracy of the costs;
BENEREENRAEBREEEERDEHE
BB RHETTIZE  UBRZERAMNE K
MR AR ;
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Key audit matter How our audit address the key audit matter

RELSER FITHNEZRMAHRAREZERETREE

Contract revenue recognition and accounting for construction contract (Continued)

BEAIME RIEFEEHZ B EE (B)

Refer to Notes 5 and 6 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 4 to

the consolidated financial statements. (Continued)

F2RGREMBRRIT AR KRGEMIBIRRMTIZE
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TR (&

Vi

Vi.

Vil.

Vil.

Viii.

Viii.

performed cut-off testing to verify contract costs
were taken up in the appropriate financial year;
ETH LA URBSORAT RSB
FEXE;

assessed and vouched to the estimated cost to
complete by substantiating costs that have been
committed to quotations and contracts entered;
ERZBRE RS OPEBNRA > 5T I 1%
HIFFTT IR ;

performed retrospective review by comparing the
total actual contract costs incurred at completion
against the total budgeted contract costs to
assess the reasonableness of the estimates used
by the management;
FRLERETRHERELENSAOERAETER
BN AEITEIRMEDS LML EEREM
BstNaEN ;

for projects in progress, recomputed the
percentage of the progress of the contract
based on input method to test the accuracy of
the percentage of the progress to determine the
revenue;

PETHREEMS  RTREBRAEEMFE
BREEBRD tl: Mg EE B DL ER
M LUK E W
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Key audit matter How our audit address the key audit matter

RELER FITNBERMAHRAREZERETREE

Contract revenue recognition and accounting for construction contract (Continued)

BREHINm REBRESHZ B EE (B)

Refer to Notes 5 and 6 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 4 to
the consolidated financial statements. (Continued)

F2REEMBRRMEASKOURGEMBRRMF4Z SR (&

ix. compared total contract revenue to actual cost
incurred plus estimated cost to complete, and
assessed for foreseeable losses; and

ix. REN@KRHEESEESMNMRANLEESTT
AAEITELE W P] FE RS 1EET1TETh ; &

x. examined the project documentation (including
contracts effective during the financial period,
terms and conditions) and discussed with
management on the progress of significant
projects to determine if there are any changes
such as delays, penalties, overruns which may
result in liquidated damages.

x. BEBEEXH BERAMBHEENZE4
BRI fRH)  TEERENREREENE
B UEERERAEAEIRNEEEEREN
RIS FIUIER ST BXF

e Assessing the appropriateness and adequacy of
the disclosures made in the consolidated financial
statements.

o HEREMBBRERMFUNEZEEMRERE -

Based on our audit procedures performed above, we found
that the management’s judgement in relation to the revenue
recognition from construction contracts to be supportable
by available evidence.

BERATLERET2EZER ATEREEEMESR
BRI ERHE > 9B REFHEERA R

EEPERARAT 2024/2025 5% 157



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
& 3% TR S

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon (the “Other
Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the Other Information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the Other Information and,
in doing so, consider whether the Other Information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other
Information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditors’ report that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of
this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

RRREEVHREE EFRETL 85
BFEEEET WEBRBR MREER
BREAMNER URRAFBEER G
B BRIEFEFEER SEEBFHEIFLLEL
2o SfRILZ SN R E A B R B 1T RYME

REEREEEE SHEENMBHRRER-

R B GEMBRRARENEE

ATHWERESGERELEREMHREE
RMERS N FERNREFNERME R
ERHERERA WiEm BT (FRAEER W
HFAEATRRIZBENRS  FRILZ SN ER
thE - ETHAREARSABTBERFEMA
THRENE LERAEE - EREBSERD
fReg ER A RERBE BB ERETHE
ZIFBRER BT RN E A AR R - #8558
PRt m] (R EREFER R M £ » R {85 B BE 1E
GEBRABER TR EEREREZEZIRS
MBHRRFHBEERER  BIREREXRTE
AR R o
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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e  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

e Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the group as a basis
for forming an opinion on the group statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

o HEBGREHMBBRRNEBEZRAN -EE
kAT BREKRBER URGESHHR
BETBERRBERZ REE-

s HEABTEEREZEZ UBSAEREER
ERNEFEUNYHENNTERE
ENELER FANERRRERER
ZER AT REEEEEZNSRA &
ERWIT ST EARETHERERAE
EHWEE-
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The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent HEARBIIZH MR ENBZIEEEEAE

auditors’ report is Hon Koon Fai, Alex. T ©

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited B gt EHEAAARAR
Certified Public Accountants HZESSHED

Hon Koon Fai, Alex EekE

Practising Certificate Number: P05029 MEFSHRIE P05029

Hong Kong, 30 June 2025 EBH _E_AF,A=+H
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

4= A,
[ g = |

Rm ik Hith 2 EUI =R

For the year ended 31 March 2025 ElE —ZE_AF =H=+—HIFFEZ

Revenue
Cost of services

Gross profit

Other income

Other gains/(losses), net
Administrative and operating expenses

(Loss)/profit from operations
Finance costs

Loss before income tax
Income tax (expense)/credit

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income

ltemns that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss

Exchange differences on translating
foreign operations

Wz
AR5 A A

EH

HAhUgA

Htm ~ (8518) - JF &R
TEREER

EIE (518 ER
RAE A

PREFSIR RIS 1R
PRIGI (A0 /1%

FREE

Htt 2w

BB DEEE
HBmzBE

MERINER BT ERR

Total comprehensive loss for the year £ 2 H 51844 %E

Notes

Kzt

10
12

15

2025 2024
—E_RF —EOE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
366,071 468,963
(356,138) (450,900)
9,933 18,063
4,309 2,984
4,954 (1,097)
(25,681) (17,629)
(6,485) 2,321
(5,418) (11,998)
(11,903) (9,677)
(56) 565
(11,959) 9,112)
= 488
(11,959) (8,624)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
EalEmkAMEEKER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BtE_—LF_—HHF=H=+—HIFFZ

(Loss)/profit for the year
attributable to:
— Owners of the Company
— Non-controlling interest

Total comprehensive (loss)/income
for the year attributable to
— Owners of the Company
— Non-controlling interest

Loss per share attributable to
owners of the Company
— Basic and diluted (HK cents)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

Notes

Kiat

THIALEGEER (FE8)
/R
- VNIE: =N
|

THALTEEER
2 (§518) W4
: NSIE =N
—IFEER

TAEBER A
BRER
—E X RE B 17
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2025 2024
—E_REF TEPO4E
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FEIT
(11,341) (9,324)
(618) 212
(11,959) 9,112)
(11,341) (8,836)
(618) 212
(11,959) (8,624)
(20.1) (23.0)

BEMt 2 iR UL F ARG M HREZ—8F D o



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

mEMBIRRER

As at 31 March 2025 R_-_ZE_#Z#E=H=+—H

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Deposit paid for acquisition of
property, plant and equipment

Current assets
Trade and other receivables
Contract assets
Tax recoverable
Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Contract liabilities
Lease liabilities
Promissory note
Convertible notes
Employee benefits

Net current liabilities

Total assets less current liabilities

FRBEE
Y EN S CYSE
ERESE
BEYE -MEK
REZENZE

MEEE
8 5 K B M WRIE
BNEE
B eI
ReMREFEY

MEE

mEAaE

B 5 REMELRUE
aHaE

HEaE

ERERE
AIHARR 4R
EEEF

MENERFER

WEERRBERE

Notes

Ktat

22
25
27
28
26

2025 2024
—E"RF —EOE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
15,095 12,810
1,614 3,746
1,385 =
18,094 16,556
82,047 103,065
9,367 51,070
21 47
56,120 48,222
147,555 202,404
165,649 218,960
94,532 227,800
59,713 83,933
1,120 1,735
= 44,122

= 257,030
9,399 6,210
164,764 620,830
(17,209) (418,426)
885 (401,870)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

mEMBIRRER

As at 31 March 2025 R_-_ZE_-_#ZFE=H=+—H

Non-current liabilities ERBER
Lease liabilities HEaE
Promissory note EARERE

Deferred tax liabilities

Total liabilities wmaeE

Net liabilities = Ri=pe:x |

Capital and reserves BAR KA
Share capital &N
Reserves G

Non-controlling interests JEVER Em

Total equity g

Notes

Kfat

25
27
29

30

2025 2024
—E"REF TEOE
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FEIT
588 71
38,749 =
1,413 1,489
40,750 1,560
205,514 622,390
(39,865) (403,430)
5,722 4,055
(46,652) (409,168)
(40,930) (405,113)
1,065 1,683
(39,865) (403,430)

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30 June 2025 and
are signed on its behalf by:

Kan Kwok Cheung
]k Es
Director

EF

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

= A\ 85 -k 4=4
FEEDEEER
For the year ended 31 March 2025 BIE_—ZFE - HhHF=H=+—HIFFZ

Foreign
Convertible currency Non
Share Share Capital  notes equity translation Other  Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium* reserves* reserves* reserves* reserves* losses* Total interest equity
ThRRE bt
& RiaE i R HEEE Eftf EithE g HEkER )
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fin Fn F#n F#n Fn Fin F#n FEn FEn Fin
(hote 30) (hote 31) (ot 31) (hote 26) (hote 31) (ote 31) (hote 31)
(H3t20) (H231) (H231) (Hzt28) (H:231) (H231) (Hz231)
At 1 April 2023 RIEZ=EMB-H 4,005 1,238,195 2,758 14,400 (1,724 41214 (1,695,175) (396,277) 1471 (394,806)
Loss for the year FMER - - S S S - 9,329) (9,324) n 9112
Other comprehensive income/{oss) EREM2ERE/ )
for the year, et of tax: piali 3o
Items that may be reclassified subsequenty  EATIEHMEEEAZER
to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translafing AEBNERZEREE
foreign operations - - - - 488 - - 488 - 488
Total comprehensive income/(oss) for the year ER2EME/ (§518) B8 - - - - 488 - 9,324) 8,836) 212 (8624)
At31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RZBCMEZR=1+-BR
ZRTmEmA-H 4,005 1,238,196 2,758 14,400 (1,236) 41214 (1,704,499) (405,113) 1,683 (403,430)
Loss for the year EREB - - - - - - (11,341) (11,341) (618) (11,959)
Other comprehensive loss EREMZESE NHRE:
for the year, net of tax:
Items that may be reclassified subsequently A& ENABERHEZEE
to prof orloss:
Exchange differences on translating REENERZRRER
foreign operations - - - - - - - - - -
Total comprehensive loss for he year ENEEBRER 5 - - - - - (11.341) (11,341) (618) (11,959
Substantial modification of convertble notes ~ EXBHITRRER - - 251390 5,640 - - - 257,030 - 257,030
Issue of convertblg notes BARE - - 2343 6,151 - - - 98494 - 98,494
Issug of shares Ei7kh 1,667 18,333 - - - - - 20,000 - 20,000
At31 March 2025 R-B-3£=A=+-A 572 1,256,528 346,491 2,191 (1,236) 41,214 (1,715,840) 409%0) 1,065 (39,865)

The aggregate amount of these balances of approximately
HK$46,652,000 in deficit (2024: approximately HK$409,168,000 in
deficit) was included as reserves in the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2025.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.

RIEZAF-A=A—H ZEBHHEH

B #946,652,00087T (Z B ZFI4F © frAg#
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BtE_—LF_—HHF=H=+—HIFFZ

Cash flows from operating activities
Loss before income tax
Adjustment for:
Gain on modification of promissory note
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Net gains on disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Finance costs
Net loss on termination of lease
Interest income
Exchange gain, net
Reversal of expected credit losses
recognised for trade receivables, net

Allowance for expected credit losses
recognised for other receivables and
deposits, net

Allowance for expected credit losses
recognised for contract assets, net

Operating cash flows before
movements in working capital
Decrease in trade and
other receivables
Decrease/(increase) in contract assets
Decrease in trade and
other payables
Decrease in contract liabilities
Increase/(decrease) in employee benefits

Cash (used in)/generated from operations
Income tax paid

Net cash (used in)/generated from
operating activities

REEFHELEZRERE

BRPT1SIRATE 1R

AREE
AR RIBEST W
MR RREITE

ERREEITE

HEYE BB K
Rt 2 W % 2R

BRE A

RIEEE 2 EIR3ER

AISUON

BE S0 o o P AR

FLE 7 EUWGRIERESS

AR B R 1R
FPER

T E thEUGRIR R s
B BAEEERE

B PR
MEMNBEERTZ
REEERE

R PR

EEESEFFZ
RERTRE

85 Kk H A EWRIA
P

GRBEERL, (&)

8 5 R E M RIR
DA

aMamEELD

RERFEM, Bl

& PR /FRSRE
[SENIFEEE

wEEe (FRR) FRi
REFEHE
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Notes

HtaE

2025 2024
—E-RF —ET g
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
(11,903) (9,677)
(17,290) =
7,842 7,995
2,386 4,057
(869) (76)
5,418 11,998

= 1,371

(120) (344)

(6) (20)

(540) (262)

10 1
13,741 83
(1,331) 15,126
21,521 21,850
27,962 (9,976)
(28,088) (16,841)
(24,220) (4,857)
3,189 (304)
(967) 4,998
(106) (409)
(1,073) 4,589




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

n‘m IE% ﬁ%%

For the year ended 31 March 2025 ElE —ZE_AF =H=+—HIFFEZ

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Purchase of property,
plant and equipment

Deposit paid for acquisition of property,
plant and equipment

Interest received

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of shares
Repayment of lease liabilities

Net cash generated from/(used in)
financing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning of the year

Effects of foreign exchange rate changes [

Cash and cash equivalents
at the end of the year

The accompany notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.

Notes
Hat
KETHEEZIRERE
HEME - BEKRKEZ
PSR

BEYE RERRE
BEVE MERREBZ

[SENE:7
BEFE

REZFFARZFE
MEEFHEEZRERE
LITRIFrIFRIA

BEHEEAE

REEEFRE (FA)
R PR

RERREEEY
1 Gri) 388

FNRERFEFEY

R B

FRRERBEEEY

PEMt Z Mz AL S i &

2025 2024
“EZRE ZETOF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
922 527
(7,786) (3,642)
(1,385) -
120 344
(8,129) 2,771)
20,000 =
(2,906) (5,723)
17,094 (5,723)
7,892 (3,905)
48,222 51,619

6 508

56,120 48,222

ISRz —8B 5 o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M 5E

777 g = |

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BIE —LFE_HHF=H=+—HIFFZ

1.

GENERAL

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
on 15 March 2010 as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961
as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The
registered office and principal place of business of the
Company are located at the offices of Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands and Unit M&N, 8/F, Hi-Speed Centre 1,18 On
Chuen Street, Fanling, New Territories respectively.

Pursuant to a special resolution passed at the extraordinary
general meeting on 31 May 2024 and the issue of the
certificate of incorporation on change of name by the Registrar
of Companies in Cayman Islands on 7 June 2024, the English
name and the Chinese name of the Company have been
changed from “CNC Holdings Limited” to “Tsun Yip Holdings
Limited” and “FEIFTEERIERBR AT to EEZERE
FR/A T, respectively.

The substantial shareholder of the Company is Mr. Kan
Kwok Cheung, an executive director of the Company. As at
the date of this report, Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung owns 57.1%
issued shares capital of the Company and is the controlling
shareholder of the Company.

The Shares of the Company were listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange on 30 August 2010.

The principal activities of the Company are investment holding.
The principal activities of its subsidiaries are the provision of
civil engineering services for the public sector in Hong Kong.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2025 ElE —ZE_AF =H=+—HIFFEZ

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for their annual reporting
period commencing 1 April 2024 for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements:

2.

FERAMIEBMBREER (IEEHR
BwREER)) REETE

REFEZGERZ EEBEHREER
155725

RAEFE  AEBERERUTHELES
A E ((EREHMAE)) BMIES
MHBREENET A ZFEITERRN-Z
“MFEMB-HRBNFEERSHB®
LR UERRIGEEMBRE

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback SAMBREEN  EREDNHEEEE
F163% (1B31A)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or EEEHENE IR AR ﬁ*ﬁﬁu@ﬂ%?ﬁm@]&*
Non-current and related amendments (BET%) BREEN(CEIEH
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) BREs]

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants EREHENE IS  WERENFRBAR

CHEY

Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements EEGHENETRR HEBHERH

and HKFRS 7 ERMHRSER
E75% (B:IK)

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance for the current and prior years and/
or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

REAFERAEBMBREENETR
HEAEBRTIFERBEFENMBR
MRERRR NZEEEHBRERFAH
MiRBEFRTEEATE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BtE_—LF_—HHF=H=+—HIFFZ

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. FERF:IEEBMBHRSER (IFHBH
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING RIREZER)) REETd (@)

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRS in issued but not yet EEMGEHRERLZGTEEMBRE
effective ERRBRIETE
The Group has not early applied the following new and AEBTEIZFEER T EBEMERR
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet SRRV BREEL REHEET
effective: ¥
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Amendments to the Classification and EENBREENET SHMIANERFIEZET
and HKFRS 7 Measurement of Financial Instruments® REBNBREE
EJCACHEN]
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sales or Contribution of Assets between EANBREENEI0% REFRHBENTHAER
and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate its Joint MEREHERSENS EIRZBEEHERIE
Venture' (131 %)
Amendments to HKFRS Annual Improvements to HKFRS EENBREENGHE SENBREENGHENLZ
Accounting Standards Accounting Standards - Volume 11 ENCHES FENE-F1H
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability? EEQHENENT Bz
(131 %)
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial SENBREENZ 18T MBERRZEIREE
Statements*
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be ! REFEECNHBRR 2 EBRGBZFERRE
determined. S
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025. 2 RIZTHFE—B—HBZEBRBZEE
AARER -
8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026. E RIEZRXE—A—HAZERBZFE
AARERL -
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027. d N_E2_tF—A—BHAzEBEHGBEZFE
HARAERK ©
The directors of the Company anticipate that the application KNBEETERERBMBWNII T BV
of all new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material REZEAREETARARRRE LGS
impact on the consolidated financial statements in the MBRRIBBEBRTLE

foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2025 ElE —ZE_AF =H=+—HIFFEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION 3. RBEE

(a) Statement of compliance (a) EfHIEHA

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs, which is a
collective term that includes all applicable individual
HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (‘HKASs”)
and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”), and
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.
For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements, information is considered material
if such information is reasonably expected to influence
decisions made by primary users. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“GEM Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

HEMBBREREREEEMBRS
ER (EHEBGSHALAE (FET
SRR RE ) B ERERNES
MBRESER - BBGER (FE
BEEER) RE2ENGEE) UREHR
ARG RAFER - R RGETH T
BRMS HWEERMERERER
ETBERAENRAR IRRAEE
Bl iIREMBRREETH
BMEXSAERABGEMESR LT
R (TGEMLEHRA ) RBEBARF
RBIPFARE 2 BRAWEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BtE_—LF_—HHF=H=+—HIFFZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 3. RUEBE 2

(b) #REEE

(b) Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable
or estimated using another valuation technique. In
estimating the fair value of an asset or liability, the Group
takes into account the characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure
purposes in these consolidated financial statements is
determined on such a basis, except for share-based
payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS
2 “Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions that are
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16 “Leases”,
and measurements that have some similarities to fair
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value
in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use in HKAS 36
“Impairment of Assets”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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R 75 R AR Y 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2025 ElE —ZE_AF =H=+—HIFFEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(b) Basis of preparation (Continued)

(c)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirely, which
are described as follows:

e |evel 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

e |evel 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

e |evel 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.

Going concern basis

In preparing the consolidated financial statements,
the directors of the Company have given careful
consideration to the future liquidity of the Group
notwithstanding that the Group incurred a net loss of
approximately HK$11,959,000 during the year ended
31 March 2025 and, as of that date, the Group had
net current liabilities and net liabilities of approximately
HK$17,209,000 and HK$39,865,000 respectively.

The directors of the Company adopted the going
concern basis in the preparation of consolidated financial
statements and implemented certain measures in order
to improve the working capital and liquidity and cash flow
position of the Group:

3. RREE M@

(b) RREE (E

(c)

5 M BREMS > A FEFE
BEATEFENBABBEIERE
BERBABBHAFESENE
RESMDEAE MR B 2R
B = Akl B

e F—MABWMABBEEBERNE
EAHTLUESENEREEN
BENEETHBHRE CREH

8

s FMAIWMABEEAEEN
BEEENEEMTRENE
AEIE (B—RA B RE
BRIN 5 K

s F=WMIBMABBEEEENE
BN IERBARIE-

RGN EMBRRE  ARBESE
EBEZTEAEBZARRTES
R ERERRBE S -_AF =
B=+—HIEFEEBELEFEHEY
11,959,000 > HEEZH > &~&E
ZhBEBEFENREEFEDS
#37317,209,00078 7T 539,865,000/

JT ©

ARBEENRUEREMHRERE
EERMFEEERE - WEBRET
B N EREBZEEES AR
HESURBFERERT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BtE_—LF_—HHF=H=+—HIFFZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 3. RUEBE 2

(c) HERERE (B

(c) Going concern basis (Continued)

e Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung, an executive director and
controlling shareholder of the Company, has granted
a loan facility up to HK$60,000,000 (which has not
been utilised up to date of this report) to the Group
to maintain the going concern of the Company; and

e The management is endeavoring to improve the
Group’s operating results and cash flows through
cost control measures and will focus on the existing
business of the Group by actively engaged into new
construction projects.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, in light
of the various measures/arrangements implemented
after the end of the reporting period, the Group will have
sufficient working capital for its current requirements
and it is reasonable to expect the Group to remain a
commercially viable concern. Accordingly, the directors of
the Company are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare
the consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis.

Should the Group be unable to continue to operate as a
going concern, it may be unable to realise its assets and
discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.
Adjustments would have to be made to write down the
value of assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide
for any future liabilities which might arise and to reclassify
non-current assets and liabilities as current assets and
liabilities respectively. The effect of these adjustments
has not been reflected in the consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2025 ElE —ZE_AF =H=+—HIFFEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 3. REBE 2

(d) Functional and presentation currency (d) MEEKREHRE

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$"), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company. All values are rounded to the
nearest thousand dollars (HK$'000) except otherwise
indicated.

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(a) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control
is achieved when the Company:

e has power over the investee;

e isexposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the
date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BtE_—LF_—HHF=H=+—HIFFZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(a) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each component item of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= A,
[ g = |

R 75 R AR Y 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2025 ElE —ZE_AF =H=+—HIFFEZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(b)

Interests in joint operations

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the assets, and obligations for the
liabilities, relating to the joint arrangement. Joint control
is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about
the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

The Group accounts for the assets, liabilities, revenues
and expenses relating to its interest in a joint operation in
accordance with the HKFRSs applicable to the particular
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.

When a group entity transacts with a joint operation in
which a group entity is a joint operator (such as a sale
or contribution of assets), the Group is considered to be
conducting the transaction with other parties to the joint
operation, and gains and losses resulting from the sale or
contribution are recognised in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of other parties’
interests in the joint operation.

When a group entity transacts with a joint operation
in which a group entity is a joint operator (such as a
purchase of assets), the Group does not recognise its
share of the gains and losses until it resells those asset to
a third party.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BtE_—LF_—HHF=H=+—HIFFZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. EAEHEESZE &
(Continued)

(c) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost, less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets less their residual values over their useful lives,
using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of
any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis. The principal annual rates used for the current year
are as follows:

Site offices Over the respective project terms
Leasehold 30% or over the respective life of
improvements the leases, whichever is shorter

Machinery 20% - 30%
Furniture and fixtures  20%
Office equipment 20%
Motor vehicles 20%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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R 75 R AR Y 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2025 ElE —ZE_AF =H=+—HIFFEZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(c)

(d)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after
the date of initial application or arising from business
combination, the Group assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date,
as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BtE_—LF_—HHF=H=+—HIFFZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(d) Leases (Continued)

As a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and non-
lease components, the Group allocates the consideration
in the contract to each lease component on the basis
of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components.

The Group also applies practical expedient not to
separate non-lease components from lease component,
and instead account for the lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease
component.

As a practical expedient, leases with similar
characteristics are accounted on a portfolio basis when
the Group reasonably expects that the effects on the
financial statements would not differ materially from
individual leases within the portfolio.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of machinery and property that
have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. It also applies the recognition exemption for lease
of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term
leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic
basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2025 ElE —ZE_AF =H=+—HIFFEZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. S XZ:HBEER @)

(Continued)

(d) Leases (Continued) (d 8E #@
As a lessee (Continued) EBAMA (&
Right-of-use assets RHEESE
The cost of right-of-use asset includes: FREEENMRASE

e the amount of the initial measurement of the lease HEaENYT =225 ;

liability;

e any lease payments made at or before the e NRHEWBHBHBAXZANEMAEN
commencement date, less any lease incentives HENF BEREWEEEE
received; B

e any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and e AXREEBEMELANEEYBERE

A ; K

e an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group o AREBENIFMBKBSRERMEE-
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets, EBRAEMTHHEREHEEE
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring EHRERRRAEHPTRE AR
the underlying asset to the condition required by the AR AEE MR A fh 5T o
terms and conditions of the lease.

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the AEENREERGHR BMEREE

commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date the AMERN B BREREEE-

underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use EREEERNABRERRETINE
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated FRERRFE LMEEaENE
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any AEMETEFEHAEE

remeasurement of lease liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BtE_—LF_—HHF=H=+—HIFFZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. EAXEHBFEER &
(Continued)

(d) Leases (Continueq) (d 8 &=

As a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term is depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statements of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost of
right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M B RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 ElE —ZE_AF =H=+—HIFFEZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(d) Leases (Continued)
As a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)
The lease payments include:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

* variable lease payments that depend on an index or
a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at
the commencement date;

e amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

e the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group; and

e payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option
to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M B wRRMNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BtE_—LF_—HHF=H=+—HIFFZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(d) Leases (Continued)
As a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

e the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

e the lease payments change due to changes in
market rental rates following a market rent review/
expected payment under a guaranteed residual
value, in which cases the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M B RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 ElE —ZE_AF =H=+—HIFFEZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(d) Leases (Continued)
As a lessee (Continued)
Lease modlfications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

e the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

e the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as
a separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease
liability based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BtE_—LF_—HHF=H=+—HIFFZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

4. ERGHBEREN @

() =MIA

(e) Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when the group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivable
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities are added
to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets
or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2025 ElE —ZE_AF =H=+—HIFFEZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

4. BEREHBREH @

(e) EMI A #E

(e) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and measurement of financial assets at
amortised cost

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

e the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured
at FVTPL, except that at the date of initial application/
initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair
value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is neither held for trading
nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer
in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BtE_—LF_—HHF=H=+—HIFFZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. EAXE:HHBEER &

(Continued)
(e) Financial instruments (Continued) () EMTH #@)
Financial assets (Continued) EHEE (&)
Classification and measurement of financial assets at BB AT ER T B HEE (B

amortised cost (Continued)

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if: BT3B AEmMEETDER
REBE !

e it has been acquired principally for the purpose of e BARZMEEZIEZHNR
selling in the near term; or RAARREE ;5 5

° on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of ° RNTHEIAFZEMEERR
identified financial instruments that the Group SEHXFEREZEARRMT
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of BMEEZE D B RHERER
short-term profit-taking; or REEH 5 %

e itis a derivative that is not designated and effective s RTMBEERLIFEERBM
as a hedging instrument. EAHFIBEZTET R

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a IESh » 25 B BT 1R W A BT EI S 7E -

financial asset that are required to be measured at the REERAHNANBEBEMEER

254 \[7 A= N7 ==

amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing WmBEAFEARGENEREE

so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting EERBBBRREAFEARSE

mismatch. i g tt P H PR SN BB R/ & ST EEAC ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2025 ElE —ZE_AF =H=+—HIFFEZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. S XZ:HBEER @)
(Continued)

() EMIR &

(e) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on
the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BtE_—LF_—HHF=H=+—HIFFZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. EAXE:HHBEER &
(Continued)

() EMIR #@

(e) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group perform impairment assessment under
expected credit losses (‘ECL”) model on financial assets
which are subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (including trade and other receivables, contract
assets and cash and cash equivalents). The amount
of ECL is updated at each reporting period to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
(“12m ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting period.
Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting period as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables without significant financial component. The
ECL on these assets are assessed individually for debtors
with significant balances and collectively using a provision
matrix with appropriate groupings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2025 ElE —ZE_AF =H=+—HIFFEZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. S XZ:HBEER @)
(Continued)

() EMIR &

(e) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should
be recognised is based on significant increases in
the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting period with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M B wRRMNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BtE_—LF_—HHF=H=+—HIFFZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(e) Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

e  significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

e  existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations;

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

e an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2025 ElE —ZE_AF =H=+—HIFFEZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. S XZ:HBEER @)
(Continued)

(e) ERMTH &

(e) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credt risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full.

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BtE_—LF_—HHF=H=+—HIFFZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(e) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more

events of default that have a detrimental impact on

the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset

have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-

impaired includes observable data about the following

events:

(@)

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2025 ElE —ZE_AF =H=+—HIFFEZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. S XZ:HBEER @)

(Continued)

(e) Financial instruments (Continued) (e) EMITA (&)
Financial assets (Continued) THEE (B)
Write-off policy WHE R

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit
or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M B wRRMNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BtE_—LF_—HHF=H=+—HIFFZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(e) Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Measurerment and recognition of ECL (Continued)

For collective assessment the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

e  Past-due status;

e Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

e  External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount, with the exception of trade receivables,
other receivables and contract assets where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2025 ElE —ZE_AF =H=+—HIFFEZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. S XZ:HBEER @)
(Continued)

(e) EMI A #E

(e) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the
Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as financial liabilities or equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a
group entity are classified as either financial liabilities
or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BtE_—LF_—HHF=H=+—HIFFZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

4. ERGHBEREN @

() EMIR #@

(e) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade payables and other
payables, interest payable, convertible notes, promissory
note, lease liabilities and employee benefits) are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Convertible loan notes contain equity component

The component parts of the convertible loan notes
are classified separately as financial liability and equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument. A conversion option that
will be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of
cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of
the Company’s own equity instruments is an equity
instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2025 ElE —ZE_AF =H=+—HIFFEZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

4. BEREHBREH @

(e) EMI A #E

(e) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Convertible loan notes contain equity component
(Continued)

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability
component (including any embedded non-equity
derivatives features) is estimated by measuring the fair
value of similar liability that does not have an associated
equity component.

A conversion option classified as equity is determined by
deducting the amount of the liability component from the
fair value of the compound instrument as a whole. This
is recognised and included in equity, net of income tax
effects, and is not subsequently remeasured. In addition,
the conversion option classified as equity will remain in
equity until the conversion option is exercised, in which
case, the balance recognised in equity will be transferred
to share premium. Where the conversion option remains
unexercised at the maturity date of the convertible note,
the balance recognised in equity will be transferred
to accumulated losses. No gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss upon conversion or expiration of the
conversion option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the
convertible loan notes are allocated to the liability and
equity components in proportion to the allocation of the
gross proceeds. Transaction costs relating to the equity
component are charged directly to equity. Transaction
costs relating to the liability component are included in
the carrying amount of the liability portion and amortised
over the period of the convertible loan notes using the
effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BtE_—LF_—HHF=H=+—HIFFZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. EAXE:HHBEER &
(Continued)

(e) Financial instruments (Continued) () ERITH (&

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Derecognition/modification of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and
the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit
or loss.

When the contractual terms of a financial liability are
modified, the Group assess whether the revised terms
result in a substantial modification from original terms
taking into account all relevant facts and circumstances
including qualitative factors. If qualitative assessment
is not conclusive, the Group considers that the terms
are substantially different if the discounted present
value of the cash flows under the new terms, including
any fees paid net of any fees received, and discounted
using the original effective interest rate, is at least 10
per cent different from the discounted present value
of the remaining cash flows of the original financial
liability. Accordingly, such modification of terms is
accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees
incurred are recognised as part of the gain or loss on
the extinguishment. The exchange or modification is
considered as non-substantial modification when such
difference is less than 10 per cent.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2025 ElE —ZE_AF =H=+—HIFFEZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

4. BEREHBREH @

(e) EMI A #E

(e) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Derecognition/modification of financial liabilities
(Continued)

For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities
that do not result in derecognition, the carrying amount
of the relevant financial liabilities will be calculated at the
present value of the modified contractual cash flows
discounted at the financial liabilities” original effective
interest rate. Transaction costs or fees incurred are
adjusted to the carrying amount of the modified financial
liabilities and are amortised over the remaining term. Any
adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial liability
is recognised in profit or loss at the date of modification.

When the contractual terms of a convertible notes
are modified, such as extending the tenure, change
in exercise price of the underlying options, the revised
terms would result in a substantial modification from
the original terms, after taking into account all relevant
facts and circumstances including qualitative factors,
such modification is accounted for as derecognition of
the original financial liability and the recognition of new
financial liability. The difference between the carrying
amount of financial liability derecognised and the
fair value of consideration paid or payable, including
any liabilities assumed and derivative components
recognised, is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= A
777 g = |

R 75 ¥R AR Y 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BtE_—LF_—HHF=H=+—HIFFZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

U]

(9)

Construction contracts

The Group completes satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligations over time and the revenue is
recognised during the contract period based on the
performance progress, which is determined by input
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a
performance obligation relative to the total expected
inputs to the satisfaction of that performance obligation
that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring
control of goods or services. When the Group is not
able to reasonably measure its performance progress,
the Group recognises revenue only to the extent of the
recoverable amount of costs incurred until such time that
it can reasonably measure the performance progress.

Revenue recognition

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one
of the following criteria is met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2025 ElE —ZE_AF =H=+—HIFFEZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

4. BEREHBREH @

(o) MrmbEs? (40

(g) Revenue recognition (Continued)

e the Group’s performance does not create and o

enhances an asset that the customer controls as the
Group performs; or

e the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not
yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in
accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M B wRRMNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BtE_—LF_—HHF=H=+—HIFFZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(g) Revenue recognition (Continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on input
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a
performance obligation relative to the total expected
inputs to the satisfaction of that performance obligation,
that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring
control of goods or services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2025 ElE —ZE_AF =H=+—HIFFEZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

4. BEREHBREH @

(9) Wz ()

(g) Revenue recognition (Continued)

Contract cost
Incremental costs of obtaining a contract

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those
costs that the Group incurs to obtain a contract with a
customer that it would not have incurred if the contract
had not been obtained.

The Group recognises such costs as an asset if it expects
to recover these costs. The asset so recognised is
subsequently amortised to profit or loss on a systematic
basis that is consistent with the transfer to the customer
of the goods or services to which the assets relate.

The Group applies the practical expedient of expensing
all incremental costs to obtain a contract if these costs
would otherwise have been fully amortised to profit or
loss within one year.

Costs to fulfil a contract

The Group incurs costs to fulfil a contract in its
construction contracts. The Group first assesses whether
these costs qualify for recognition as an asset in terms
of other relevant standards, failing which it recognises an
asset for these costs only if they meet all of the following
criteria:

(@) the costs relate directly to a contract or to an
anticipated contract that the Group can specifically
identify;

(b) the costs generate or enhance resources of the
Group that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing
to satisfy) performance obligations in the future; and

(c) the costs are expected to be recovered.

The asset so recognised is subsequently amortised to
profit or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with
the transfer to the customer of the goods or services
to which the assets relate. The asset is subject to
impairment review.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BtE_—LF_—HHF=H=+—HIFFZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

4. ERGHBEREN @

(h) Taxation (h) 1\

Income tax expense represents the sum of current and
deferred income tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from ‘loss before income tax’
as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income because of items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group'’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition,
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

208 TSUN YIP HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024/2025

PRSI XI5 BN ER RR IE AR TR 2 48
Ao

EHIRE

EHRNREANREAFERRR &
FEtE - BRI EN x5 B m R HE
fthEmE U m R TP 2R (FRPTS AT
BRI PHRERAENBEER
fthF EERIR N AT MR U A ST T >
TFABERREARRIATNRZ
HE -A&EEZEHREBEGRDZRN
BRERAREBERAARLEERZ
MESHE -

EERE

EERMESMGEMHRERANEE
ke EREELEBRGERRN &
MZHERREME 2 ERMEEZEM
ERZNE EERBEREREEMN
PREMERINE R 1T 2 AR - EIER
HEEMFMBANNNEFEERZ
B—RERN AT ERRRR &
ALK AR NG It =
B-AERMEEERN-—REREIEE
BRNEN T AL EGHEN 25
(EBAHRIN FEREDEME
EREEMsIZB ArGEDZEIE
ERMBEEKREGRE IS BERME
ERRNEREIHEMSIZ AFg
EBZFEERBEER-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2025 ElE —ZE_AF =H=+—HIFFEZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

4. BEREHBREH @

(h) Taxation (Continued) (h) 18 #E

Deferred tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M B wRRMNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BtE_—LF_—HHF=H=+—HIFFZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(h) Taxation (Continued)
Deferred tax (Continued)

For the purpose of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attribute to
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies
HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” requirements to the lease
liabilities and the related assets separately. The Group
recognises a deferred tax asset related to lease liabilities
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will
be available against which the deductible temporary
difference can be utilised and a deferred tax liability for all
taxable temporary differences.

Current and deferred tax for the year
Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.
(i) Employee benefits
1. Retirement benefit costs
Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
are recognised as an expense when employees

have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 ElE —ZE_AF =H=+—HIFFEZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

@i

Employee benefits (Continued)

2. Short term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual
leave and sick leave in the period the related service
is rendered at the undiscounted amount of the
benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that
service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-
term employee benefits are measured at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid in exchange for the related service.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only
when, the Group demonstrably commits itself to
terminate employment or to provide benefits as a
result of voluntary redundancy by having a detailed
formal plan which is without realistic possibility of
withdrawal.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BtE_—LF_—HHF=H=+—HIFFZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

@i

Employee benefits (Continued)

4.

Long service payments

The Group’s net obligation in respect of long service
payments payable on cessation of employment
in certain circumstances under the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance is the amount of future
benefit that employees have earned in return for
their service in the current and prior periods. The
obligation is calculated using the projected unit
credit method, discounted to its present value and
reduced by entitlements accrued under the Group’s
retirement plans that are attributable to contributions
made by the Group.

For LSP obligation, the Group accounts for the
employer MPF contributions expected to be offset
as a deemed employee contribution towards the
LSP obligation in terms of HKAS 19.93(a) and it
is measure on a net basis. The estimated amount
of future benefit is determined after deducting the
negative service cost arising from the accrued
benefits derived from the Group’s MPF contributions
that have been vested with employees, which
are deemed to be contributions from the relevant
employees.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 ElE —ZE_AF =H=+—HIFFEZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

)

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other
than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible
assets to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of
the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent
of the impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation
can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to
individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis
can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BtE_—LF_—HHF=H=+—HIFFZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

)

(k)

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other
than goodwill (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit)
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, it is probable that the Group will be required to
settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made
of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. WWhen a provision is measured
using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of
those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of
money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a
third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is
virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and
the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2025 ElE —ZE_AF =H=+—HIFFEZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(k)

U]

(m)

Provisions (Continueq)

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
the existence of which will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless
the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. At the end of each
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BtE_—LF_—HHF=H=+—HIFFZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(m) Foreign currencies (Continued)

(n)

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for
exchange differences on monetary items receivable from
or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is
neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part
of the net investment in the foreign operation), which are
recognised initially in other comprehensive income and
reclassified from equity to profit or loss on repayment of
the monetary items.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
foreign operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expense items are translated at
the average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period,
in which case the exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising,
if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity under the heading of foreign
currency translation reserve.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and
geographical locations.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 ElE —ZE_AF =H=+—HIFFEZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(n) Segment reporting (Continued)

(o)

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect
of the nature of products and services, the nature of
production processes, the type of class of customers, the
methods used to distribute the products or provide the
services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material
may be aggregated if they share a majority of these
criteria.

Related party

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the
entity that is preparing the financial statements:

(1) A person or a close member of that person’s family

is related to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iiy is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group.

(2) Anentity is related to the Group if any of the following
condition applies:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
others).
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BtE_—LF_—HHF=H=+—HIFFZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(o) Related party (Continued)

@

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
condition applies: (Continueq)

(i)

(i)

(V)

(i)

(viil)

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is
a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third party.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group. If the Group is
itself such a plan, the sponsorship employers
are also related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (1).

A person identified in (1)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
service to the Group’s or the Group’s parent.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 ElE —ZE_AF =H=+—HIFFEZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(o)

(p)

Related party (Continued)

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources,
services or obligations between a reporting entity and a
related party, regardless of whether a price is charged.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity
and include:

() that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

(i) children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

(i) dependents of that person or that person’s spouse
or domestic partner.

Separate financial statement

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BtE_—LF_—HHF=H=+—HIFFZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(q) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose
entities) over which the Group has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies generally
accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of
the voting rights. The existence and effect of potential
voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible
are considered when assessing whether the Group
controls another entity.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account
for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group which
qualifies as business combination, except for those
acquisitions which qualify as a common control
combination and are therefore accounted for using the
merger accounting.

Under the purchase method of accounting, subsidiaries
are fully consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from
the date that control ceases. The cost of an acquisition
is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity
instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed
at the date of exchange and, all acquisition-related
costs are expensed. |dentifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair values at
the acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis, the Group recognises any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 ElE —ZE_AF =H=+—HIFFEZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(q) Subsidiaries (Continued)

v

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest
in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net
assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If this is less
than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference
is recognised directly in the consolidated statements of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Government grant

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable
as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support
to the Group with no future related costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable. Such grants are presented under “other
income”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BtE_—LF_—HHF=H=+—HIFFZ

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY 5. EEg: R FAHEBEEZZE

SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 4, the directors of the Company are required
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies

The followings are the critical judgments, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that management has made
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies
and that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

(i) Construction contract revenue recognition

The Group reviews and revises the estimates of contract
revenue, contract costs, variation orders and contract
claims prepared for each construction contract as the
contract progresses. Budgeted construction costs are
prepared by the management on the basis of quotations
prepared by the management on the basis of quotations
from time to time provided by the major contractors,
suppliers or vendors involved and the experience of the
management. In order to keep the budget accurate and
up-to-date, management conducts periodic reviews of
the budgets of contracts by comparing the budgeted
amounts to the actual amounts incurred. Such significant
estimate may have impact on the profit recognised in
each period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 ElE —ZE_AF =H=+—HIFFEZ

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continueq)

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies
(Continued)

(i) Construction contract revenue recognition
(Continued)

The Group recognises its contract revenue based on
input method, by reference to the contract costs incurred
up to the end of reporting period as a percentage of total
estimated costs for each contract. Because of the nature
of the activity undertaken in construction contracts, the
date at which the contract activity is entered into and
the date when the activity is completed usually fall into
different accounting periods.

6. REVENUE

(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers

Construction works BETIR

Revenue recognised over time ~ B& R R FE SR UL &

5. BEREHAERMAESARABREARZE

BRI (@)

FEREstHRERZEZHE (&

() BESHMaET ()

AEEIREE ALK

SBEHEHWA

EPZ2EZEEREMRELENEN
AR GRS E D
AR IRIBRESNETEHNMLEE
BHEENRIE] I B BT B AT 5T AY
HEEE BN ARGt

6. Uz

() FREHWR=ZDHF

2025 2024
—E_RF TEOE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
366,071 468,963
366,071 468,963

EEIEIRAT 2024/2025 3R 223



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 AH

e M B wRRMNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BtE_—LF_—HHF=H=+—HIFFZ

6. REVENUE (Continued)

(i) Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with
customers

The aggregated amount of the transaction price allocated
to the remaining performance obligation under the
Group’s existing contracts is as follow:

—FRN
BE—F

Within one year
More than one year

8 By 83 e S0 U

Revenue recognised over time

This amount represents revenue expected to
be recognised in the future from pre-completion
construction contracts entered into by the customers
with the Group.

7. OTHER INCOME

Interest income FMEUWA
Government subsidies (Note) KU #EE) (Bfat)
Sale of scrap materials THEREKL
Sundry income FEIBWA

Note:  During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group recognised
government subsidy from Construction Industry Council of

approximately HK$703,000 (2024: HK$234,000).
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“EThHE —ZmE
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET TET
357,287 345,040
796,236 431,362
1,153,523 776,402

ZEREARSMER AAEEG]

S #93 T AR5 & 49 FARIRE SR UK
o
7. HftlgA
2025 2024
—EBAREF —ZTuE
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#7T FHT
120 344
703 234
2,688 =
798 2,406
4,309 2,984

Mt -

BE_ S _AF=RA=Z+—HILEFE"

AEBERDKERSEEZ BT HED
#9703,000% 7t (ZZ U4 : 234,000%8

7o) °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 ElE —ZE_AF =H=+—HIFFEZ

8. OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES), NET

Exchange gain, net PE 2 W e 0 SRR

Net gain on disposal of property, HEME BEKRREZ
plant and equipment W FE8
Net loss on termination of lease KIFEE - EEFEE

Reversal of expected credit loss
recognised for trade receivables, net

Allowance for expected credit loss
recognised for other receivables and
deposits, net

Allowance for expected credit loss
recognised for contract assets, net

Gain on modification of promissory
note

EERIERO - 320

MENBEERRZ

AR RIBERT W

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION 9.

The Group’s segment information is presented on the basis
of internal reports that are regularly reviewed by the executive
directors of the Company, being the chief operating decision
maker (“CODM”), in order to allocate resources to the
segments and assess their performance.

In current year, the Group reorganised its reportable segments
as the media and advertising business has ceased its
operation.

Specifically, the CODM has determined the Group has
only one operating segment as the Group only engaged
in provision of civil engineering services — provision of
waterworks engineering services, road works and drainage
services and site formation works for public sector in Hong
Kong. Accordingly, only entity-wide disclosures, major
customers and geographical information are presented.

LB 7 PR W IR b S0 2 TR HA

T E fth R WR IR e 3% S
FRHEEBIEERE 38

TRHAEERIRRfE 38

8. Hfthlitm ~ (§548) > F88

2025 2024
—E-RF —EPUE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
6 20
869 76
= (1,371)
540 262
pd
(10) (1)
(13,741) (83)
17,290 =
4,954 (1,097)

DEER

FEEZDHBEHDBBERARTNITE
EEBZEERRE (TEEERK
E)) ROEBERER DB RFTEEDER
RIEMEMBH ZABHRETFUE R

REFEE ZEBCEHETERDE
RABEEMESEBERILEE-

AREME T EEBEARECEELER
EE—EEENH RASTERERSE
RETARIRERT - REBREEPIRM
KB TRERS BRI RKREBRE 75
MEMBIFEIR -HIL E25EE®
ERE - TEBERRMEER -

EEIEIRAT 2024/2025 iR 225
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BtE_—LF_—HHF=H=+—HIFFZ

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Geographical information
Revenue from external customers of the Group was all derived
Hong Kong for the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.
All non-current assets are located in Hong Kong.
Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are as

follows:

Customer A ZERH
Customer B (Note (j)) BB Z (Wa))
Customer C (Note (i) BBERA Ha))
Customer D Z2RT

Notes:

()  The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the
Group’s revenue for the respective year.
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“E_HWHFE=AR

=+—BHLEFE xEBREMNHEERZ

W EE B EH -

FREIERESEELMNER

EREEERZEHN

REMEFEEGAERBIDBEB10%Z

ERZWESIT -

2025
—E_RF
HK$°000
FET

108,654
105,965

49,586

et -

2024
“ETOF
HK$'000
FET

65,216

148,280
119,575
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 ElE —ZE_AF =H=+—HIFFEZ

10. (LOSS)/PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS

(Loss)/profit from operations has been &3& (£518) wFlJb 4840 B

arrived at after charging: MTFRIERFEESE
Contract costs recognised RAMZZBH A
as expenses”
Auditors’ remuneration 1% 25 M i B

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment™*

BB R ITE

10. Z3& (518) &

Depreciation of right-of-use assets™* {EFEEEITE"
Staff costs (note 11)*** BITRA (Wat11)
Expenses relating to BRFIAEE X

ok

Hokkok

short-term leases

Contract costs recognised as expenses mainly include
subcontracting fee of approximately HK$155,011,000
(2024: HK$251,309,000) and raw materials of approximately
HK$27,679,000 (2024: HK$26,869,000).

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment of approximately
HK$7,164,000 (2024: HK$7,147,000) and HK$678,000 (2024:
HK$848,000) have been separately expensed in cost of services
and administrative and operating expenses respectively.

Depreciation of right-of-use assets of approximately HK$1,158,000
(2024: HK$2,829,000) and HK$1,228,000 (2024: HK$ 1,228,000)
have been separately expensed in cost of services and
administrative and operating expenses respectively.

Included in the staff costs, approximately HK$107,237,000 (2024:
HK$101,256,000) was charged in cost of services.

ok

Hokkok

2025 2024
—E_RF TEOE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
356,138 450,900
650 650

7,842 7,995
2,386 4,057
116,444 105,165
859 416

BRAEBNZIZENARELATEGCES S
BHRH4155,011,0008 T (Z 2 M :
251,309,000 7T) KR 114927,679,000%8
7T (T2 Y4 : 26,869,000 7T) ©

Y ERREITEL7,164,0008 T (Z
T PU4E 1 7,147,000 7T) K2678,0007 7T

(ZZE U4 : 848,000 7T) ED BRI RS
ARASU A TBUR A& F S s 8 o

fEREE EFTEL1,158,0005 T (Z 2 Y
£ 1 2,829,000% 70) K& 1,228,000 T (ZF
VO£ : 1,228,000 7T) B2 BIRARFE M A
MEATBUR AR sz i

BT Af1E4107,237,00058 T (Z 20
£ 1 101,256,000%87T) 5t ABRTS AL 2 0

HEEIEIRAT 2024/2025 iR 227
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BtE_—LF_—HHF=H=+—HIFFZ

11. STAFF COSTS

Staff costs (including directors’
remuneration) comprise:
Wages, salaries and other benefits
Contribution to defined contribution
retirement plan

12. FINANCE COSTS

Interest on:
Lease liabilities
Promissory note (Note 27)
Default interest of convertible notes
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11. BT

2025 2024
—E_REF Z“EPE
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FET

BT (BFEEEHBN)

BIE

IE e MEMEF 114,672 102,682

TERERFURIRET BIMHRR
1,772 2,483
116,444 105,165

12. BB
2025 2024
—E-RF —EPOE
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FEIT
UTFEEZFE

HEaR 187 369
A REE (Ha227) 4,914 3,918
MR EREST B 317 7,711
5,418 11,998




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 ElE —ZE_AF =H=+—HIFFEZ

13. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND SENIOR

MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS

@i

Directors’ remuneration

The aggregate amounts of the remuneration paid and
payable to the directors by the Group for the years ended

31 March 2025 and 2024 were as follows:

Year ended 31 March 2025

Executive Director and Chief
Executive Officer:

Mr. Hui Ka Tsun (note ()

Dr. Li Yong Sheng (note (ij) and (vi)

Executive Directors:

Dr. Jiang Yan (note (i) and (vi))
Mr. Liu Da Yong (note (i) and (vi))
Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung

Mr. Kan Chun Ting Max (note ()

Non-executive Directors:

Ms. Tang Li (note (ij) and ()

Mr. Law Cheuk Hung (note (i)
Ms. Lam Shun Kin Rosita (note (1))

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Wu Guo Ming (note (1))

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron (note (vj)
Mr. Chin Chi Ho Stanley

Mr. Kwok Man To Paul (note (i))

Mr. Lai Ah Ming Leon (note (j))

HE_Z-nfF
=B=+—HLEE
HITEERITHAEH

FRBEE W)
FKFEL (W) Rv)

HiTEE .

LEBL Wai)E0)
HIRBERE Wi)E()
BEF L

BEESLE (Wazy)

FHITEE !
ERLT WFE W)
BiSIERE (W)
meEE Rt Hiz)

BUFNTEE:
RE#RE (W)
FEREE (W)
BXEFRE Watiy)
RURKE (W)

Mr. Wong Chung Yip Kenneth fnote () T BE 54 (Hiz#)

13. ESEMERESREEEME

(i) E=Bs

MBE

— = —

N

R

ETOFE=
B=Z+—HIEEEE I REMKAE

BEEMESEREUWT :

Contributions

to retirement

Salaries and benefit
Fees other benefits Bonus schemes Total

HER BIRER
s Htnigs fE4L RENGEA st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
12 1,460 - 18 1,490
12 12,583 - 19 12,614
12 908 - 18 938
8 1,202 - - 1,210
4 203 - 6 213
5 - - - 5
5 - - - 5
144 - - - 144
95 - - - 95
138 - - - 138
138 - - - 138
573 16,356 - 61 16,990
ERREIRAT 2024/2025 &£k 229
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BIE —LFE_HHF=H=+—HIFFZ

13. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(i)
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Directors’ remuneration (Continued)

Year ended 31 March 2024

Executive Director and Chief
Executive Officer:
Dr. Li Yong Sheng (note (i)

Executive Directors:

Dr. Jiang Yan (note (i)
Mr. Liu Da Yong (note (i)
Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung

Non-executive Directors:
Ms. Tang Li (note (i)
Mr. Law Cheuk Hung

HEZZ-ME
“A=+—HLEE
HITEERTHAEZ -

FXFEL W)

HiTEE .
ZEBL (WzH)
BIRBLE W)
BEREE

FHTEE .
BBL T ()
BlRiERE

Independent Non-executive Directors: 17 FEH/TEE

Mr. Wu Guo Ming
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron

Mr. Chin Chi Ho Stanley (note (iij)
Mr. Kwok Man To Paul (note (i)

Note:

RE#HEE
AEREE
SEEERE Wizt
BELE [ty

(i) Appointed on 16 April 2024.

13. EEMEREREEREMNE =

() E=ME &

Contributions
to retirement
Salaries and benefit

Fees  other benefits Bonus schemes Total

ek BIRTER]

HwE Hitrig# Te4 BEGs st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
FET FEr FET FET FET

- 12,812 - 19 12,831

12 1,440 - - 1,452

144 - - - 144

144 - - - 144

12 - - - 12

12 - - - 12

324 14,252 - 19 14,595

Bzt

(i) The directors’ emoluments were waived for the years ended
31 March 2025 and 2024.

(i) Appointed on 29 February 2024.

(iv)  Resigned on 29 November 2024.

(v)  Appointed on 29 November 2024.

(vi)  Resigned on 16 April 2024.

)
(i)

RIZEZNENA+/NBERE-
ZEEENRE_S_AFEE_E
—WE=ZBA=+—HIFEKREHN
%o
RIE_WNE_B_+HHERE-
RIE-WNE+—B -+ HE#Ee

RIE_NME+—B-_+LBEZ
o

RIZEZWEMNA+/NHEH e
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 ElE —ZE_AF =H=+—HIFFEZ

13. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS (Continueqd)

(i) Directors’ remuneration (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2025, directors’
emoluments amounted to approximately HK$2,000
(2024: approximately HK$48,000) were waived. Waived
contributions cannot be used to reduce ongoing
contributions. There were no emoluments paid by the
Group to any directors or chief executive officer as an
inducement to join, or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

14. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

The five highest paid employees the Group during the
year included two (2024: two) directors, details of whose
remuneration are set out in note 13 above. Details of the
remaining three (2024: three) highest paid employees who are
neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as
follows:

Basic salaries and other allowances £ 734 & H {285
Contributions to retirement BIREH HEIMH RN
benefit schemes

13. ESEMERESREEENE @

() EFME @

BHE_ZE_hAE=B=+—HLt=E
> ENEZEFME452,00087T
(ZZT U4 : 4948,000870) c B
BEZHREARYBRINRFEHR A
ERUTHEOEANEETIETETERA
EXNEAMEUEABFESEM
ATEBIARIMARZEZBNES

14. EEME

SEEREASFEEZAARSHEETE
EML (CENE . ML) E5 AHE
=T BEHN EXME13- 2 =4
(CEIEF =4%) RaHEE (LIER
RABZFRFETHAR) ZHBEWT !

2025 2024
—E-RF —EPUE
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FET
4,800 4,557

36 36

4,836 4,593
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BtE_—LF_—HHF=H=+—HIFFZ

14. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

14. EEME @)

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the BeFHEES MIERARBESR) 2MENTF

directors of the Company whose remuneration fell within the THHEWABMT :
following bands is as follows:

2025 2024

S T “ETUF

Number of Number of

employees employees

ESAZ ES AN

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T 21,500,000 7T - 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7875 £2,000,00078 75 3

3 !

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, none
of five highest paid individuals waived or agreed to waive
any remuneration and there were no emoluments paid
by the Group to any of the five highest paid individuals as
an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.
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15. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT)

The amount of income tax in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income represents:

Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax & #5318 — &8 151
— tax for the year —FRNIRIE

RIERRIE (H3229)
—F R

Deferred tax (Note 29)
— provision for the year

PRISIFS (E%)

Income tax expense/(credit)

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong
Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying
group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2
million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities
not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%. Accordingly,
the Hong Kong Profits Tax of the qualifying group entity is
calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million of the estimated
assessable profits and at 16.5% on the estimated assessable
profits above HK$2 million.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”), the Company and its
subsidiaries incorporated in BVI are not subject to any income
tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI respectively.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2025 ElE —ZE_AF =H=+—HIFFEZ

15. FRIFME< (%)

meBEmkEMERR@mRZAESRE

2025 2024
—E-RF —EPUE
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FEIT
132 229

(76) (794)

56 (565)

RIEESBHEROFESRMARS 5B
& EE L 52,000,000 7055 F 1 #28.25%
#2 » 2,000,00078 7T M _EiEF) 1 3216.5%
MR -FBRAAFN T AEERERE
BE B E ) A B H2 B — TR E16.5% =R o
At s EREBESBNEEANERNG
2,000,00078 7o B9 51 FE R s F1)%8.25%
#0#2 » 2,000,00078 70 L _E B 5T FEER IR i
FB1)3216.5% 7R

BEFAEREREBREREE (HBEY
BB RAER 7 AR AR EER
YESEMA I Z B A E B A
ERERRBREUEESBZEMMRE
A

EEIEIRAT 2024/2025 3R 233



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M B wRRMNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BtE_—LF_—HHF=H=+—HIFFZ

15. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) (Continueq)

Under the prevailing tax law in the PRC, the Enterprise Income
Tax rate of the subsidiary of the Company incorporated in the
PRC is 25% (2024 25%)).

The tax credit for the year can be reconciled to the loss before
income tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as follows:

Loss before income tax BRFT1SI AIES 18

Tax calculated at the rates,
applicable to profits in the
countries concerned

Tax effect of expenses not deductible R H1RIRIBERIES 2

for tax purpose MBTE
Tax effect of income not taxable for ~ HARRAIWA Z 75

tax purpose
Tax effect of temporary difference not KIERE R EE 2 N
recognised

Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses ~ B FRIEDIRNIBERIE
not recognised MBE
Tax effect of tax losses not ER =) k=

recognised MBE

PRISIRFS (E%)

Income tax expense/(credit)

16. DIVIDENDS
The board of directors does not recommend the payments

of any dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 2025
(2024: nil).
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BN A BB ELEF
BRZMEXGFEZNIE

15. ISR~ (IR%) @

RIBFREIBTHRE > AT K E MM
I Z B AT Z EFRBIRMEA25%
(ZEU4E 1 25%) ©

FRRBERREGSEa REMEEI
MR ZPRFFSIMAT IR Z BRI T ¢

2025 2024
—E_REF TR PO
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
(11,903) (9,677)
(1,957) (1,608)
1,515 2,396
(3,180) (1,350)
175 230
- (1,033)
3,503 800
56 (565)

16. iRE

EEEAREREE S RE=A
= —BLEERAEERE (CRom
£ ) o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FREMBHRRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2025 ElE —ZE_AF =H=+—HIFFEZ
17. LOSS PER SHARE
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share

attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

Loss ]

Loss for the year attributable to the AU GFESRER R E#EEEERN
owners of the Company for the KAB)HEE NELFEREER

purpose of basic and diluted loss per
share

Weighted average number of ordinary B st E S E A K E#EEEN

shares for the purpose of basic TE I NRE T S 85
and diluted loss per share

Diluted loss per share for the years ended 31 March 2025 and
2024 are the same as the basic loss per share. The calculation
of the diluted loss per share for both years did not assume the
conversion of convertible bonds as the effect is anti-dilutive.

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the
purpose of basic and diluted loss per share for the year ended
31 March 2024 has been adjusted retrospectively for share
consolidation during the year ended 31 March 2024.

17. EREE

ERBEEANEBEERELARBEERR
THRBUTBURETE

2025 2024
—E_RF TEOE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FAET
(11,341) (9,324)

Number of shares

RIZEE

56,508,897 40,553,499

BE_Z_AFKR_F-_NE=A
=+—HLEE Shk#EERAGRE
KEERE - MEFENSREEEE
BrERRAIRRESESR RAKA
BERBENE-

BE_Z_NMF=-A=+—HLFEH
UstEBREFARBEEFBEENEBER
MEFHBEERBE_Z _NEFE=A
=t+—HBLEFENRGSHELEMRSE

o
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BIE —LFE_HHF=H=+—HIFFZ

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

18. ME -BERRE

Leasehold Furnitures Office Motor
Improvements  Machineries  and fixtures equipment vehicles  Site offices Total
HEMELEE WE  EARERE WA B HEBHAE st
HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET FET FET FET FET
Cost %
At 1 April 2023 RIZZ=fMB—H 80 77,863 3,391 10,420 52,968 15,225 159,947
Additions hE - 40 7 18 3,577 - 3,642
Disposals e 80) (4,924) (2,786) 7,347) (3,157) (15,225) (33,519)
Transfer from right-of-use assets ~ BRBFEREZE - 1,450 - - - - 1,450
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RZZZME=F=+—H
RZZ-NENE—H - 74,429 612 3,001 53,388 - 131,520
Additions RE 862 2,655 108 34 4127 - 7,786
Disposals HE - (5,569) (16) (632) (4,960) - (11,077)
Transfer from right-of-use assets ~ B EERELDE - 6,126 - - - = 6,126
At 31 March 2025 RIZ2ZHE=B=1+—H 862 77,641 704 2,593 52,555 - 134,355
Accumulated depreciationand ~ R:HFERAE
impairment
At 1 April 2023 RZEZ=FME—H 80 72,194 3,118 10,128 42,567 15,225 143,312
Depreciation charge for the year ~ ERITERY - 3,058 88 % 4,753 = 7,995
Eliminated on disposals B 80) (4,924) (2,754) 7,344) (2,741) (15,225) (33,068)
Transfer fom right-of-use assets ~~ EEBEREEE - 471 - - - = 47
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RZZZME=F=+—H
RZZ-MENE—H - 70,799 452 2,880 44,579 - 118,710
Depreciation charge for the year ~ ERFERS 151 3,595 77 99 3,920 = 7,842
Eliminated on disposals HERE - (5,569) (16) (532) (4,907) - (11,024)
Transfer fom right-of-use assets ~~ EEBFEHREE - 3,732 - - - - 3732
At 31 March 2025 RZZ2ZHE=R=1+—H 151 72,557 513 2,447 43,592 - 119,260
Carrying amount IREE
At 31 March 2025 RZEZEF=A=1+—H m 5,084 191 146 8,963 - 15,095
At 31 March 2024 RIZZWNE=R=1+—H = 3,630 160 211 8,809 - 12,810

During the year, the Group carried out a review of the

recoverable amount of those property, plant and equipment.

These assets are used in the Group’s performance of provision

of civil engineering services reportable segment.

Impairment assessment

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the property, plant

and equipment and right of use assets based on higher

of fair values less costs of disposal and value in use. The

carrying amount of the relevant assets does not exceed the

recoverable amount and no impairment has been recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 ElE —ZE_AF =H=+—HIFFEZ

19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 19. FAEEE
Leased
properties  Machineries TotaI
HEYME a3 st
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FAET FAET FET
Cost: |37
At 1 April 2023 R _=FNA—H 2,760 11,796 14,556
Additions (note (i) wE (WEE)) - 1,950 1,950
Termination 1k (1,828) (6,170) (7,998)
Transfer to property, plant ~ EBREEY)EE i E K& HE
and equipment - (1,450) (1,450)
At 31 March 2024 and S ZEIMFE=A=+—H
1 April 2024 }i’z_;ﬁ_mﬁﬂﬁ =] 932 6,126 7,058
Additions (note (ii)) B (WE ) 2,648 - 2,648
Termination Ik (932) - (932)
Transfer to property, plant B EYH B E KRB H
and equipment - (6,126) (6,126)
At 31 March 2025 RZE-_AFE=B=+—H 2,648 - 2,648
Accumulated REHITERRE
depreciation and
impairment
At 1 April 2023 R_E_=FIWA—H 653 2,438 3,091
Charge for the year FAMZ 1,228 2,829 4,057
Termination w1k (1,143) (2,222) (3,365)
Transfer to property, plant BTV B E KRB H
and equipment - 471) 471)
At 31 March 2024 and RZE_WNFE=A=+—H
1 April 2024 Mk _ZE_HFEM™A—H 738 2,574 3,312
Charge for the year FRREX 1,228 1,158 2,386
Termination w1k (932) - (932)
Transfer to property, plant ~ EBREEY)E K E K& H
and equipment - (3,732) (3,732)
At 31 March 2025 S\ ZETRAF=RA=+—H 1,034 - 1,034
Carrying amount IREE
At 31 March 2025 RZEZRE=RB=+—H 1,614 - 1,614
At 31 March 2024 A ZEME=H=+—H 194 3,552 3,746
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BtE_—LF_—HHF=H=+—HIFFZ

19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

19. ERERE @

2025 2024

“ETHEF —ETHF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FAET FAET

Expenses relating to short-term leases A RAFRHITE S 2 B~ 859 416
Total cash outflow for leases (note ()  FAEIRE R HAREE (B5%()) 3,765 6,139
Addition to right-of-use assets (note (i) FREERESEE (#1:(i) 2,648 1,950

Note ():  Amount includes payments of principal of HK$2,719,000
(2024: HK$5,524,000) and interest portion of HK$187,000
(2024: HK$199,000 ) of lease liabilities and short-term lease of
HK$859,000 (2024: HK$416,000).

Note (i): ~ Amount includes right-of-use assets resulting from hire
purchase of machinery and renewal of lease.

During the current year, the Group leases certain office
premises and director’s quarter with lease term of between
24 months to 36 months (2024: certain office premises and
machinery of between 21 months to 30 months). Leases
terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide
range of different terms and conditions. In determining the
lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable
period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and
determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other
than the security interests in the leased assets that are held
by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as securities for
borrowing purpose.

The impairment assessment are disclosed in Note 18.
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W, HEcHEeEHEsaEEREM
;2,719,000 (ZTZHF :
5,524,000 70) KRF| B 2=
187,000 70 (Z = Z P94 : 199,000
7t) U 52 #AE E859,0008 7t (=&
ZDU4E : 416,00057T) °
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REFE xEBEEETHAENER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2025 ElE —ZE_AF =H=+—HIFFEZ

20. JOINT OPERATIONS 20. BERE
Details of investment in joint operations as at 31 March 2025 RIEZRERZEZNONFE=A=+—

and 2024 were as follows: HREeEtEZREFBNT

Attributable interest

Name Place of operation to the Group Principal activity
%18 EiEME FEEEGED TEXEH
2025 2024
—E"RE “ZTF
Hsin Chong Tsun Yip Joint Unincorporated joint operation 43% 43% Civil engineering
Venture (CV/2015/03) operating in Hong Kong
MEEERECV/2015/03) REBEBEZEBIEGELE TARIR
Hsin Chong Tsun Yip Joint Unincorporated joint operation 49% 49%  Civil engineering
Venture (CV/2016/10) operating in Hong Kong
MEBEEKECV2016/10) REBEEZEBZERERE TARTRE
Harvest-Tsun Yip Joint Venture  Unincorporated joint operation 49% 49%  Civil engineering
(ND/2018/02) operating in Hong Kong
i —EEHE REREEZIFBEZEAE X TARTE
(ND/2018/02)
Paul Y-Tsun Yip Joint Venture  Unincorporated joint operation 95% 95%  Civil engineering
(4/WSD/19) operating in Hong Kong
RE—EEHE REBEEZIFBIEAEhE TATHE
(4/WSD/19)
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BtE_—LF_—HHF=H=+—HIFFZ

20. JOINT OPERATIONS (Continued)

20. &L E &

Attributable interest

Name Place of operation to the Group Principal activity
%3 SE R FEEEGED TEEH
2025 2024
ZECTEEF = 112
Paul Y-Tsun Yip Joint Venture  Unincorporated joint operation 20% 20% Civil engineering
(CV/2019/04) operating in Hong Kong
RE—EXEHE REBEEZIFBFESERE TARIR
(CV/2019/04)
Paul Y-Tsun Yip Joint Venture  Unincorporated joint operation 30% 30% Civil engineering
(CV/2022/08) operating in Hong Kong
RE—EXEHE REBEEZFBEEGELE IARTRE
(CVv/2022/08)
Wo Hing - Tsun Yip Joint Unincorporated joint operation 49% - Civil engineering
Venture (ND/2024/06) operating in Hong Kong
MEEEHE REBEEZIFBIEAEhE TARIR
(ND/2024/06)
Note: Bzt -

BEBESEWEZER LAFMBEEEERSEL

Pursuant to the terms of the joint agreements, the profit sharing for each

mHDER KRR SE S 2 BmL A DR T
BERaER-

year of all joint operations listed herein above shall be distributed to the
joint operators in proportion to their respective interests.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2025 ElE —ZE_AF =H=+—HIFFEZ

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 21. B R EMEWTRIE

2025 2024
“ERE —EOFE
HK$’000 HK$ 000
F#ET FET
Trade receivables (Note (i) B 2 RWERIE (aL)) 24,237 58,317
Allowance for ECL FEHRE E R 1B E (389) (929)
23,848 57,388
Other receivables Hh U IE 443 926
Deposits e 5,182 3,373
Allowance for ECL (Note (iii)) TEHRE E R 1BEE (WaLii) (39) (29)
5,586 4,270
Prepayment (Note (i) TETTIB (B aE3)) 53,998 41,407
83,432 103,065
Less: Trade and other receivables B ORBEER NIRRT ZER
within twelve months shown W& 5 & g = IE
under current assets (82,047) (103,065)
Deposits shown under non-current  FERBIE EIE NI nBZE
assets 1,385 -

Notes:

()  Trade receivables as at the end of the reporting period mainly (i)
derived from provision of construction works on civil engineering
contracts. The related customers are mainly government
department/organisation and reputable corporations. The Group

izt -

does not hold any collateral over these balances.

An aging analysis of the trade receivables as of the end of the

REERRZEZRBIGREETZRAREM
TARTREGHNZRBEATRE - EREFEES
BURERP, R EERF 2 ¥ - AEH
SR LR EAE BT A R AR o

B 5 RUWGEIE (CINPRTRE SRR B

reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of allowance of EREPRBEEZZEHZREOTUOT ©
ECL, is as follows:
2025 2024
—_E"RE —EImE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Current to 1 month EPHRE1E A 23,848 45,671
More than 1 month but B@1EaE/LIR3ER
less than 3 months - 6,108
More than 3 months but Bima3E s E LR 12EA
less than 12 months - 5,609
23,848 57,388
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= A H
ARG

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE _— &

R 75 ¥R AR Y 5E

CAFZA=F—HIFE

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continueqd)

Notes: (Continueq)

@

(i)

(Continueq)

The Group grants an average credit period of 30 days (2024: 30
days) to its trade customers of contract works. Application for
progress payments of contract works is made on a regular basis.

Movements in the allowance for ECL of trade receivables:

The following table shows movement in lifetime ECL that has been

21. BB RHEMEWRIE (@)

HiaE - ()

)
FEBERESNIIEESEREHFHI0H
(CZTMEF 1 30H) 2 EEM -6 ITIRE
ERERREERET

BRI NBREEEREGEED

TREHBEBC A B Z EURIERESD

recognised for trade receivables in accordance with simplified Z 2 RTERRE EEEES -
approach.
HK$'000
FAET
At 1 April 2023 A _=ZFMB—H 3,431
Reverse of allowance for ECL, net FEHAE BR B ERER 35 (262)
Written off A (2,240
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 ﬁ\_g_mﬂf B=+—H%&
“E_NEMAE—H 929
Reversal of allowance for ECL, net BHIE B R R A E R[] J$EE (540)
At 31 March 2025 RZE-_HFE=B=+—H 389
Details of assessment of ECL are set out in Note 36. FEHR s BB 2 s HE R B EH N M 5E36 ¢

As at 31 March 2025, prepayments mainly comprised advance
payment to subcontractors of approximately HK$32,187,000
(2024: HK$30,079,000) and prepaid insurance of approximately
HK$21,339,000 (2024: HK$10,458,000).
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(i)

RIE_AF=-B=+—H > BNHEZE
EEERNBEE N2 EMNE32,187,000
#B7t (ZZ 204 : 30,079,000 7T) MUK
FE{JRE4921,339,000/8 5 (ZE Y £F :
10,458,000 7T) ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M B RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 ElE —ZE_AF =H=+—HIFFEZ

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)
Notes: (Continueq)

(iii) Movements in the allowance for ECL of other receivables and
deposits:

The following table shows movement in 12m ECL that has been
recognised for other receivables and deposits in accordance with
general approach.

21. BSREMEBURRRIE (@
iz &

(i) BMERFEREEERIEEEREGE
B

TREIBRE—REEMEWRIE R I%
THEZ12EABREEBEES -

12m ECL

1218 B 888

FEFEB

HK$'000

FAET

At 1 April 2023 PR E - =FMA—H 28

Allowance for ECL, net BHAEEREEE T 1
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RZB-ZWE=A=+—AK

“ETOFEPB—H 29

Allowance for ECL, net TEHAE BB EE  F5E 10

At 31 March 2025 RZFZHF=R=+—H 39

Details of assessment of ECL are set out in Note 36.

ARG ERE 2 s E S BB I 5E36
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BtE_—LF_—HHF=H=+—HIFFZ

22. CONTRACT ASSETS/CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Contract assets:
Retention receivables
Allowance for ECL, net

Contract liabilities:

Construction work

Contract with customers from
advertising income

Note:

BNEE:
W REE
TRHEEBIRER P8

alnaE:
BETR
EREERAGH

At 1 April 2023, contract assets amounted to HK$41,177,000.

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s rights to consideration

for work completed but not yet billed because the rights are conditional

on the satisfaction of the service quality by the customers over a certain

period as stipulated in the contracts at the reporting date. The contract

assets are transferred to trade receivables where the rights become

unconditional. The contract liabilities primarily relate to the advanced

consideration received from customers, for which revenue is recognised

based on the progress of the provision of related services.

The balance of contract assets (provision of civil engineering service) are

expected to be recovered/settled more than one year.
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22.

BHEE aNaE
2025 2024
—E"REF TEOE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
24,013 51,975
(14,646) (905)
9,367 51,070
59,324 82,358
389 1,575
59,713 83,933

Wiz

RIBZ=ZFMNA—H > 88EER41,177,000

BITe

BHNEETERAEENBTNEHRERER
WIZMEIRAEZENER REANEREHE
HEMENESERRAaNREN —EHBRY
REERRTMERSIIFE - ERMASEE
B ANEEBREEZRERE-aNaE
TEARFTRWEHNTAMRERR Hiltm/H 1R

BIRHAER R REE R

BNEE RHELIATRERS 2EHREAR—F

ELEIV



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M B RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 ElE —ZE_AF =H=+—HIFFEZ

22. CONTRACT ASSETS/CONTRACT LIABILITIES
(Continued)

Note: (Continueq)

Contract assets and contract liabilities which are expected to be
recovered/settled within Group’s normal operating cycle, are classified as
current.

Movement in the allowance for ECL of contract assets

The following table shows movement in lifetime ECL that has been
recognised for contract assets in accordance with simplified approach.

At 1 April 2023 R_E_=FNMF—H
Allowance for ECL, net B EEEEERE 318

At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RIZS-ME=ZA=+—A%

“ZMEMBE—H
Transfer to credit-impaired EBREEEERE
Allowance for ECL, net TEHEEEERE 28
At 31 March 2025 RIZZHE=B=+—H

22, ENEE EHNRR @

izt (8)

BN AEEERSEBRFAWE BEZE
WEERSNEBERDERRE

BRI EERIGERREEZEE)

TREFIRBECEMEGNEERD Z 2 MR

(EEAS B
Lifetime ECL

(not Lifetime ECL

credit-impaired) (credit-impaired) Total
2PRBEERIE 2HEREEHE

(It wEERME) (BEERE) et

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET FET

822 - 822

83 = 83

905 = 905

(74) 74 -

(754) 14,495 13,741

7 14,569 14,646
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BtE_—LF_—HHF=H=+—HIFFZ

22. CONTRACT ASSETS/CONTRACT LIABILITIES

23.

(Continued)

Note: (Continued)

The following provides information about contract liabilities from contract

with customers:

At 1 April

Revenue from construction work recognised
that was included in the contract liabilities
balance at the beginning of the year

Increase in contract liabilities as a result of
advance from customers during the year

Revenue from construction work recognised
in respect of amount received
during the year

Discharge of contract liabilities

At 31 March

REA—H

REPDIIAGHNEBEERE
REEHESNERTREZ
Wk

FRAERBRMEE
BREEEN

F AL E WA R FERTAY
BEI RN

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Bank balances carry interest at market rates which range from
0.001% — 0.30% (2024: 0.001% — 0.30%) per annum.

As at 31 March 2025, the cash and cash equivalents of

the Group included currencies denominated in Renminbi
amounted to approximately HK$82,000 (2024: HK$74,000)
which is not freely convertible into other currencies.
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22.

23.

BHEE GNaE @&

izt (&

UTHAEZERAHNAENERZER !

2025 2024
—E"RE —_ZE_NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
83,933 88,790
(69,925) (87,215)
211,463 278,535
(154,522) (196,177)
(11,236) =
59,713 83,933
RERREEEY

IRITHEBRETIHEFENTF0.001%E
0.30% (ZZZH4F : 0.001%%E0.30%) &t
o

N _E_HFE=ZRA=1+—H ' AEBRZIR
ERBEEEYEEUAREHSEZE
#4982,00078 7T (ZZ M4 : 74,0008
7o) EAT BHERIEHME K.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2025 ElE —ZE_AF =H=+—HIFFEZ

24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 24, BERHEMEMRIE

2025 2024

“E"RE —EPNE

HK$’000 HK$'000

F#ET FAET

Trade payables B ENTIB 30,181 43,128

Retention money payables B RE & 35,348 33,592
Amount due to a shareholder FE —SBREE =R IE (Ha2())

(Note (i) - 362
Interest payables (Note (i) FESFIE (B &) - 88,939
Other payables and accruals Hh f& S TRIB K fE 51 7B

(Note (i) (B &) 29,003 61,779

94,532 227,800
Notes: Kzt -
()  As at 31 March 2024, amount due to a shareholder represented () M2 EF=B=+—H EN—2E%E
amount due to Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung which was unsecured, TIBIEEN B EEEEZHNIE AEIEE
interest-free and repayable on demand. RERBERER-
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BtE_—LF_—HHF=H=+—HIFFZ

24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continueq)

Notes: (Continuead)

(i)  As at 31 March 2024, interest payables represented interest
of promissory note and convertible notes of approximately
HK$7,002,000 and HK$81,937,000.

(i) As at 31 March 2025, the other payables mainly comprised of
amounts due to other parties of joint operations of approximately
HK$9,020,000 (2024: HK$9,020,000). The amounts are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

The Group normally settles trade payables within 30 days
(2024 30 days) credit term. Based on the invoice date, ageing
analysis of trade payables at the end of the reporting period is

as follows:

Current to 1 month BERE1ER

More than 1 month but B 11E B B/ FeE B
less than 3 months

More than 3 months but Bia31E A B/ 1218 B
less than 12 months

More than 12 months BiB12(E B
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24. BHRHEMENRIE (@

Mzt . (48)

iy MRZZE-_WOFE=ZB=1+—H ELFHET
AREERATBREZENFE > 2R0%5
7,002,0007% 7t 5281,937,0007 7t ©

iy MRIZE_RE= ﬁ +—B > EfERIE

EREETEEERNEMEIEBAER

TE#X99, 020 000787t (ZZ ZPU4E : 9,020,000

BIT) cRENIBABIEE  RERIZRERE
iZo

REE—RHN0H (CEME: SOEI)
EEHMRNBEEZBARIAREE

A $E%,HHEEE%E‘EENMIEE’\JEEQ%’JNFHQD
T

2025 2024

d- Sk % 2 “BONF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET THT
17,855 40,037

270 269

9,279 19

2,777 2,803
30,181 43,128
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e M B RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 ElE —ZE_AF =H=+—HIFFEZ

25. LEASE LIABILITIES

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied
to lease liabilities is 5.85% (2024: 5.85%). The Group has
options to purchase the equipment for a nominal amount
at the end of the lease terms. No arrangements have been
entered into for contingent rental payments.

Lease liabilities payable:

25 HE&R

BERREESENMEFISIEEERF]
K5H5.85% (ZE MY © 5.85%) o A&
EEENRERRULESEEERE I
WL A B RET L E AL HE

Within one year R—FR
More than one year but not exceeding BB—EBRBRME
two years

Less: Future finance charges

Present value of lease obligations

Less: Amount due for settlement
within 12 months shown
under current liabilities

Amount due for settlement after 12
months

The net carrying value of leased assets used to secure
the lease obligations was approximately HK$Nil (2024

HK$3,552,000).

B ARBERX

HESEZRE

AR REBEEZM
B GIfERBER)

R12ERRIMEE LA

FENHEEEE
Present value of
Minimum lease payments minimum lease payments
RIEHEEHR REHEMRZAE
2025 2024 2025 2024
“ECRE ZEZME ZEZIE ZE”ME
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET FET FET
1,188 1,799 1,120 1,735
605 72 588 71
1,793 1,871 1,708 1,806
(85) (65) = =
1,708 1,806 1,708 1,806
(1,120) (1,735)
588 71
BRIEFEEETNEEEENERRT
BEHATHEIT (CEIU4E © 3,552,000
JT) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BtE_—LF_—HHF=H=+—HIFFZ

26. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

27.

Annual leave entitlement FR#ER
Long service payments entitement £ HAARFS ]

PROMISSORY NOTE

A promissory note with a principal amount of HK$45,040,000
was issued by Profit Station Limited (“Profit Station”), a direct
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company on 11 August 2011
(the “Issue Date”) upon the completion of the acquisition of
17% of equity interests in China New Media (HK) Company
Limited. The promissory note is unsecured, carried interest at
the rate of 3% per annum and matured on 11 August 2014.
Profit Station might early redeem all or part of the promissory
note at any time from the Issue Date. Unless previously
redeemed, Profit Station will redeem the promissory note on
its maturity date.

On 11 August 2014 (the “Renewal Date”), Profit Station has
entered into an extension agreement with the noteholder of
the promissory note pursuant to which the maturity date of
the promissory note was extended from 11 August 2014 to
11 August 2017 and the extended promissory note will be
non-interest bearing with effect from 11 August 2014 till 11
August 2017. Furthermore, the noteholder has agreed to
waive the interest accrued on the promissory note amounting
to approximately HK$4,054,000 for the period from 11 August
2011 to 11 August 2014. Except the abovementioned,
other terms and conditions of the promissory note remain
unchanged.
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26. EEEF

2025 2024
—E"REF TEOE
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FET
3,660 4,381
5,739 1,829
9,399 6,210

27. AREHE

KRBz BB E A Profit Station
Limited (I Profit Station]) N - & ——4F
NB+—8 (IE#1T8H) TR E R B
1HEE (BB BIRABZ17%RIEREZITA
& 58 %45,040,000B T2 AR B KR
EREARER REMRIEFERRZ
Z—mE N\ B +—H EIEf o Profit Stationn]
HE1TH AR IR AT ME O & I 5 20
AR B -PRIEZAIEWER > & AIProfit
Stationf i E EI B B BRI A 2 &

A ZE—mENA+—H (EHBE) >
Profit StationfBl K R BIEZ EERFE AL
STUERHE B AR EHZ I
BHEZZ—OFN\E+—HBEREZZ
—tENB+—H BRERZARE
BRE_Z—NWENB+—HEEZZE
—tENB+—HIERE IS EBF
EAEBRERRARERE S —%F
NB+—HEZZ—MWMEFENB+—HH
MR st 2 F B 494,054,000 7 o B L it
BN AR BT 2 HMIRR R R GERT
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AR M B R R M 5
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 ElE —ZE_AF =H=+—HIFFEZ

27.

PROMISSORY NOTE (Continued)

On 15 December 2017 (the “Second Renewal Date”), Profit
Station has entered into the second extension agreement
with the noteholder of the promissory note pursuant to which
the maturity date of the promissory note was extended from
11 August 2017 to 31 December 2018 and the extended
promissory note will bear interest of 3% per annum with
effect from 11 August 2017 till 31 December 2018. Except
the abovementioned, other terms and conditions of the
promissory note remain unchanged.

On 15 February 2019 (the “Third Renewal Date”), Profit
Station has entered into the third extension agreement with
the noteholder of the promissory note pursuant to which
the maturity date of the promissory note was extended from
31 December 2018 to 30 June 2020 and the extended
promissory note will bear interest of 3% per annum with
effect from 11 August 2017 till 30 June 2020. Except
the abovementioned, other terms and conditions of the
promissory note remain unchanged.

On 9 March 2021 (the “Fourth Renewal Date”), Profit
Station has entered into the fourth extension agreement with
the noteholder of the promissory note pursuant to which the
maturity date of the promissory note was extended from 30
June 2020 to 30 June 2022 and the extended promissory
note will bear interest of 3% per annum with effect from 11
August 2017 till 30 June 2022. Except the abovementioned,
other terms and conditions of the promissory note remain
unchanged.

On 31 August 2022 (the “Fifth Renewal Date”), Profit
Station has entered into the fifth extension agreement with
the noteholder of the promissory note pursuant to which the
maturity date of the promissory note was extended from 30
June 2022 to 30 June 2024 and the extended promissory
note will bear interest of 0.5% per annum with effect from
1 July 2022 till 30 June 2024. Except the abovementioned,
other terms and conditions of the promissory note remain
unchanged.

27. KREE (&

R_E—tHF+-_B+EH ((FZRE
¥ EEHA)) > Profit StationEd& R EiE» Z4E

RAEABSI LS —MIERWGZ  FEIL - K
REBZIRHE - T—CtENA+—
AERE_T-N\F+_HA=+—H'8H
RIERZAREBERBE _E—tE/N\A
+—HEEZE-N\F+ZA=+—H
IERFF)RIE B o bR L EFIN > AR T
Bz MR AR M R o

RIE—NE_B+EHEH(E=REMHA
HA1) > Profit Stationf K R iR 2 ZIRFH
ABFIIE=MERDGZ B KRR
BB EZSE—\E+ZB=+—
HEEEZ g_viﬂﬁ + 08 B
RZAREBEHEB S —TtENB+—
HEE-_Z =& fﬁ/\ﬁ + H It FEF]
EIEFTE o fr b ESN AR BT Hth
BRI AR M R o

RN_E_—F=BhH ((EOREHA
HA1) > Profit Stationfd A R EIE 2 ZRFH
ABFIIIERMERGZ HBIL AR
BZIHBEE S _SFE,A=Z+HE
REZZZIZHFA=FTH BLKERZ
AREBEEE-ZE—tHENA+—HiE
ETETFSNB=THILEFREIE
R oBR EME N KR TR 2 MR
R s R o

RZZ—_—_E#N\B=+—B (FREREH
HER)) > Profit Stationf & 7 ZE ik~ IR EF
BEABSTAFERMNERRHE BIL ) &R
EEINPAEBEB S 2FA=1+H
ERECENESB=1THBRIEER
ZEAREBRKE_ZE_"_FtA—HE
EEOENB=F+HIERENEK0S

BB o bk Bl E I AR ERR 2 HAK
AR AR HERF R o
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27.

PROMISSORY NOTE (Continued)

On 13 June 2024 (the “Sixth Renewal Date”), Profit
Station has entered into the sixth extension agreement with
the noteholder of the promissory note pursuant to which
the maturity date of the promissory note was extended
from 30 June 2024 to 30 June 2027 and the extended
promissory note will bear no interest with effect from 1
July 2024 till 30 June 2027. Moreover, all unpaid accrued
interest of approximately HK$7,059,000 will be payable on
30 June 2027. Except the abovementioned, other terms
and conditions of the promissory note remain unchanged.
The extension was considered as substantial modification in
which the original promissory note was fully de-recognised
and a new promissory note was recognised at fair value.
The difference between the carrying amount of the original
promissory note and the fair value of the new promissory note
was recognised in consolidated profit or loss at the date of
modification.

On Sixth Renewal Date, the fair value of the liability component
of the extended promissory note was reassessed and
calculated using an equivalent market interest rate for an
equivalent instrument at the Sixth Renewal Date. The fair value
of the extended promissory note at the Sixth Renewal Date
amounted to approximately HK$34,809,000. The fair value
is calculated using discounted cash flow method at a rate of
14.15%.

A —H
BUB SRR A L R

At 1 April

De-recognition of the original
promissory note

Recognition of new promissory note

upon substantial modification of MEARERE
the original promissory note
Transfer of interest payables B HMERIE
from other payables BHEMNH S
Interest expense (Note 12) MERZ BaE12)
Interest payables FESFIS
At 31 March R=A=+—H

Less: Within twelve months shown — J& .
under current liabilities

+ERR

JEREBBE T

Shown under non-current liabilities
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27. KRREE &

R-EBEZNENB+=H (FARREHAH
HR1) > Profit Staﬂonéﬁﬁ(ﬂ?ﬁiﬁziﬁﬁhﬁ
ANBILERNDIEERZE B KEE
EBEZEEEHBE ZZ @E/\ﬁ + Bt
REE_t+tEA=Z+HBKIERZ
AREHEBEE ST _WELtA—HERE
TETtEERAZ+TRHIERE SN B
BARMESTFI B 47,059,000 T 1 —
ETEEFEARB=ZtTHEIZ [ oREMESIN
AREE 2 HMER R R HEIF RS o it
EWEAEABI BERTERDTE2E
HEES W AT EERAREE R
AR EBERETRANAKREZEATFE
ZERBMORBIIHPEGEERRTE

=]
E

REANREHBH KERZARER
ZEBEED 2 RAFERBNREHNBH
BUFEBIAZEEHHAREM K
B IR Z AR BIRZ A FEREBRR
E B HI#4934,809,0008 70 o A TFETS
RARBESREZEL14.15% 2 BEIR=K
st&e

2025 2024
—E-RF —E Ty
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
44,122 40,429
(52,099) -
34,809 =
7,059 =
4,914 3,918

(56) (225)

38,749 44,122

= (44,122)

38,749 -
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 ElE —ZE_AF =H=+—HIFFEZ

28. CONVERTIBLE NOTES 28. Al R

On 9 December 2011, the Company issued convertible notes
with the principal amount of approximately HK$607,030,000,
carried interest at the rate of 5% per annum as part of the
consideration for the acquisition of Xinhua TV Asia Pacific
Operating Co., Limited. Each note entitles the holder
to convert to ordinary shares at a conversion price of
approximately HK$0.196 per share.

Conversion may occur at any time between 9 December 2011
and 8 December 2014. If the notes have not been converted,
the Company will redeem on 9 December 2014 at the
outstanding principal amount. Interest of 5% per annum will
be paid annually until the notes are converted or redeemed.

On 9 December 2014, the Company entered into the
supplemental deed with China Xinhua News Network
Co., Limited (“China Xinhua NNC”), the sole holder of
the outstanding convertible notes, pursuant to which the
Company and China Xinhua NNC agreed to amend certain
terms and conditions of the convertible notes, where (i) the
maturity date of the convertible notes will be extended for 3
years and the conversion period will accordingly be extended
for 3 years to 9 December 2017; and (i) the interest rate of the
convertible notes will be amended from 5% per annum to 3%
per annum for the extended period, being from 9 December
2014 to 9 December 2017.

On 13 December 2017, the Company entered into the second
supplemental deed with China Xinhua NNC, the sole holder
of the outstanding convertible notes, pursuant to which the
Company and China Xinhua NNC agreed to amend the term
and condition of the convertible notes, where the maturity date
of the convertible notes will be extended for 1 year and the
conversion period will accordingly be extended for 1 year to 9
December 2018.

R_ZB——F+ZBAB ARTETE
T #A#3%9607,030,0007% 7t > 1R F | K58
SHRZ MR ER (PR WIEMEEBR DR
SEZEERADZHBONE -BHERE
BT HA ARFNRESRRDA0.19678 T
ZHRERBAEER-

AMREREIN _Z——F+_-ANA
EZ-ME+ZANBHBEABERER
BMoERERZTHR XRABTRN T
—NE+ZANHBORTEEAERE -5
FOBEZFMERBARERN EEHER
oI

A ZE-—NE+ZBNH AT EEE
THRARREBRE A ARBEMEN
MEREERLE (THEMEMBEER
M) T MRS B A AT B P ER
ENEERARRBIIURRERZA
TIER R AE M Eoh(i) el IR E# 2~ I H
AL R3F AR MAEEERIEE
Z—tHF+IZHRAH; KiERAM B =
E—OF+-_ANAHEZZE—t&FE+Z
BNB) 2 RERZFEXFHESFSE
CHE ISR

R-Z—t&+-HA+=H > ~ATEH
RRBAMRERE—FH AP RRE
MEERMATIE MRS BIEA
AR RPEFEMEBRERRET A
MR BB Z AR AFR M » HR IR &
Z B ARER1E > BRI A REE
RIFE"Z-/\F+ZANB-
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28.

CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)

On 9 December 2018, the Company entered into the third
supplemental deed with China Xinhua NNC, the sole holder
of the outstanding convertible notes, pursuant to which the
Company and China Xinhua NNC agreed to amend the term
and condition of the convertible notes, where the maturity date
of the convertible notes will be extended for 2 years and the
conversion period will accordingly be extended for 2 years to
9 December 2020.

On 25 January 2021, the Company entered into the fourth
supplemental deed with China Xinhua NNC, the sole holder
of the outstanding convertible notes, pursuant to which the
Company and China Xinhua NNC agreed to amend the term
and condition of the convertible notes, where the maturity date
of the convertible notes will be extended for 1 year and the
conversion period will accordingly be extended for 1 year to
9 December 2021. Except the abovementioned, other terms
and conditions of the convertible notes remain unchanged.

On 9 December 2021, the Company had default in repayment
of principal amount of convertible notes of approximately
HK$257,030,000 and interest thereon of approximately
HK$64,128,000.

On 5 February 2024, the Company and China Xinhua NNC
entered into the fifth supplemental deed to amend certain
terms of the convertible notes (the “Existing Convertible
Notes”) in which the maturity date of the outstanding
Existing Convertible Notes was extended to 9 December
2025. The interest rate of the Existing Convertible Notes
shall be retrospectively reduced from 3% to 0.8% per
annum from 10 December 2021 to 9 December 2025. The
fifth supplemental deed took effect on 15 April 2024. The
noteholder should mandatorily convert all of the outstanding
principal and interest amount of the Existing Convertible
Notes on the maturity date. The amendments of terms of the
Existing Convertible Notes was considered as substantial
modification. As a result, the existing liability and equity
portion of convertible note was de-recognised. As the
noteholder should mandatorily convert all of the outstanding
principal and interest amount of the the Existing Convertible
Notes upon the maturity date, there was no liability portion
for the Existing Convertible Notes after the substantial
modification. The difference between the fair value of equity
portion and the principal amount of the Existing Convertible
Notes was credited to capital reserve in reserves as it was
considered to be a deemed contribution from shareholder.
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28.

CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)

On 5 February 2024, the Company and China Xinhua
NNC entered into two convertible notes subscription
agreements for issuance of convertible notes of
approximately HK$64,127,855 (the “Convertible Notes A”)
and HK$16,240,000 (the “Convertible Notes B”) for settling
the Existing Convertible Notes interests and broadcasting
fee respectively. Convertible Note A and B are due on 9
December 2025 at the initial conversion price of HK$0.196
per conversion share with 0.8% interest rate per annum.
The completion of the issuance of Convertible Notes A
and Convertible Notes B took place on 15 April 2024. The
noteholder should mandatorily convert all of the outstanding
principal and interest amount of Convertible Notes A and
Convertible Notes B upon the maturity date, there was no
liability portion for Convertible Notes A and Convertible Notes
B. The difference between the fair value of equity portion and
the principal amount of Convertible Notes A and Convertible
Notes B was credited to capital reserve in reserves as it was
considered to be a deemed contribution from shareholder.

The fair value of the Existing Convertible Notes, Convertible
Notes A and Convertible Notes B was determined by
Binomial Option Pricing Model valuation method and the
significant unobservable inputs are volatility rate and risk-free
rate of approximately 43.7% and 3.89% respectively.

A — 5 —

As at 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024
and 1 April 2024

De-recognition of the original
convertible note
Recognition of Existing Convertible

Notes upon substantial RIRA OB EER
modification of the original
convertible note

Issue of Convertible Notes A and TR E
Convertible Notes B m?)*;B

As at 31 March 2025

\ZE_=FmA—H-
“ECMF=RB=+—Hk
“ZmMFEMB—H

BUH FESD R Pl AR R 45

EAR BJ %

R-ZE-_RE=H=+—H

28. AIIREE (@)

RIE_WNE_BAH > ARFEAFE
HEMBERBET LMD oI IRZER
B LLEB1TH R4 %464,127,8558 7T
(MeI IR E A 1) F 16,240,000 7T (M)
HMIREEB)) 2 BRER UEHEIRE
MR EENF B RIENE - o[ IR i
ARBRZEZAF+ZANHIH 1T
B BAESRIBRR7ND0.19678 7T FF)
EA08% N _E_MENMA+HARMK
FTA MR ERAKR TR R EEB « RIREF
BEABRI A HARGSHTRRERAKR
MR EEBZ A M REERSRERF]
B il EHAR nl R I8 EEBIT

BED - TR EEARK AR ZEB/Y
ﬁeé T E D AFEAASE L EZEEFA

REEPZERHE LRA/RIERRL
iéf()

RAENBRKRER T RREBRARABRR
EEBZAFEU B AEEBER
HMEZEE  EXTAERBABEERK
B R K A R E D 5#943.7%523.89% °

REXREST R MR BHRERE

Liability Equity
Component component
BBy HEE S
HK$'000 HK$ 000
FET TFET
257,030 14,400
(257,030) (14,400)

- 20,040

o 6,151

- 26,191
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29. DEFERRED TAXATION

The followings are the deferred tax liabilities recognised in RERBRRERAES 2
the consolidated statement of financial position and the RESSUIT .

movements thereon:

ZIRERIBE R

Accelerated
depreciation
allowances

IR E
BE
HK$'000
FAET
At 1 April 2023 A _E_=FMNA—H 2,283
Charged to profit or loss for the year (Note 15) FRRBEZH HaE15) (794)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RIZEZWPE=A=+—HK
“E_WEEMB—H 1,489
Charged to profit or loss for the year (Note 15) FERNRIEBEH HaE15) (76)
At 31 March 2025 R-_Z2_HZF=HA=+—H 1,413
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused REREGHER AEEEXFHERERHIR
tax losses of approximately HK$129,946,000 (2024: #)75129,946,0008 0 (ZEZIMF © &
approximately HK$108,718,000) available for offset against 108,718,00078 7t) 7] A {E 1K 8 J #% bR #8
future profits that may be carried forward indefinitely. No ,‘E%ZEEJIE/ S A1) o FRFA R 2R i 1) 218 R £ 1L
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the tax R B LR B R BRI ERIEE
losses due to the unpredictability of future profits streams. J% e
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30. SHARE CAPITAL 30. i&#&
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.001 each as at RZZZ=FNMA—H

1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 —E_NE=A=+—HkK
“ZTFEMB—-HERK

HE{E0.001B T &R
Share consolidation (note (i) &6t W)
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each as at RIZZRFE=A=1+—HB&8R
31 March 2025 HE01ATZEER
Issued and fully paid: BRTREE:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.001 each as at RIZZ=FmA—H"

1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 —E-ME=A=+—Hk
“ZTMENE—HER

E{E0.0017B T2 BER
Issue of shares (note () BT (W32)
Share consolidation (note (i) Bp &4t Ha20))
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each as at RIZEZRFE=B=1+—HEK
31 March 2025 H{E0 BT EER

Number of Nominal
Shares value
RpEE EfE
HK$'000

FET

500,000,000,000 500,000
(495,000,000,000) -
5,000,000,000 500,000
4,055,349,947 4,055
1,666,666,667 1,667
(5,664,796,448) -
57,220,166 5,722
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30. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

(i)

On 5 February 2024, the Company, as issuer and Mr. Kan Kwok
Cheung, an executive director and the shareholder of the Company,
as subscriber, entered into the share subscription agreement,
pursuant to which the Company has conditionally agreed to allot
and issue, and Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung has conditionally agreed to
subscribe for, an aggregate of 1,666,666,667 subscription shares at
the share subscription price of HK$0.012 per subscription share at
a total consideration of HK$20,000,000. The share subscription has
been completed on 15 April 2024.

The one hundred (100) to one (1) share consolidation has been
approved by the shareholders at extraordinary general meeting of
the Company on 17 June 2024 and became effective on 19 June
2024.
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30. &% (&

izt -

(i)

RIZEZWNEZRA B ARE (EAET

N) BEERABMITE SRR BRI E (F
AR STURMBER R B ARF
BRGREREE RET MEBRFELERRK
HRIEFHE A 1,666,666,667 R RR7
BHREEASRIBERH0.0128 7T 42
R 1E%20,000,0008 70 ZBRDBEER
—=

“ETMFEMNB+HEBTEMR

—HA10)REHA—NRNERHEHERZ
E_WHEANATTHESATRERR X
gEEREE TR _SE-MENA+TA
BEMR-
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31. RESERVES 31. f#fA
The following describes the nature and purpose of each P ER AR & BRI E
RER

reserve within owners’ equity:

Reserve

&t

Share premium

in @&

Foreign currency translation
reserves

NI E R

Other reserves

Hthf#

Accumulated losses
RETE1B

Capital reserves

BARfEH

Description and purpose

iR B 8y

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the share premium
account of the Company is distributable to the shareholders provided that
immediately following that date on which the dividend is proposed to be
distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts when they
fall due in the ordinary course of business.

REREEEAEE RABRM GERA D IK TR EEEEIK
RS2 BEAE K ABIRAEMH (B BEF BRI NER-

Foreign currency translation reserve represents foreign exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations.
The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy set out in
note 4.

SMEMBREIERBERENEFR M BEBRRMEE 2 INEER ELR & #
FHIRE M EE485 2 Gt BURERIE

Other reserve of the Company represents the difference between the
consolidated net assets of the subsidiaries at the date on which they were
acquired by the Company and the nominal amount of the Company’s shares
issued for the acquisition at the time of the Reorganisation.

RABTINEMBEIENB AT AATINEZ HNAEEERFEEAR
BN ERAZHMNEERITZRMNEE 8.

Cumulative net losses recognised in profit or loss.
PRIBm PR Rt 1R P8

The capital reserve of the Group represents the additions during the year

represent the injection of additional paid-up capital by the shareholder.

FEENEARBEEFARE  ERRIFHZEBRIMNIRRAEE
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32. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM 32. i & ZEIEEX 7 B EHIE

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

At 1 April 2023

Cash outflow:
Repayment of lease liabilities
Other non-cash movements:
Termination of lease
Addition of lease liabilities
Interest expense (Note 12)
Interest payables

At 31 March 2024 and
1 April 2024

Cash outflow:
Repayment of lease liabilities

Other non-cash movements:
Addition of lease liabilities
Modification of convertible note
Transfer of interest payable upon

modification of promissory note

Modification of promissory note
Interest expense (Note 12)
Interest payables

At 31 March 2025

Lease Promissory Convertible Interest
Liabilities note notes payables
(Note 25) (Note 27) (Note 28) (Note 24) Total
HEEE ARER THEER FE(IHIS
(Hzt25) (Hi3227) (Hi7t28) (Hi5t24) mt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
R-ZE_=FmA—H 8,465 40,429 257,030 81,003 386,927
RER
BEHERR (5,723 - - - (5,723)
HittJeR & 28 .
RILAE (3,255) - - - (3,255)
REMESAE 1,950 - - - 1,950
FERE Wiz12) 369 3,918 7,711 - 11,098
FEfIF 8 - (225) (7,711) 7,936 =
RIEZME
=B=+—-BRk
“Z-NEME—A 1,806 44,122 257,030 88,939 391,897
REeRd
BEREAR (2,906) = = = (2,906)
HttJrR& 28
HEMESE 2,621 = = = 2,621
MAREEE] - - (257,030) (82,253) (339,283)
PETRRERREE
ERFIE - 7,059 = (7,059) =
AREEE] = (17,290) = = (17,290)
SRS Waz2) 187 4,914 317 = 5,418
E(TFI S - (56) (317) 373 =
RIZZHE
=R=+-H 1,708 38,749 - - 40,457
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33.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed
at a board meeting held on 11 August 2010 for the primary
purpose of providing incentives or rewards to participants for
their contribution to the Group. The Share Option Scheme
expired on 10 August 2021. Under the Share Option Scheme,
the Board may grant options to the Directors, employees,
non-executive Directors, suppliers of goods and services,
customers, advisors and consultants, shareholders or any of
its subsidiaries for the primary purpose of providing incentives
to them, to subscribe for shares in the Company with the
payment of HK$1 per offer.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Share Option Scheme is not permitted
to exceed 10% of the Shares of the Company in issue at the
date of listing of the Shares unless the Company obtains the
approval of the Shareholders in general meeting for refreshing
such 10% limit, in which case the total number of Shares in
respect of which options may be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company as “refreshed” shall not exceed 10% of the total
number of Shares in issue as at the date of the approval of
the Shareholders on the refreshment of the limit. The number
of Shares in respect of which options may be granted to
any individual in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1%
of the Shares of the Company in issue at any point in time,
without prior approval from the Company’s Shareholders.
Options granted to substantial shareholders or independent
non-executive directors in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s
share capital or with a value in excess of HK$5 million must be
approved in advance by the Company’s Shareholders.

33. LURRIn B EREZ IR

ARBREN_Z-—FFN\A+—HS
TZEFTERBHEIRBRRMNER
stE (ERERE))  TE25ENSEA
EHRNAERZERARFRMHE R
B-lBRESEN _Z_—F/\A+HE
moRBEREME EFEAMES
BE -FFATEST EmkRBZHE
BER - BERRBHAT RRIEE
ANBARKLERE TB2EERRKRS
RESE UEBBHENXM1EBTZ
BB A R B RRAD

RIEBREE A ERE ZBRERY
RRDBE > TRBENKRN EHBE
REIZEBHEITRNAII0%  ERRBRK
RAG LERFRHLEBMARBIONIRE
BRON FELLIB R S - IRIR TS B3 lE iR 18
StEI KA~ EME R H S e #E 51 8 T BE
Rz BRIEFTY RN BE T SBAE
REMESHIRBEZEDSHTRMDBE
A10% - ER BB AR B RREFTHERN
BRT RE—FRBEEENALR
2 BEBREFTY RIRINEE > N EBBE
ARRERRKEEZEZETRON1%-
HERFEIERRIBUFATEETZE
RIEBBEABRAZ01%HEEBE
5,000,00078 70 HI A RAREIRIEZ X TR
RATRRE LA
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33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (Continued)

Options granted must be taken up within 21 business days
of the date of grant, upon payment of HK$1 per each grant
of options. Options may be exercised in whole or in part by
the grantee (or his legal personal representatives) at any time
before the expiry of the period to be determined and notified
by the board to the grantee which in any event shall not be
longer than ten years commencing on the date of the offer
letter and expiring on the last day of such ten-year period
subject to the provisions for early termination as contained in
the Share Option Scheme. The exercise price is determined
by the Directors and will not be less than the highest of the
closing price of the Shares on the Stock Exchange on the date
of grant, the average closing prices of the Shares on the Stock
Exchange on the five trading days immediately preceding the
date of grant of the options or the nominal value of the Shares.

All share-based employee compensation will be settled in
equity. The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to
repurchase or settle the options other than by issuing the
shares.

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, no share
option was granted, exercised, expired or lapsed and there is
no outstanding share option under the Share Option Scheme.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 ElE —ZE_AF =H=+—HIFFEZ

34. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, during the years ended 31 March 2025 and
2024, the Group had entered into the following transactions
with related parties which, in the opinion of the directors of the
Company, were conducted on normal commercial terms and
in the ordinary course of the Group’s business.

3. EXRAERRS

BREAHBRERGBIFREE
SBE-B-AER_B-MNEZA
S+—AiERE AEEEEES BT
ThRS AARNEERARSER SR
ERBEETL R AEEDEEHBR
T o

(@ During the year, the Group entered into the following

related party transactions:

Related party relationship
RAE 7 R &

China Xinhua NNC

FRETEE T E B AR A

Ever Yield Toprich Limited
(note (1))

X BIEBRAE FE))

Shing Lee Construction
Machinery Co. Limited
(note (i)

RAREEMEIRAS
(H1a3))

Notes:

Type of transaction

3 5

Accrued default interest on
convertible note

ARG BB ESHELR R

Rental payment (note (i)

&R W)

Motor vehicle license fee (note (i)

MEBIRIRE (Wa)

@ FRFEEFTIUTHEELARS

2025 2024
- R 3 —EmE
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET TET

- 7,058

583 -

144 -

Mzt -

()  Asat 31 March 2025, Ever Yield Toprich Limited and Shing
Lee Construction Machinery Co. Limited are beneficially
owned by Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung, an executive director and
controlling shareholder of the Company.

(i) These transactions are de minimis transactions under Rule
20.74(1) of the GEM Listing Rules and therefore all of them
are fully exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval,
annual review and all disclosure requirement under Chapter
20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

=

() MZIBZHEF=ZA=+—H>XKxA
ERRAB BN EERMARAT
HARBZHITEE RIERKRFEE
HREBDHER-

(i) ZZEXHBGEMEHIBEIE20.74(1)E
BN ZHEREBERRKFIFNRSG R
It IRIFGEM EMRAIZE20E » ZER
SEBERRETHIIREHME F
EERKBIRERE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BtE_—LF_—HHF=H=+—HIFFZ

34. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(b)

Compensation of key management personnel of the
Group

The key management personnel of the Group are the
directors of the Company. Details of the remuneration
during the year are set out in Note 13.

35. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

(@)

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the additions
to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities were
approximately HK$2,648,000 and HK$ 2,621,000
respectively (2024: HK$1,950,000 and HK$1,950,000
respectively in respect of lease arrangements of
machineries) in respect of lease arrangements of renewal
of lease.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, Convertible
Notes A and Convertibles Notes B of approximately
HK$64,127,855 and HK$16,240,000 was issued for
settling the Existing Convertible Note interests and
broadcasting fee respectively.

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Categories of financial instruments

Financial assets EMEE

Amortised cost (including cash  # iSRS (BIEIRES K
and cash equivalents) REZEEY)

Financial liabilities Eodct =R

Amortised costs #iH Al A
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34.

(b)

35.

(@

36.

EXRERRS @

FEETEEEASHN

FEETEEEABRETRTES-
FRMNEF BRI MIFE13

ERFRERB

BE_Z_AE=-A=+— ElJJ:¢
B REENEZHETHIE
@ﬁﬁ?ffeéiéé)ﬁ’z%ﬁaﬁﬁﬁﬁu,@%
2,648,0003 7T 2,621,000 70 (Z &
TUNE SIS E R RE DR
#$1,950,00078 7T 521,950,000/ 7T) ©

BHE_ZE_#AF#=HA=+—HLt
FE ERNZETUMRKREREAR
Pl HARE Z1EBAY64,127,8558 T K
16,240,000 75 » LENIRE AR
ZRANNERERE -

THMIA

() =T ERER

2025 2024
¥R —TTE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
85,555 109,880
144,388 536,968
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 ElE —ZE_AF =H=+—HIFFEZ

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Company’s major financial instruments include
trade and other receivables, deposits, cash and cash
equivalents, trade and other payables, employee
benefits, promissory note, lease liabilities and convertible
notes. Details of the financial instruments are disclosed
in respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments include market risk (currency
risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set
out below. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

(i) Credit risk management

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable
to its trade and other receivables, deposits,
contract assets and cash and cash equivalents.
Management has a credit policy in place and the
exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an
ongoing basis.

Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the
financial condition of trade customers and, where
appropriate, credit guarantee insurance cover is
purchased. Normally, the Group does not obtain
collateral from customers.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the carrying amounts of the recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

36. €M TH #@

(b) =FhEMEEEBNKREER

ARBZETETMTABEES K
HthEWHRIE R - ReREFEEF
BY BZREMENNRE EER
M EARRB -HEAGERITBKRE
BeozFEMIT AZFBIRARMEE
hRE-RZEESHMIEERZEA
pEETSRR (EERRRFXE
%) MEERBEORBIE £ R o B
ZERABZBRN TXHY - EEE
HZFRBETEERER  BRU
REBMZHANEBTBEER K-

() EEEREE

rEBEZEERBREIERBE
ZREMEBWRIE - ZE G4
EEUKRRERBAESEY -E
ERERIUGEBR THER
EFEENZEEERR -

FEBEESHEZERHMBHNR
METHEEEN G UBEE
EEFREERE WER) - —RKRM
5 AEETERR R ISR

2o
AEBZEERARIERER

MHERRAKRFAREESERME
EZREEFRFZE-
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BtE_—LF_—HHF=H=+—HIFFZ

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(M

Credit risk management (Continued)

The default risk of the industry and country in which
customers operate also has an influence on credit
risk but to a lesser extent. At the end of reporting
period, the Group has a certain concentration of
credit risk as 50.0% (2024: 51.3%) and 99.5%
(2024: 98.5%) of the total trade receivables was
due from the Group’s largest customer and the five
largest customers respectively.

The Group applies the simplified approach to
provide for ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime ECL provision for all
trade receivables and contract assets. To measure
the ECL, trade receivables and contract assets
have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics. The Group has performed historical
analysis and identified the key economic variables
impacting credit risk and ECL. It considers available
reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking
information.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and
other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-
up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In
addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount
of each individual debt at the end of the reporting
period to ensure that adequate impairment losses
are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard,
the directors of the Company consider that the
Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 ElE —ZE_AF =H=+—HIFFEZ

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36. M T H #&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(b) EREAKREERBNREE (@)

(i) Credit risk management (Continued) (i) EEEREE (&
As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, trade receivables N_E_AFKRZZEZNF=
and contract assets that are individually significant B=1+—H BHENBEAN
have been separately assessed for impairment. BOBKRTERENEEET
The Group make periodic assessments on the BIREN G AEERERR
recoverability of the receivable based on the NEsEkBE -BERPEEIRHK
background and reputation of the customers, BELREHTHERZREN
historical settlement records and past experience. B YR [E]4 o
The following table provides information about the TREHEBESERRBEREEHN
exposure to credit risk for trade receivables and BEZEERRE NHRERE
contract assets which are assessed on a collective EFEBERBEEEREREZMTE
basis by using provision matrix within lifetime ECL HEEBEE (TEGSERE) K
(not credit-impaired). Debtors with credit-impaired ?TE RZE_RF=R=+—
on contract assets of gross carrying amounts » KRR TH = %8 73 14,569,000/8 7T
of HK$14,569,000 as at 31 March 2025 (2024: (_ T_MF  THT) 2 HIR
HK$NIl) were assessed individually. EEREZENEERKIEM
BETE BTG -
Trade receivables B ZENIE
At 31 March 2025 R_E_HF=A=+—H
More than
3 months but Total
Currentto 1 month to less than More than carrying
1 month 3months  12months 12 months amount
BBE 1188 EAMUL
18R F3MEA ELM2BE  12AMUL IREA%E
HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000
FET FET FET FET FET
ECL rate FHEEFER 1.60% - - - 1,60%
Gross carrying amount REAE 24,237 - - - 24,237
Lifetime ECL SHEREEFE (389) - - - (389)
23,848 - - - 23,848
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

36. EMTH @

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

(i) Credit risk management (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

At 31 March 2024

ECL rate
Gross carrying amount
Lifetime ECL

Contract assets

At 31 March 2025

ECL rate
Gross carrying amount
Lifetime ECL

At 31 March 2024

ECL rate
Gross carrying amount
Lifetime ECL
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BEEHESR
REEE
2HBHEEHE

B EEEE
EEAE
2HEREEES

B LA
RELE
2HBHELFE

(b) ERdERR

EEENRBR (&

() GEREEE (&
B ZEWHIE (B)
AR IMFE=-A=+—H
More than
3 months but Total
Current to 1 month to less than More than carrying
1 month 3 months 12 months 12 months amount
BBE 188 EAMU L
18A @A ELR12EE  12@AME IRELE
HKS fOOQ HKS IOOQ HKS IOOQ HKS :OOQ HKS fOOQ
FET FET FET FET FET
1.51% 1.91% 1.91% - 1.59%
46,372 6,227 5,718 - 58,317
(701) (119 (109) - (929)
45,671 6,108 5,609 - 57,388
BHEE
R_E_H5F=R=+—H
More than
3 months but Total
Currentto 1 month to less than More than carrying
1 month 3months 12 months 12 months amount
BHE 188  3ERAMUL
1188 E3MEA ELM2BE  12BAMNE IR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
0.82% - - - 0.82%
9,444 - - - 9,444
(77 - - (77
9,367 - - - 9,367
A ZETNFE=A=+—H
More than
3 months but Total
Current to 1 month to less than More than carrying
1 month 3 months 12 months 12 months amount
BEE 188  SEAML
REE @B EBLR12EE  12@BME IR
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
FET FET FET FET FET
1.74% - - - 1.74%
51,975 - - - 51,975
(905) - - - (905)
51,070 - - - 51,070
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 ElE —ZE_AF =H=+—HIFFEZ

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36. M T H #&)

(b) EREAREEBNREE (&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

provided HK$14,569,000 (2024: HK$NIl) expected
credit loss allowance made on debtors with credit-
impaired debtors on contract assets.

Amounts due from other paritners of joint operations

The Group regularly monitors the business
performance of the joint operations. The Group’s
credit risks in these balances are mitigated through
the value of the assets held by these entities and the
power to participate or jointly control the relevant
activities of these entities. The management believes
that there are no significant increase in credit risk
of these amounts since initial recognition and the
Group provided impairment based on 12m ECL.

Other receivables and deposits

For other receivables and deposits, the directors of
the Company make periodic individual assessment
on the recoverability of other receivables and
deposits based on historical settlement records,
past experience, and also quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportive forward-looking information. The
expected credit loss rate for other receivables is
1.1% (2024: 0.7%). The management believes that
there are no significant increase in credit risk of these
amounts since initial recognition and the Group
provided impairment based on 12m ECL.

(Continued)
(i) Credit risk management (Continued) () EEEREREE (&)
Contract assets (Continueqd) EREE (8)
During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group BE_Z_RFE=HA=+—H

IEFFE > zt:%lmtﬁfﬁfaiéfﬁx@
ZEHNEERKRARGERBR
EEE 8% 4914,569,0008 7T
(ZEZmFE THT) ©

WS E T EAMS (FBHA
v

rEEEHERSELEZE
BRRE - AEEEBZSFEREM
SEEBEKRSHNHRES
ZEEBRMEREE ZE RBIE
rEBRZSEHRZEERR
EEERD BABRESBLK
ZETRZEERRILEKNE
i‘hD&K%@ﬁﬁ’*mflﬁiﬁ,ﬁﬁ
EERESHERERRF-

HitERHERZEE

MEMEBWRIBERZEMES > &
@T%%ﬁ#Lﬁmﬁﬁﬁi_

ARBURBEIEGHBNAIRE
&ﬁﬂ%m%&m@ﬁﬂJﬂﬁ
18 U R IE e ¥ < B9 1] [B] UK 1
& HAETTE B 571  E A FE UK
BENTEREER EEK%H%C_
TTEFE0.7%) cBIEERA
@w%ﬁ%uk ﬁ#%ﬁz%

B & bz dm K IR IE 0 A A E
%mm@%%%%%%ﬁﬁk
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BtE_—LF_—HHF=H=+—HIFFZ

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(M

(ii)

Credit risk management (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Credit risk on cash and cash equivalents is limited
because the counterparties are reputable banks
with high credit ratings assigned by credit agencies.
The Group assessed 12m ECL for cash and cash
equivalents by reference to information relating to
probability of default and loss given default of the
respective credit rating grades published by external
credit rating agencies. Based on the average loss
rates, the 12m ECL on cash and cash equivalents is
considered to be insignificant and therefore no loss
allowance was recognised.

Liquidity risk management

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management,
including the short term investment of cash
surpluses and the raising of loans of cover expected
cash demands, subject to approval by the parent
company’s board when the borrowings exceed
certain predetermined levels of authority. The
Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 ElE —ZE_AF =H=+—HIFFEZ

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36. ERTH #@)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) ERAMREEENRER (&
(Continued)
(i) Liquidity risk management (Continued) (i) FTEETEEEE (&
The tables below summarise the maturity profile of TRIBIE G 4K AL IR B4t
the Group’s and the Company’s financial liabilities FREBRARANRZIZEZAF
at 31 March 2025 and 2024 on contractual 2 HFEF=RB=+—HZ
undiscounted payments: EREEIEBER
Weighted Total Total
average On Less than 3to 12 Over undiscounted carrying
interest rate d d 3 th months 1year cash flows amount

KRR E
il SRSLES BER  OSER 3F12EA BiR1E RERE  REEGE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET FET FHET FET

At 31 March 2025 RZE_RF=A=+-H
Trade and other payables B 5 R ELftFE{T B - 29,003 30,181 - 35,348 94,532 94,532
Lease liabilties HEsE 5.85% - 297 891 605 1,793 1,708
Promissory note AREH 14.15% - - - 52,099 52,099 38,749
Employee benefits BERH - 9,399 - - - 9,399 9,399
38,402 30,478 891 88,052 157,823 144,388

At 31 March 2024 RIBZME=ZA=+—H
Trade and other payables B 5 R EL AT HIE - 144,077 50,187 - 33,592 227,856 227,800
Lease liabilities HEAE 5.85% - 904 895 72 1,871 1,806
Promissory note AREE 18.25% - 45,040 - - 45,040 44,122
Convertible note EEES 3.0% 257,030 - - - 257,080 257,080
Employee benefits =tk - 6,210 - - - 6,210 6,210
407,317 96,131 895 33,664 538,007 536,968
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(iii) Interest rate risk management
Interest rate profile

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk for
changes in interest rates to the Group’s cash at
bank, convertible notes, promissory note and
lease liabilities. The Company manages the risk by
regularly evaluating its cash flows when sufficient
funds are available.

The following table details interest rates analysis that
the directors of the Company evaluate its interest
rate risk.

36. EMTH @

(b) EREREEENKREE &

(i) 7Y 2 fE EEE

FIEEH

A& B E R = 2 8 M E B A A
REMREREFRRITRE A
REB -EARRBEREESER
Beo-ARANBETRERHBAT
HAEEREREUEERRE -

TERFLEATDEFFEEF
KREBRZFEDH

Financial liabilities ERaE

Fixed rate borrowings ~ EE &

- Lease liabilties —-HEBE

- Promissory note —-EAR2E

- Convertible notes —HEEE
Financial assets ERMEE
Floating rate assets FEEE

- Bank balances —iRITHER

2025 2024
k- e -2 “TImE

Effective Effective

interest rate interest rate

BRI BIRHX
(%) HK$’000 (%) HK$'000
FET FHT
5.85 1,708 5.85 1,806
14.15 38,749 18.25 44,122
- - 3.0 257,030
0.001-03 56,120 0.001-0.3 48,222
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(iii) Interest rate risk management (Continued)

(iv)

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 March 2025, it is estimated that a general
decrease or increase of 100 basis points in interest
rates, with all other variables held constant,
would increase or decrease the post-tax loss by
approximately HK$561,000 (2024: HK$482,000).
There is no impact on other components of equity.
The analysis is performed on the same basis for
2024.

Currency risk

The group entities collect most of the revenue
and incur most of the expenditures in their
respective functional currencies. The directors of
the Company consider that the Group’s exposure
to foreign currency exchange risk is insignificant
as the majority of the Group’s transactions are
denominated in the functional currency of each
individual group entity.

36. €M TH #@

(b) =REAMGEEBNRBE &

(i) FF /@R ELE ()

HREZE T

A _E_HAFE=RA=+—H &
FHAIEEEEE T ES EF100EE

BT BRREBEIERIE N R
0 #9561,0008 7T (Z2ZMHEF
482,000 70) EHERNE
IR EEFE DO ET
T TPUFERRZ BEEEET

(iv) &R

EEERURSEZBNIESR
KRS REONKRE REEKX
BOBRAZ ARAEENEE
REHIUEENEEERRI
FEEREHE WA ABDEERR
REEMIE AR E R
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BtE_—LF_—HHF=H=+—HIFFZ

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36. R TH @
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) EREAMREEENREEK (&

(Continued)

(iv) Currency risk (Continued) (iv) EERRE ()
The Group currently does not have a foreign AREE B Fi 0 INE SRR
exchange hedging policy. However, the R AEBREEE GEEITINE
management of the Group monitors foreign R R EEERE BT
exchange exposure and will consider hedging BEAIMNE RS o
significant foreign exchange exposure should the
need arises.
As HK$ is pegged to USD, the Group does not B BTHEE T AEETE
expect any significant foreign currency exposure HArEgRABATRETZEERR
arising from the fluctuation of the HK$ to USD M EEEMEKRINER R
exchange rates. As a result, the directors of the > RABERRAEREREE
Company consider that the sensitivity of the Group’s TTRETZENEEXEE 2
exposure towards the change in foreign exchange ARz RXEBBEELESR
rates between HK$ to USD is minimal and no SR E D i ©

sensitivity analysis is presented.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(c) Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined as follows:

e The fair values of financial assets and financial
liabilities with standard terms and conditions and
traded on active markets are determined with
reference to quoted market bid prices and ask
prices respectively.

e The fair values of other financial assets and financial
liabilities (excluding those described above) are
determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on discounted cash flow
analysis.

Except as detailed in the following table, the directors
of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities recognised in the

36. €M TH #@

(c) EMIAZATE

THEEREMERZIAFEDR
DUTNZRIERE -

BB RERR B AR A 50OE BB
THEEZEHMEERTHE
B OB EMREHHERE
REREBEEEAFE

HiheMEERERAE (8
BLitE) 2 A FEDREER
MIRIREREB DN Z & EBRW
EBEAEE -

PR TNRFIFIESN  FRABDEER
A REEYHRERTEDZEHE
ErRtMEBEZREEAZERATE

consolidated financial statements approximate to their isE=aN
fair values:
2025 2024
“E"HE “E-ME
Carrying Carrying
amount Fair value amount Fair value
fREE ATE RAEE NYHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET FET
Financial liabilities cRafk
Promissory note ARER 38,749 36,202 44,122 50,012
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BtE_—LF_—HHF=H=+—HIFFZ

37. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objective of managing capital is to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce cost of capital. The Group’s overall strategy remains
unchanged from prior years.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debts.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt (which
includes lease liabilities, promissory note and convertible
notes, net of cash and cash equivalents) and equity
attributable to the owners of the Company, comprising share
capital and reserves.

The Group’s risk management reviews the capital structure on
a semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the management
considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with
each class of capital.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M B RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 ElE —ZE_AF =H=+—HIFFEZ

37. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continueq)

The net debt to equity ratio at the end of the reporting period

was as follows:

Debt (Note (a))
Less: Cash and cash equivalents

Net debt
Equity (Note (b))

Net debt and equity

Net debt to equity ratio

Notes:

&% (Wat(a)

R RRE

(EUEPE L]
T (HfaEb)

(EUERE RN S

B PR E R

HEY

mE&E

(@) Debt comprises lease liabilities, promissory note and convertible

notes as detailed in Notes 25, 27 and 28 respectively.

(o) Equity includes all capital and reserves attributable to the owners of

the Company.

37. EREKRER @
RIS ARZEFR FREEARE R 2 LY
s
2025 2024
—EZHEF —ET s
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
40,457 302,958
(56,120) (48,222)
(15,663) 254,736
(40,930 (405,113)
(56,593) (150,377)
N/AF & N/AT 38 3
pst

@ BEFEeEEHEE

B ARRBERAUMKRE

B BRI ﬁﬁ\ MiEE25~ 27 %280

b @S

fo

EREARBEA NBGER KR
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38. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF

THE COMPANY

Details of the Group’s principal subsidiaries at the end of the

38. ZREFEEMB AT Z:¥1E

AEETENBARNKRSHARZFE

reporting period are set out below. AT o
Percentage of equity
Place and date interests and voting
of incorporation and Place of power attributable to Nominal value
Name of subsidiary form of business structure operation the Company of issued share capital ~ Principal activities
MR AN R FAREMERNRAEER
WEAERE EBRERS EEM REEESL BETk4EE TEEH
2025 2024
ZZIRE ZEOME
% %
Directly held
EERE
TYW (BVI) Limited BVI2 July 2009, limited liabiity ~ Hong Kong 100 100 United States Dollars Investment holding
company (US$") 50,000, divided
into 50,000 ordinary
shares
EBEUNE IR &8 50000%7 (BEm)) 0 REER
tAZH BREERE 7 750,0000% & Bk
Indirectly held
RERE
Tsun Yip Civil Construction Hong Kong, 16 July 2000, Hong Kong 97 97 HK$20,372,000 divided  Holding of motor vehicles,
Company Limited limited liability company into 20,620,000 provision of waterworks
ordinary shares and laying of water pipes
EETATRERAT B8 _ZTTELR+AH) BB 2037200080 5% FHEEH REKBIER
BREEAE 20,620,000 Z &M BIRokE
Tsun Yip Waterworks Construction  Hong Kong, 6 February 1996, Hong Kong 97 97 HK$26,123,200 divided  Provision of waterworks and
Company Limited limited liability company into 25,780,000 laying of water pipes
ordinary shares
EEKBRERRAT R —NANAEZBRB BB 26128200870 0% REABIERURAE
BRERARE 25,780,000& &%

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in

the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affect

the results of the year or constitute a substantial portion of the

net assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries

would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of

excessive length.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2025 ElE —ZE_AF =H=+—HIFFEZ

39.

40.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLAN

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong
Kong). The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement
plan administered by an independent trustee. Under the
MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each
required to make contributions to the MPF Scheme at 5% of
the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the MPF
Scheme vest immediately.

Pursuant to the relevant labour laws, rules and regulations
in the PRC, the Group participates in defined contribution
retirement benefit scheme (the “Retirement Benefit
Scheme”) organised by the relevant local government
authorities in the PRC whereby the Group is required to
make contributions to the Retirement Benefit Scheme at a
certain rate of the standard wages determined by the relevant
authorities in the PRC during the year. Contributions to the
Retirement Benefit Scheme vest immediately.

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group
had no forfeited contributions under the MPF Scheme and
the Retirement Benefits Scheme utilised to reduce the existing
levels of contributions. As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, there
was no forfeited contribution under the MPF Scheme and
Retirement Benefit Scheme which may be used by the Group
to reduce the contribution payable in the future years.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had a total capital
commitment of approximately HK$2,600,000 (2024: HK$Nil),
contracted for but not provided for in the financial statements
in respect of acquisition of property, plant and equipment.

39.

40.

BREFEE

FERBIRIFEE B AV FI85EFRE AR
5 R G B — R TR E
(MEFEEE)  HRABBEMH57
SEBEHRIEELEE T ZEE RBEE5T
B —IHERMTBNKREE) BIBURS
ABEEE -REREEE  EBEKRH
EBERBRAREERBABRABS%ERE
EETEFHMTR SR BERWABN LIRS
30,0007 7T ° [A) 38 8 & 51 8 1F H BY R TS
BIEER 8

RZ P BB RA S EE P~ R G R SR A > 2
£ E2 R —IAM A R 75 B R
BB R E HARINER) 518 (MR AEF)
st8l) Bt REBEANFENIRFEME
FMEEETNRETE  —EHXRAR
PR F 5T 8B 1F (RN o RINAEF 518 2 it
T BN B R

BE_ZT_AFER_ZFT-_NEFE=A
—t+—HLEFE AEBTERARBETE
B TFRHRE R I EF R RER 5T
EREFERERBEHRKFE - RIZ2ZAFR
“EINE=-B=+—RH>raEtE &
RRRR A 5T 8 T M A 45082 U RY £ R AT
AEBBRRD KRR FEBABER

B KE
A CECRE=/B=+—H > A~EERH
WEYME BERKRBEBZDTHERR

MHERRFARBERERZBRELARKENS
2,600,000/ 7T (ZZ U4 © BHEIT) ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BtE_—LF_—HHF=H=+—HIFFZ

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Statement of financial position of the Company

Non-current assets EREEE

Investments in subsidiaries RB AT ZERE
Current assets RENEE

Prepayment and other receivables  FB{7 7B K E At FE U T IE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FE LS B /B A B Rk IE

Cash and cash equivalents RERIREEFEY

Total assets HMEE

Current liabilities mENEE

Accrued expenses and other payables FE 5t 58 s & ELthFE (F 7v 18

Amounts due to subsidiaries NN EPNCIE S|
Convertible notes PR ERE
Net current liabilities RENAEEEE

Total assets less current liabilities 2 E R R A&
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M. XRBEZMBRRR R E

ERBZHHBRRAER

2025 2024
—E"REFE “E U4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
38,681 38,681

46 119

14 21

584 -

644 140

39,325 38,821
1,518 86,462
14,288 13,970

- 257,030

15,806 357,462
(15,162) (357,322)
23,519 (318,641)




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2025 ElE —ZE_AF =H=+—HIFFEZ

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 4. XRBEZHBERARKREE @)
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Statement of financial position of the Company ERBZHBRAR (B
(Continueq)
2025 2024
ZEZRE —ZTuE
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FAET FET
Net assets/(liabilities) BE (AR 3% 23,519 (318,641)
Capital and reserves BEXRKEE
Share capital [N 5,722 4,055
Reserves EHE 17,797 (322,696)
Total equity LY 23,519 (318,641)
The financial statements were approved and authorised for EEEgENETAFBE=1+TH#HLE
issue by the board of directors on 30 June 2025 and are R TI Rz WH T ATRER
signed on its behalf by: EFEEEE
Kan Kwok Cheung Hui Ka Tsun
B+ e
Director Director
EF EE
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B ZE _—F _AF=F=+—HIFFEZ

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 4. XRBEZ2HBERRARKREE @)
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Movement in the Company’s reserves KABZ HIEEE
Convertible
Share Capital notes equity Other Accumulated
premium reserves reserves reserves losses Total
ABRE
A& IE EXftE BEDRE Hithfk REEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 /-/K$ 000
FET FAET FET FET FAET FET
(Note 31) (Note 31) (Note 28) (Note 31) (Note 31)
(Hi3#31) (Htaz3t) (Hist28) (Hi3#31) (Wia231)
At1 April 2023 R-E-=—&EmA—F 138,195 2,758 14,400 54903 (1620862  (310,516)
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year ~ EREER 2 EEBEE - = = = (12,180) (12,180)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RIZZNE=A=1+—HE
ZZmEmNA—H 1,238,195 2,758 14,400 54,993 (1,633,042 (322,696)
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year ENBEREAERBASE - - - - (33,364) (33,364)
1,238,195 2,758 14,400 54,993 (1,666,406) (356,060
Substantial modification of convertible notes EPNCHBE S - 251,390 5,640 - - 257,030
Issue of convertible notes BITARRER - 92,343 6,151 - = 98,494
Issue of shares BITRM 18,333 - - - - 18,333
At 31 March 2025 RZZ-EF=A=+-8 1256528 346,491 26,191 54993 (1,666,406) 17,797
42. APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 42, HEESMBHRR
STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements were approved and GEMBRRENZEZAFAA=T
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30 June HESEEgHERIRET o

2025.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

fiA 755 4L 22

A summary of the results and of the financial position of the Group

for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published

audited financial statements, is set out below.

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS
For the year ended 31 March

Revenue
Cost of services

Gross profit/(loss)

Other income

Other gains/(losses), net

Amortisation expenses

Selling and distribution expenses

Administrative expenses

Impairment loss on intangible assets

Impairment of right-of-use assets

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment

Changes in fair value of financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss

(Loss)/profit from operations
Finance costs

Loss before income tax
Income tax

Loss for the year

(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to:
- owners of the Company
- Non-controlling interest of the Company

Wi
PR A A

ER/ (@8

Hithg A

Hitas/ (518) - 348
jblEha
HERDHHAX
THAX
EVEERESE
EREEERE

ME BERRERE

BRBRRATEARZ
EMEEZATEED

BE (518) /iaF
RRE A

FRFTISIATRS 18
PSR

FREE
FEILER (B8 5F

—KREEBA
—AAEIFERED

AEEBELBYREEZEERYHFRR
KEZUHERE 8

BE NHREREETEZ

HIENT o

mEXRE

BEZH=+—HIEE

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
“ECRE | CBONE “ST=F - _F “ET—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET FET FAET FET
366,071 468,963 496,457 408,175 239,233
(356,138) (450,900) (493,037) (417,531) (268,053)
9,933 18,063 3,420 (9,356) (28,820)
4,309 2,984 4,603 4,487 12,374
4,954 (1,097) 7,435 (453) ©913)

= = = = (18,316)

= = = (770) (770)
(25,681) (17,629) (15,181) (17,452) (26,005)
= = = = (7,679)

= = = = 2,872)

= = = (1,517) =

= = = 3,575 2,965
(6,485) 2,321 277 (21,486) (70,036)
(5,418) (11,998) (13,183) (20,573) (9,314)
(11,903) (9,677) (12,906) (42,059) (79,350)
(56) 565 3,449 93) 5,598
(11,959) 9,112) (9,457) (42,152) (73,752)
(11,341) (9,324) (9,440) (41,729) (72,946)
618) 212 (17) (423) (806)
(11,959) ©,112) (9,457) (42,152) (73,752)
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fiA 755 1L 22

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 March

Non-current assets
Current assets

Total assets
Less: Current liabilities

Total assets less current liabilities
Less: Non-current liabilities
Non-controlling interests

Capital and reserves attributable to
equity holders of the Company

FRBEE
REEE

BEE
B RBER

BEERRDEE
B SEREBEE
JrER R

ERREEFEA
FEMLE AR

FEMBEIR

R=EA=+—H
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
“ECEF | ZEoWE = "B "BI—H&
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET FET FHET FET
18,094 16,556 28,100 21,897 24,244
147,555 202,404 217,443 191,584 150,667
165,649 218,960 245543 213,481 174,911
(164,764) (620,830) (587,953) (571,257) (466,305)
885 (401,870) (342,410) (357,776) (291,394)
(40,750) (1,560) (52,396) (27,532) (51,799)
(1,065) (1,683) (1,471) (1,488) (1,911)
(40,930) (405,113) (396,277) (386,796) (345,104)
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